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1.0 Overview

Heritage is important in understanding the story of Western Australia – its history, identity and diversity.

Heritage can comprise places such as buildings and structures, 
monuments, gardens, cemeteries, landscapes and archaeological 
sites.

As a community, we share the responsibility to identify and protect 
what is important, and pass these places on to future generations 
so they will understand what came before them.

The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office work with 
Western Australians to recognise, conserve, adapt and celebrate 
our State’s unique cultural heritage. 

Our work includes:
 ■ Advising State Government and its agencies on heritage-

related issues.
 ■ Assessing and recommending places for inclusion in the 

State Register of Heritage Places – a statutory list of places 
that represent the history and development of Western 
Australia.

 ■ Managing change and adaptation of places to ensure that 
their heritage significance is maintained while encouraging 
contemporary use. 

 ■ Revitalising vacant and under-utilised State or local 
government owned heritage properties through the Heritage 
Revolving Fund.

 ■ Assisting local governments with advice and assistance to 
manage local heritage places.

 ■ Promoting best-practice conservation and enhancing the 
community’s understanding and appreciation of heritage 
places. 

From 1 July 2015, the State Heritage Office assumed responsibility 
for the management and conservation of Fremantle Prison.

The 2015-16 Annual Report provides an overview of the combined 
work and operations of the Heritage Council and Department of 
the State Heritage Office. Because we strive for professionalism 
and excellence, we welcome your feedback on this report which 
can be provided by email or in writing. Please see the back page 
for our contact details.
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1.1 Executive Summary Highlights

State Register of Heritage Places 
 ■ 12 places were entered in the State Register of Heritage 

Places on an interim basis.
 ■ 13 places were entered in the State Register of Heritage 

Places on a permanent basis.
 ■ 1,353 places now entered in the State Register of Heritage 

Places.

Development of Heritage Places 
 ■ 898 development referrals were determined during the year.
 ■ Almost 90 percent of development referrals were processed 

within 30 days.

Assistance for Property Owners 
 ■ 27 projects shared in approximately $1.27 million of 

grant funding, contributing to more than $2.59 million in 
conservation works to State heritage-listed properties 
across WA. 

 ■ Work underway on the final project funded through the 
$5 million Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund.

 ■ Conservation and restoration works to 65 heritage places 
damaged during the Goldfields earthquake now completed, 
with the remaining project expected to be completed in late 
2016.

Revitalising Vacant Heritage Places
 ■ Conservation works substantially completed on the Warders’ 

Cottages in Fremantle, and Future-Use Analysis completed.
 ■ Conservation works completed on the former Coogee Hotel 

and Post Office, and a Structure Plan advertised for public 
comment.

 ■ Disposal strategies mapped out for both properties.

Supporting Local Governments
 ■ 24 local governments now operating a heritage advisory 

service subsidised by the State Heritage Office.

Fremantle Prison
 ■ Won two categories at the 2015 WA Tourism Awards.
 ■ Greeted more than 200,000 visitors in a year for the first time.

Strategic Projects
 ■ Successful transition of Fremantle Prison to the Department.
 ■ New risk and incident management system launched.
 ■ The Heritage Council anticipates a final Heritage Bill in 

2016-17.
 ■ 106,000 visits to inHerit, the Department’s online heritage 

places database, with data linked to Landgate’s Property 
Interest Report.

 ■ 72 percent of places on municipal inventories now 
successfully mapped on inHerit, including all those in 
metropolitan areas.
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Executive Summary Highlights continued

Education and Training 
 ■ A successful Heritage Management and Planning Seminar 

held in Kalgoorlie with more than 70 participants.
 ■ State Heritage Office hosted two student interns, and 

two groups of international visitors through Landgate’s 
International Fellowship.

Promotion 
 ■ Western Australian Heritage Awards saw 15 individuals and 

heritage projects recognised for heritage excellence.
 ■ Western Australian Heritage Award winning projects 

showcased in the Asia Pacific region through cooperation 
with the Heritage Council and UNESCO, with five projects 
honoured in four consecutive years. 

 ■ Wanslea, Cancer Wellness Centre, Cottesloe received 
Honourable Mention at 2015 UNESCO awards.

 ■ Twitter followers up to 577.

Best Practice 
 ■ In March 2016, the State Heritage Office won the Institute 

of Public Administration Australia’s WS Lonnie Memorial 
Trophy, Margaret McAleer Special Commendation, Gold 
General Award for Agencies with less than 100 FTEs 
and the Public Sector Commission Award for Good 
Governance.

 ■ In June 2016, Executive Director Graeme Gammie  
won the Institute of Public Administration Australia’s 
Excellence Award for Leader of the Year in State or  
Federal Government.
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1.2 Heritage Council Executive Summary

On behalf of the Heritage Council of Western Australia, I am delighted to present the 2015-16 
Annual Report, detailing the organisation’s activities during the past 12 months.

I was appointed as Chair of the Heritage Council in February 2016, 
following the resignation of Marion Fulker who served on the 
Council for 10 years, six of those as Chair.

Having served on the Heritage Council myself since 2008, I 
have seen many developments and changes that respond to 
the challenges faced in the care and management of Western 
Australia’s cultural heritage places.

The Heritage Council is continuing to work with the Government 
on new heritage legislation. The new legislation will provide 
a modernised legislative framework that meets community 
expectations while allowing for contemporary best practice for the 
recognition and management of heritage places.

This year, the Heritage Council considered its largest ever addition 
to the State Register of Heritage Places with the proposal to 
include Fremantle’s West End. The area covers almost 200,000 
square metres, and includes about 250 buildings. There are more 
than 400 owners within this area.

While there are already 22 individual West End places in the State 
Register, this proposal is about the recognition of the precinct as a 
whole and the story it tells as a highly intact gold rush port town.

We have pulled out all stops in an effort to reach owners, tenants 
and other stakeholders to offer information, discuss the proposal 
and seek their views. The State Heritage Office is presently collating 
the responses for final consideration by the Minister for Heritage.

The Council’s interest in listing 
Fremantle’s West End is 
consistent with its emphasis 
on supporting the growth of 
heritage tourism in WA. The 
heritage listing of West End 
has the potential to add to the 
economic vibrancy of the area 
by helping shape it as a tourism 
destination.

That heritage is good for business is amply demonstrated by the 
rejuvenation of the Old Treasury Buildings or Central Government 
Offices. Having lain vacant for almost two decades, the buildings 
were sensitively restored and returned to active use when they 
reopened in October 2015 as the State Buildings. 

The restoration of these State Registered buildings is part of  
the development of the adjacent Cathedral Square, including  
the award-winning luxury hotel, Como, The Treasury, a new  
City of Perth library, a 33-level office tower and a public plaza  
for St George’s Cathedral. 

As well as revitalising one of Perth’s most important historic civic 
precincts, the development has injected millions into the State 
economy and strong revenue continues to be generated through 
the businesses that have taken up tenancies.
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Heritage Council Executive Summary continued

The immaculate attention to detail in the restoration of the State 
Buildings has seen the project take out three of this year’s Heritage 
Awards, including the prestigious Gerry Gauntlett Award which 
recognises the outstanding conservation or adaptation of a State 
Registered place.

Additional to the State Buildings, the 2016 Heritage Awards saw 
another 13 individuals and heritage projects recognised for their 
contribution to the heritage sector.

I am delighted to report that Western Australian heritage projects 
continued to achieve international recognition with the Wanslea 
Cancer Wellness Centre receiving an honourable mention at 
UNESCO’s 2015 Asia-Pacific Awards for Cultural Heritage 
Conservation. 

The Heritage Council continues to support private owners of State 
Registered places through its Heritage Grants Program, which last 
year resulted in 27 projects sharing in almost $1.3 million in grants 
funding.

The past year has been a busy one filled with ongoing business but 
also projects that extend us. After running a successful Heritage 
Management and Planning Seminar program for several years, 
the Council has now committed to a State Heritage and History 
Conference in 2017, aimed at bringing together, and exploring the 
connections between practitioners and organisations in the heritage 
and related sectors.

In order to continuously improve the way we work, in May, the 
Heritage Council and State Heritage Office undertook a stakeholder 
survey to gauge how our functions, work and communication 
were perceived by our key stakeholders. Findings from the survey 

will allow us to refine our engagement and communication with 
stakeholders to better meet their needs and expectations.

I would also like to extend the Council’s congratulations to Graeme 
Gammie, Executive Director of the State Heritage Office, who was 
named “Leader of the Year in State or Federal Government” at this 
year’s Institute of Public Administration Australia Awards.

During the latter part of the year it was a pleasure to welcome to the 
Council Rob Druitt, who took up the position of property owners’ 
representative. We look forward to his input to our deliberations. 

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to thank my colleagues 
on the Heritage Council for their hard work over the past year, 
and for their support in my new role. They are highly talented 
individuals who come together on the Council to generously share 
their experience and expertise for the advancement of heritage in 
Western Australia. 

Anne Arnold 
Chair 
Heritage Council 
of WA

Above: 2016 Western Australian Heritage Award 
winners with Heritage Council Chair Anne Arnold 
and Heritage Minister Albert Jacob
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1.3 State Heritage Office Executive Summary

The State Heritage Office welcomed the World Heritage listed Fremantle Prison into its fold 
on 1 July 2015, taking over the management of the Prison from the Department of Finance’s 
Building Management and Works division.

It is an excellent fit with the State Heritage Office’s area of expertise 
and I was delighted at the opportunity for us to manage one of 
the State’s most important heritage sites. We have already started 
to build on its strong foundation in delivering world-class tours, 
interpretation, visitor experiences and conservation. 

It’s been an outstanding year, which saw the Prison reach new 
levels of excellence by winning both the Major Tourist Attractions 
and Cultural Tourism awards at the 2015 Perth Airport WA Tourism 
Awards. The Prison was also named as the seventh top landmark 
in Australia by TripAdvisor’s 2016 Traveller’s Choice Awards.

To top off a fantastic year, the Prison also broke its own visitor 
records by welcoming 200,387 visitors through its gates last year.

This past year, the State Heritage Office initiated a review of the 
Prison’s 10-year masterplan. As a first step, members of the 
community were invited to share in conversations that explored 
the potential for expanded uses and new visitor experiences at the 
Prison. This is to ensure a stream of revenue to secure the ongoing 
operation and conservation of the Prison.

Towards this end, the former Women’s Division of the Prison was 
leased to the Youth Hostel Association (YHA) who officially opened 
its doors to an enthusiastic market in August 2015.

A new masterplan, which will 
set out future directions for the 
next decade will be completed 
in 2016-17.

The Heritage Works Revolving 
Fund completed its second 
year of operation last year. 
Heritage Works has carried out 
extensive conservation works 
on the 1850s Warders’ Cottages with a $2 million budget. 

Heritage Works also completed a comprehensive Future 
Use Analysis which considered the heritage impact, financial 
performance, and local-amenity impacts of several future-use 
scenarios. This guides the preparation of the cottages for sale 
in ways that will deliver the best financial and heritage outcomes 
when they are offered to market in late 2016.

The program’s other key project has addressed the conservation 
and town planning requirements of the former Coogee Hotel 
and Post office, on behalf of site owner, Main Roads WA. The 
finalisation of a Structure Plan will allow prospective buyers to 
purchase with confidence, knowing exactly what development can 
be progressed on this site.
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State Heritage Office Executive Summary continued

The works undertaken by the Heritage Works program will 
undoubtedly deliver good heritage outcomes for these underused 
places. The predicted strong returns from the sale of the properties 
has seen Government commit to the retention of the revolving fund 
through the State Budget process. 

Increasingly, the State Heritage Office has been playing a role in 
supporting Government services and programs. Our engagement 
has enabled heritage to be a key consideration in Government’s 
Land Asset Sales Program. Similarly, our mapping of all identifiable 
places listed in local government Municipal Inventories now allows 
for heritage interests in a property to be included in Landgate’s 
Property Interest Report, which is used in land enquiries, transfers 
and sales.

Despite the challenging economic times in which we currently 
operate, the State Heritage Office responded to a record number 
of development referrals last year. This suggests that owners 
are starting to realise the potential in their heritage assets and 
are making the most of the opportunities through thoughtful and 
sensitive development.

One of the most encouraging examples to emerge last year is that 
of a dilapidated worker’s cottage in Perth’s historic Brookman-Moir 
Streets precinct. The owner had already been granted approval to 
demolish, but a timely and inspiring conversation with a neighbour 
who had successfully embarked on a full restoration of her own 
cottage provided a turning point – the cottage which was marked 
for demolition has been fully restored and retains its place as part 
of the precinct’s streetscape.

I am proud to report that the State Heritage Office 2014-15 Annual 
Report was awarded the W.S. Lonnie Memorial Trophy for the best 
Annual Report in the State Government sector. Additionally, the 
Office received a further three awards including Margaret McAleer 
Special Commendation Award; the Public Sector Commission 
Award for Good Governance; and the Gold in the Agencies under 
100 FTEs category. It was extremely pleasing to have it noted that 
these awards are “a high accolade for public sector agencies as it 
demonstrates their commitment to transparency, authenticity and 
integrity in annual reporting”.

As always, the successes of the past year could not have been 
achieved without the tremendous work of the staff, who work 
tirelessly achieving the Heritage Council’s objectives and our 
corporate goals. I am ever appreciative of their dedication. I would 
also like to thank the Hon Albert Jacob, Minister for Heritage, and 
the Heritage Council for their ongoing support of the Department.

Finally, I would like to extend my thanks to Marion Fulker for her 
10 years’ service to the Heritage Council, with the last six as Chair.

Graeme Gammie 
Executive Director 
Department of the State Heritage Office



1 1 Heritage  Counci l  |  State  Her i tage  Off ice    1 1    Annual  Report  2015-16

2.0 Operational Structure

2.1 Vision and Objectives 
Our Vision
Heritage is integral to the vibrant life and prosperity of Western 
Australia.

Our Mission
Working with Western Australians to recognise, conserve, adapt 
and celebrate our State’s unique cultural heritage.

Our Values
Professionalism 

We are proficient, competent and reliable in all that we do. We 
value excellence and act with respect and integrity at all times.

Accountability

We practice fair and ethical decision making. We explain things 
openly and take responsibility for our decisions and actions.

Ingenuity

We take the lead in developing new and innovative ways of 
working.

Collaboration

We work together, and with our stakeholders, to promote good 
heritage outcomes.

Helpfulness

We always seek to be helpful. We provide valued and timely 
service, respecting that our customers have individual needs.

Fun

We are serious about what we do, but aim to have fun on the 
journey. We support each other and celebrate our successes.

Our Objectives
 ■ The places that represent the story of Western Australia’s 

history and development are comprehensively identified and 
chronicled.

 ■ Western Australia’s heritage places are conserved through 
sound conservation practice, successful adaptation and 
harmonious development.

 ■ Heritage places under short or long-term Heritage Council 
or State Heritage Office custodianship are conserved, 
managed and their full potential realised.

 ■ The importance of heritage places to Western Australia’s 
identity and quality of life is understood and appreciated.
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2.2 Heritage Council 

The Heritage Council of Western Australia is the State Government’s advisory and statutory body on heritage.

The Heritage Council was established under section 5 of the 
Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990. It is listed as a statutory 
authority on Schedule 1 of the Financial Management Act of 2006 
and is subject to the provisions of the Public Sector Management 
Act 1994.

The Heritage Council is invested with functions and powers 
under the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990. The Council, 
which is assisted by the State Heritage Office, determines the 
organisation’s strategy and policies; and key decisions are 
reserved to the Council.

The Council comprises nine persons appointed by the Governor 
of Western Australia on the recommendation of the Minister for 
Heritage.

The Council’s primary roles are to:
 ■ Recommend places to the Minister for entry in the State 

Register
 ■ Review and provide advice on major development of 

heritage places to ensure the cultural heritage significance 
is maintained while allowing for contemporary use and 
adaptation

 ■ Promote the conservation of Western Australia’s heritage
 ■ Set strategic direction for the State Heritage Office.

The Heritage Council is assisted in its work by two committees 
comprising Heritage Councillors and experienced heritage 
professionals. 

The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office work together 
under the same legislation and shared corporate strategy.

2.3 State Heritage Office 
The Department of the State Heritage Office became a stand-
alone State Government department on 1 July 2014. The State 
Heritage Office was previously a division of the Department of 
Local Government and Communities.

On 1 July 2015, management of the World Heritage listed 
Fremantle Prison transferred from the Department of Finance to 
the State Heritage Office.

The State Heritage Office supports the Heritage Council and the 
Minister for Heritage to identify, celebrate and promote the conservation 
and sensitive development of cultural heritage places in WA.

It carries out the Heritage Council’s day-to-day operations, 
projects and service delivery. Delegation of responsibilities from the 
Council to the Department occurs within the framework of a formal 
delegation policy that is reviewed annually. This includes providing 
advice on development referrals and planning policies.

It is also accountable to the Minister for Heritage.

The State Heritage Office staff comprises 63 FTEs.
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State Heritage Office  continued

Responsible Minister

Hon Albert Jacob MLA 

Minister for Environment; Heritage 

Enabling Legislation

Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990

Legislation Administered

Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990

Other Key Compliance Legislation 

Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972; Maritime 
Archaeology Act 1973; Planning and 
Development Act 2005; Building Act 
2011; Auditor General Act 2006; 
Disability Services Act 1993; Equal 
Opportunity Act 1984; Financial 
Management Act 2006; Freedom 
of Information Act 1992; Industrial 
Relations Act 1979; Minimum 
Conditions of Employment Act 1993; 
Occupational Safety and Health Act 
1984; Public Sector Management Act 
1994; Salaries and Allowances Act 
1975; State Records Act 2000; and 
State Supply Commission Act 1991.

Background: Former Post Office, Coogee
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2.4 Organisational Structure

 
ASSESSMENTS AND 

REGISTRATIONS 
Undertakes the assessment 
and registration of places for 
inclusion in the State Register 

of Heritage Places.

 
HERITAGE WORKS

Manages the Heritage Revolving 
Fund which revitalises  

publicly-owned heritage places 
through conservation, adaptive 
reuse and transitioning places 

to new ownership.

BUSINESS SERVICES 
Provides essential services and 
support for the State Heritage 
Office and ensures compliance 

with accountability and statutory 
reporting responsibilities. Includes 

Administration, Finance, Information 
Technology, Library and Records.

 
FREMANTLE PRISON 

Manages the conservation and 
operations of this World Heritage-
listed site that now functions as a 
tourist attraction and compatible 

use tenancies.

 
DEVELOPMENT AND 

INCENTIVES
Undertakes assessment of 
development referrals for 
registered places and the 

provision of advice on other 
heritage matters. Manages the 
Heritage Grants Program and 

other grants.

EXECUTIVE SERVICES 
Supports the Heritage Council and 
the Executive Director, and provides 

services to the State Heritage 
Office. Includes Legal, Corporate 

Communications, Heritage Tourism 
and Executive Support. 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

SERVICES
Supports and develops the 

role of local governments in the 
conservation and management 

of heritage places. Includes 
the provision of educational 

services.

HERITAGE COUNCIL  
OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA

Chair Mrs Anne Arnold

STATE HERITAGE OFFICE
Executive Director  

Mr Graeme Gammie

MINISTER FOR HERITAGE
Hon Albert Jacob MLA
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2.5 Heritage Council Members

The Heritage Council comprises nine members and includes a chairperson, a representative each from the heritage professions, 
local government, owners’ interest groups, a nominee of the National Trust of Australia (WA) and four other members.

Councillors

Mrs Marion Fulker (Chair to 11 December 2015), Mrs Anne 
Arnold (Chair from 1 February 2016), Mr Philip Griffiths, Professor 
John Stephens, Mr David Heaver, Mr Lloyd Clark, Ms Nerida 
Moredoundt, Dr Bradley Pettitt, Ms Alice Steedman and  
Mr Robert Druitt.

Mrs Marion Fulker – Chair (appointed 2005 and Chair  
from 2009 to December 2015) 

Marion Fulker was appointed Chair of the 
Heritage Council in 2009 after serving four 
years on the board. 

Marion is the CEO Committee for Perth, 
a future-focused organisation that is 
committed to creating a more cohesive, 
dynamic and attractive metropolitan area. 
In ‘A Cultural Compact for Perth, the 10-

year challenge’, which was borne out of large scale community 
consultation undertaken by the Committee for Perth, a key 
recommendation is to link history and heritage in order to bring 
forward people’s stories and cultures as a way of appreciating our 
rich cultural heritage.

Marion’s work as Chair of the Heritage Council aimed to protect 
and enhance these features in a way that could be important to 
the Perth of the future. She believed that registration of places of 
State significance can serve to enhance our sense of place.

Marion has a Master in Business Administration and was 
previously the Executive Director of the Urban Development 
Institute of Australia (WA).

Mrs Anne Arnold  – Appointed 2008 and Chair since 
February 2016; Chair of the 
Development Committee

Anne is a former Chief Executive of the Real 
Estate Institute of Western Australia. She 
has been involved in property, planning, real 
estate and housing throughout her career. 
Anne also currently holds positions as 
director of the WA Land Information Authority 
(Landgate) and of Southern Cross Care WA. 

She has a Bachelor of Economics from UWA. 

Anne has had an interest in heritage and its impact on property 
owners throughout her career. In her role as Chair, she is an 
advocate of adaptive reuse of heritage buildings and working 
with owners to enhance their developments by retaining heritage 
buildings and fabric. 
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Heritage Council Members continued

Anne continues the work of her predecessor in focusing the 
Council on good governance, transparent and accountable 
processes, and on working jointly with the staff of the State 
Heritage Office to achieve great outcomes for heritage in WA.

Mr Philip Griffiths – Chair of the Register Committee and 
Professionals Representative 
(appointed 1992) 

Award-winning architect Philip Griffiths is 
Director of Griffiths Architects and President 
of the Australian Institute of Architects, 
Western Australia, a member of AIA’s 
National Council and Executive. Philip is 
also a member of Australia ICOMOS and 
DOCOMOMO.

One of WA’s most experienced and respected architects, Philip 
has been involved with some of WA’s most iconic historic buildings 
including Fremantle Prison, Episcopal Palace, Premier’s Office and 
Cabinet Room, WA Ballet Centre, Government House, Central 
Government Buildings, and Parliament House. Prior to this, he was 
based in the United Kingdom where he worked on various heritage 
properties in London, Hereford, Canterbury, Bristol and Bolton.

Philip provides valuable knowledge and expertise on the 
preparation of heritage assessments and conservation plans, 
conservation and adaptation of heritage places, and enjoys 
passing on the passion and knowledge of heritage to emerging 
architects and building owners who have, or are thinking of, 
acquiring heritage places.

Professor John Stephens – National Trust of Australia (WA) 
nominee (appointed 2011) 

John is currently a teacher and researcher 
in the School of Built Environment at Curtin 
University. His area of expertise and study 
includes architectural history, cultural 
heritage, community, identity, memory 
and commemoration. He has a particular 
interest in war memory and memorials and 
has published academic papers and books 

relating to the meanings of heritage places and memorialisation. 
John has been involved in many conservation plans and heritage 
reports and supervises postgraduate students studying heritage 
topics. 

Originally a practicing architect, John is a member of the Australia 
Asia Pacific Institute at Curtin University and an active volunteer in 
State heritage matters. He is a Councillor of the National Trust and 
member of ICOMOS. 

John’s current projects include working with the communities of 
Indian villages in Uttar Pradesh to improve sustainability and living 
conditions.
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Heritage Council Members continued

Dr Bradley Pettitt – Local Government Representative 
(appointed 2014)

After four years as a City of Fremantle 
councillor, Dr Bradley Pettitt was elected 
as the Mayor in 2009 and re-elected for 
another term in 2013.

In his time as a councillor, and now as 
the Mayor of Fremantle, Brad has been a 
member of, and chaired, a broad range 
of working groups and committees 

including the Urban Development Advisory Committee, Transport 
Committee, Climate Change Adaptation working group and the 
City Centre Strategic Sites working group.

With Fremantle having arguably the highest concentration of 
heritage places of any local government in Western Australia, 
Brad has a unique insight into the challenges and opportunities 
associated with the ownership and development of our State’s 
historic places. Brad has presented and published papers on 
sustainability and built heritage, and heritage and buffer zones.

Until taking up the role of Mayor, Brad was the Dean of the School 
of Sustainability at Murdoch University. His research and teaching 
expertise include climate change, international aid policy, and 
sustainability planning. 

Brad has previously worked with Oxfam in Cambodia and with the 
Australian Government Aid Program, AusAID, in Canberra.

Mr David Heaver – Community Representative  
(appointed 2009)

One of WA’s leading regional heritage 
architects, David Heaver was, until his 
recent retirement, a Director of H+H 
Architects in Albany. He has worked 
extensively on heritage buildings in 
metropolitan and regional WA including 
Fremantle Prison, Old Farm Strawberry 
Hill, Albany Court House Precinct, and 
Breaksea Island Houses. 

David has been involved in a range of community and cultural 
development committees in Albany and has had a particular 
interest in the conservation and interpretation of the many heritage 
buildings and precincts in the Albany Region. He was awarded 
the Western Australian Heritage Award in 2006 for ‘Outstanding 
commitment to heritage conservation and interpretation in Western 
Australia by an individual’.

David’s experience with institutional, commercial and heritage 
projects, together with his understanding of issues from a regional 
perspective, provides an added strength to the Heritage Council.



1 8 Heritage  Counci l  |  State  Her i tage  Off ice    1 8    Annual  Report  2015-16

Heritage Council Members continued

Mr Lloyd Clark – Community Representative  
(appointed 2010)

Lloyd Clark is the founder and Managing 
Director of Match group of companies. 
Match has undertaken a number of 
redevelopments of heritage properties 
including the WD & HO Wills Building 
known as ‘Home’ warehouse apartments 
which won the 2009 National Property 
Council of Australia Award for adaptive 
reuse.

In 2009, Match won the Western Australian Heritage Award for 
Excellence in adaptive reuse: The Gerry Gauntlett Award.

Match is currently embarking on the redevelopment and adaptive 
reuse of the historic Dalgety Wool Stores building in Fremantle 
known as ‘Heirloom’. Due for completion in early 2017, this 
redevelopment will see this famous landmark building converted 
into 183 ‘warehouse’ residential apartments. 

Lloyd’s strong business acumen, property development expertise 
and practical ‘hands on’ experience with large scale adaptive 
reuse and heritage renewal projects puts him in good stead as 
Councilor and member of the Development Committee.

Ms Nerida Moredoundt – Community Representative 
(appointed 2010)

Nerida Moredoundt is the Principal Heritage 
Architect with TPG Town Planning, Urban 
Design and Heritage. She brings a depth 
of experience in heritage planning to 
the important advisory role the Heritage 
Council plays in the identification and 
management of heritage places in Western 
Australia.

Nerida is a member of Australia ICOMOS and is highly regarded 
for her work in the adaptive reuse of heritage buildings, the 
assessment of the potential impact of development in heritage 
areas and master planning for complex heritage sites. She has a 
particular interest in working with owners, government agencies 
and community organisations to find practical outcomes that 
enhance our appreciation of heritage places. 
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Heritage Council Members continued

Ms Alice Steedman – Community Representative 
(appointed 2014)

Alice is an architect with 22 years’ 
experience in heritage and conservation 
management in Western Australia. She 
has operated her own practice since 1997, 
providing advice directly to clients or as 
a sub-consultant to other professional 
practices. Alice has worked in all areas of 
project delivery from the development of 
functional briefs, grant applications and site 

supervision with the aim of achieving practical, timely and quality 
outcomes in heritage places. She completed a qualification in 
Access Consulting to more fully understand and integrate changes 
in heritage places to meet disability access requirements and she 
is currently completing a Masters of Business Administration.

Alice has worked on numerous WA Heritage Award winning 
projects including the conservation of the Kalgoorlie Miner 
Building, the one40william development, and the adaptation of the 
Clontarf handball courts into a training facility for Marr Mooditj. 

Alice was a finalist in the 2014 Heritage Awards for professional 
contribution to the heritage industry. She has been a member of 
the jury for the Australian Institute of Architects Heritage Awards 
and is an active member of the Institute’s Heritage Committee.

Mr Robert Druitt – Owners’ Interests Representative 
(appointed June 2016) 

Rob is the Heritage Council member 
representing owners’ interests.

He brings more than 25 years’ experience 
in the residential and commercial real 
estate industry from his time on both the 
Real Estate Institute’s National and State 
boards, including their finance and risk 
management sub-committees, and as the 

Real Estate Institute of WA President from 2006 to 2009.

In the past two years, Rob’s outstanding contribution to the real 
estate industry has been recognised through the highly prestigious 
REIA President’s Award and REIWA’s Kevin Sullivan Award.

Rob is currently a member and the treasurer of the SAS Resources 
Trust Board and is actively involved in SAS fundraising activities. 
He also volunteers his time and auctioneering skills to various 
charity groups such as the MS Society, Radio Lollipop and the 
Westpac Foundation.
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Heritage Council Members continued

Heritage Council Committees 

Register Committee

The Register Committee determines the priority of assessment for 
all places nominated to the State Register; reviews assessment 
documentation of places under consideration; and makes 
recommendations to the Minister for Heritage regarding places 
deemed to have State-level cultural heritage significance. 

Members: Mr Philip Griffiths (Chair), Professor John Stephens, 
Ms Nerida Moredoundt, Dr Bradley Pettitt. 

Other members: Dr Fiona Bush (historian and archaeologist), 
Dr Sue Graham-Taylor (historian), Mr Peter Woodward (heritage 
practitioner and landscape architect) and Ms Renee Gardiner 
(archaeologist and cultural heritage practitioner).

Development Committee

Proposed major changes to places listed in the State Register 
require formal consideration and advice by the Heritage Council. 
The Development Committee provides this advice for large-scale 
or complex projects, except when a project is particularly sensitive 
in which case it is dealt with by the full Council.

Members: Mrs Anne Arnold (Chair), Mr David Heaver, Mr Lloyd 
Clark, Ms Alice Steedman, Mr Robert Druitt.

Other members: Mr Antony Ednie-Brown (heritage architect), 
Ms Jennifer Marschner (registered architect and former Heritage 
Councillor), Mr Gerald Major (licensed valuer and real estate agent), 
Mr Chris Antill (urban planner and designer).

Attendance at Heritage Council Meetings

11 Council meetings were held

Name Attendance
Mrs Marion Fulker* 5
Mrs Anne Arnold 10
Mr Lloyd Clark 8
Mr Philip Griffiths 10
Mr David Heaver 10
Prof John Stephens 10
Ms Nerida Moredoundt 9
Dr Bradley Pettitt 11
Ms Alice Steedman 11
Mr Robert Druitt** 1

*  Mrs Marion Fulker’s term ended during the year and therefore 
served on the Council for part of the year only.

** Mr Robert Druitt was appointed during the year and therefore 
served on the Council for part of the year only.
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Heritage Council Members continued

Attendance at Register Committee Meetings
11 Register Committee meetings were held

Name Attendance
Mr Philip Griffiths 8
Prof John Stephens 9
Ms Nerida Moredoundt 7
Dr Bradley Pettitt 9
Dr Fiona Bush 9
Mr Peter Woodward 9
Dr Sue Graham-Taylor 10
Ms Renee Gardiner 9

Attendance at Development Committee Meetings

12 Development Committee meetings were held

Name Attendance
Mrs Anne Arnold 11
Mr Lloyd Clark 12
Mr David Heaver 11
Ms Alice Steedman 12
Mr Robert Druitt* 1
Mr Antony Ednie-Brown 9
Mr Chris Antill 12
Mr Gerald Major 11
Ms Jennifer Marschner 11

*   Mr Robert Druitt was appointed during the year and therefore 
served on the Council for part of the year only.
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2.6 State Heritage Office Senior Officers

The State Heritage Office has seven divisions covering the major operations of the department. The Executive Director is 
supported by the Corporate Executive comprising divisional directors, executive managers and the legal officer, which meets once 
a week to discuss and/or approve strategic directions, actions, activities and projects of the Department.

Executive Director 

Graeme Gammie Dip Bus Admin
Graeme joined the State Government as 
a Business Planning Consultant and Risk 
Manager for the Department of Contract 
and Management Services in 1997. Prior 
to joining the State Heritage Office in 
2009, Graeme was the Department of 
Housing’s General Manager of Corporate 
Development Services and Executive 
Manager of Fremantle Prison.

During his six years at Fremantle Prison, he created a new 
vision for the development and sustainability of this significant 
State heritage site, establishing it as a premier heritage tourism 
attraction. He was also instrumental in the Prison’s entry in the 
new National Heritage List and for setting the ground work for its 
inscription in the UNESCO World Heritage in 2010 - making it the 
first built environment in Western Australia to be bestowed this 
honour.

Since joining the State Heritage Office, Graeme has overseen 
major governance and operational changes within the organisation, 
leading to the State Government’s decision that the agency become 
its own State Government department on 1 July 2014.

Graeme is supported by a corporate executive team which has 
extensive experience in heritage, architecture, archaeology, 
planning, tourism and business services.

Director Business Services
Paula Nelson B Bus
Paula has a Bachelor of Business 
and extensive business management 
experience across the private and 
public sector. Her background is in the 
delivery of excellent tourism product, 
including managing Fremantle Prison’s 
visitor services, prior to joining the State 
Heritage Office in 2010 as Director 

Business Services. Paula was nominated as a finalist in the IPAA 
Achievement Awards 2014. She is a Fellow of Leadership WA 
and is a current participant in the Public Sector Commission’s 
Executive Leadership program.
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State Heritage Office Senior Officers continued

A/Director Development and Incentives
Harriet Wyatt BSc (Hons), MA MRICS
Harriet has more than 20 years’ heritage 
experience working in both the public 
and private sector and has a thorough 
understanding of managing heritage 
places. She has expert knowledge of 
the practical application of conservation 
materials and methodologies having 
worked in iconic heritage tourism 

destinations such as Rottnest Island and Port Arthur Historic Site. 
Her experience in balancing the need to conserve heritage values 
yet generate an economic return is useful in her current role with 
the State Heritage Office.

Director Assessment and Registration
Dr Penny O’Connor BA, MSc, PhD
Penny has a PhD in cultural heritage. 
Before joining the State Heritage Office, she 
taught in the field of Cultural Heritage for 
many years in Australia and overseas. She 
has also worked as a Conservation Officer 
in local government, and as a heritage 
consultant, where she worked on heritage 
assessments and inventories, conservation 
plans, community heritage studies and 
policy reviews.

Director Heritage Works

Mike Betham BA, PGDip Urban and 
Regional Planning

Mike is an experienced member of staff, 
having worked with the State Heritage 
Office and Heritage Council for more than 
20 years. He has worked in most parts of 
the business including strategic planning, 
special projects, local government services, 
and development. He holds a town 

planning qualification and has a strong interest in heritage places 
as economic and environmental assets.

Executive Manager Local Government Services

Callum Crofton MA, BA(Hons), 
M.ICOMOS
Originally from the United Kingdom, 
Callum has a degree in Economic and 
Social History, and a Master in Heritage 
Management. A scholarship brought 
him to Western Australia to study and he 
eventually moved to Perth in 2006. Having 
spent time as a heritage management 

consultant, Callum worked in local government for three years as 
a Heritage Officer with the City of Perth before moving to State 
Government in his current role at the State Heritage Office. 
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State Heritage Office Senior Officers continued

Director Fremantle Prison

Bevan Beaver Diploma Public 
Administration
Bevan joined the State Public Service in 
1966, commencing at the State Housing 
Commission. He worked with this agency 
for 41 years and was appointed as 
Executive Director Business Services in 
1992. While in this position, he assumed 
responsibility for Fremantle Prison in 2001, 

following the merger of the Departments of Building Management 
and Homeswest. 

In 2007, Bevan became Director Fremantle Prison and has been 
instrumental in managing the implementation of the Fremantle 
Prison Heritage Precinct Master Plan, the inscription of the Prison 
on the World Heritage List in 2010, ensuring the heritage values 
of the precinct are maintained, and seeing the Prison becoming a 
major heritage tourist attraction in Western Australia.
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3.0 Performance Management Framework

Relationship to Government Goals

The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office aim to conserve cultural heritage places in Western Australia for the benefit of present 
and future generations. This outcome is aligned to the higher-level Government goal of protecting and enhancing the unique West 
Australian lifestyle, as well as ensuring sustainable environmental management and supporting outcomes-based service delivery.

Heritage Council State Heritage Office

Government Goal
Social and Environmental Responsibility:
Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially and 
environmentally responsible manner for the long term benefit of  
the State.

Government Goal
Social and Environmental Responsibility:
Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially and 
environmentally responsible manner for the long-term benefit  
of the State.

Desired Outcome 
Conservation of cultural heritage places in Western Australia for  
the benefit of present and future generations.

Desired Outcome 
Quality advice and support to the Heritage 
Council of Western Australia and the 
Minister for Heritage to promote and deliver 
the conservation of cultural heritage places 
in Western Australia, for the benefit of 
present and future generations.

Desired Outcome* 
Cultural heritage 
management for 
community education 
and appreciation.

Service
Cultural heritage conservation services.

Service
Cultural heritage conservation services on 
behalf of and under the direction of the 
Heritage Council of Western Australia.

Service* 
Community 
engagement in  
cultural heritage.

* New outcome and service to reflect significant new activity (management of Fremantle Prison).
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Performance Management Framework continued

Changes to Outcome Based Management Structure 

On 1 July 2015, the responsibility for Fremantle Prison was 
transferred from the Department of Finance to the State Heritage 
Office. During the year, the State Heritage Office conducted a 
review of the 2014-15 outcomes structure and key performance 
indicators, designed to reflect this significant new activity.

Outcomes of the review include:
 ■ A new outcome was identified – ‘Cultural heritage 

management for community education and appreciation’.
 ■ To support this, a new key effectiveness indicator was 

determined – ‘Visitors to Fremantle Prison’s satisfaction 
with the services provided by the Department.’

 ■ A new service was defined – ‘Community engagement in 
cultural heritage.’

 ■ To support this, a new key efficiency indicator was 
identified – ‘Average cost per visitor to Fremantle Prison’.

The additions to the outcomes based management structure in 
recognition of the significance of Fremantle Prison to the agency’s 
operations were developed in consultation with the Department of 
Treasury and approved by the Office of the Auditor General on 10 
March 2016.

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office work together 
to ensure economic activity is managed in a socially and 
environmentally responsible manner for the long term benefit of the 
State, and achieve the desired outcomes of both agencies.

Cultural and heritage services are delivered through a focus on 
four specific objectives, each supported by ongoing activities and 
strategic projects. 

Strategic Planning

Outcomes and supporting activities and projects are developed 
collaboratively between the Heritage Council and the State 
Heritage Office, and are detailed in the Heritage Council and State 
Heritage Office Strategic Plan 2016-2020. The Department is 
responsible for delivering these activities and projects, and reports 
to the Heritage Council on their progress.

Objective 1: The places that represent the story of Western 
Australia’s history and development are comprehensively 
identified and chronicled.

Recurrent strategies to achieve this outcome include:
 ■ Progress the State Register of Heritage Places as a 

collection of places that are recognised for their cultural 
heritage significance to the people of Western Australia.

 ■ Include the iconic places in the State Register that the 
community would expect to be in the Register.

 ■ Develop and maintain a well understood listing threshold for 
entry in the State Register that enjoys a high level of public 
confidence and supports certainty in forward planning.

 ■ Apply best practice and complete transparency in all 
aspects of the process of entering places in the Register.

 ■ Promote consistency and high standards in local 
governments’ heritage identification and listing practices.
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Performance Management Framework continued

Specific projects to drive this are:
 ■ Progress the entry of two iconic heritage places in the State 

Register.
 ■ Finalise the entry of local government inventory data and 

mapping, and promote inHerit to local governments as 
a sector-wide repository and management tool for local 
government inventory information.

 ■ Deliver a recurrent program for the assessment of iconic 
heritage places for entry in the State Register.

 ■ Develop a strategy to review the State Register and 
accelerate the Assessment Program.

Objective 2: Western Australia’s heritage places are conserved 
through sound conservation practice, successful adaptation 
and harmonious development.

Recurrent strategies to achieve this outcome include:
 ■ Provide advice on development proposals under a policy 

framework that is informed, reasonable, timely, consistent, 
transparent and clear.

 ■ Work with key government agencies to ensure that 
heritage conservation is actively supported in statutory and 
regulatory frameworks, metropolitan and regional planning.

 ■ Improve the availability of information and case studies 
about the sustainability and economic benefits of heritage 
conservation and adaptation.

 ■ Build capacity in heritage planning and management 
in State Government agencies, local governments and 
institutional owners.

 ■ Increase private and public sector investment in heritage 
conservation by providing or facilitating grants, incentives 
and advice.

 ■ Deliver and promote improved training and education 
opportunities in heritage conservation practice.

Strategic projects designed to achieve this outcome are:
 ■ Establish a recurrent liaison program with State Government 

agencies, local governments and institutional owners to 
improve heritage asset planning and management.

 ■ Expand inContact to include more heritage trades and 
suppliers.

 ■ Develop and deliver an online case study, information and 
education resource.

 ■ Complete a review of the Heritage Advisory Subsidy Scheme.
 ■ Plan, finance and initiate a project to map heritage places 

at risk from natural disasters, climate change and other 
strategic risks.
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Performance Management Framework continued

Objective 3: Heritage places under short or long-term 
custodianship are conserved, managed and their full potential 
realised.

Significant efforts have been invested to achieve this outcome. 
Activities include:

 ■ Conserve and interpret the applicable world, national, state 
and local heritage values of places under management.

 ■ Promote a sustainable future for places under management 
through an integrated development framework, compatible 
uses and delivery of visitor services to standards consistent 
with being Western Australia’s premier heritage sites.

 ■ Revitalise selected disused and neglected publicly-owned 
heritage places by providing services in asset management, 
works, feasibility analysis, and disposal.

Key projects focussed on this outcome are: 
 ■ Complete priority conservation works to the Warders’ 

Cottages, Fremantle and successfully prepare the property 
for re-activation.

 ■ Develop and seek funding for a strategic capital works 
program that will assure the conservation of the significant 
fabric of Fremantle Prison over the medium to long term.

 ■ Consolidate Heritage Works as long-term government 
program, including a mandate to improve standards of 
State Government heritage asset management.

 ■ Plan, finance and initiate a review of the Fremantle Prison 
Master Plan.

Objective 4: The importance of heritage places to Western 
Australia’s identity and quality of life is understood and 
appreciated.

Appreciation and understanding of heritage is pivotal to delivering 
quality cultural heritage services. To achieve this we strive to:

 ■ Enhance the understanding of the State Register as a 
collection of places that symbolise and celebrate Western 
Australia’s cultural heritage.

 ■ Promote heritage success stories and engagement with the 
State’s heritage through media, publications, tourism and 
interpretation.

 ■ Work with organisations and groups that share common 
interests to promote heritage understanding and 
engagement amongst stakeholders.

Key projects to support this outcome are:
 ■ Plan and initiate a recurrent stakeholder survey of services, 

needs, expectations and aspirations.
 ■ Work with partners on the development and delivery of an 

annual State Heritage Conference.

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office strategic plan 
is reviewed annually. Priority projects identified in the previous 
strategic plan and completed this year include:

 ■ Replacement of the legacy business information system 
with a new heritage business system that leverages 
technology efficiencies and reflects contemporary practice. 

 ■ Establishment of the Heritage Revolving Fund. 
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Performance Management Framework continued

Governance and Business Management

The key strategies for the delivery of good governance and 
business management include:

 ■ Provide effective and compliant corporate services.
 ■ Provide executive and secretariat support to the Heritage 

Council.
 ■ Provide support to the Minister.
 ■ Maintain and enhance externally used systems (inContact, 

inHerit).

Key projects to support governance and business management 
include:

 ■ Replace the current Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990 
with a modern piece of legislation.

 ■ Complete the transfer of Fremantle Prison and its integration 
into the business operations of the State Heritage Office.

 ■ Implement a new Heritage Act and prepare complementary 
regulations, policies and procedures.

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office Strategic Plan is 
reviewed annually. Priority projects identified in the current and 
previous strategic plan and completed this year include:

 ■ Develop and deliver an online case study, information and 
education resource.

 ■ Complete a review of the Heritage Advisory Subsidy 
Scheme.

 ■ Plan, finance and initiate a project to map heritage places 
at risk from natural disasters, climate change and other 
strategic risks.

 ■ Complete the transfer of Fremantle Prison and the 
integration of the business operations of the State Heritage 
Office.

 ■ Plan, finance and initiate a review of the Fremantle Prison 
Master Plan.

The Department’s achievement of high standards in governance 
and business management was recognised at the 31st Institute of 
Public Administration Australia’s W.S. Lonnie Awards 2016, with 
the Department winning the:

 ■ WS Lonnie Memorial Trophy, for the best annual report of 
the year.

 ■ Margaret McAleer Special Commendation, for establishing 
a benchmark in annual reporting to which others should 
aspire.

 ■ Gold General Award for agencies less than 100 FTE.
 ■ Specialist Award – Public Sector Award for Good 

Governance.

Shared Responsibility with Other Agencies

The Heritage Council has no shared responsibilities with other 
agencies, other than the State Heritage Office.

The State Heritage Office has no shared responsibilities with other 
agencies, other than the Heritage Council.



3 0 Heritage  Counci l  |  State  Her i tage  Off ice    3 0    Annual  Report  2015-16

4.0 Agency Performance – Report on Operations

4.1 Agency Performance compared to Resource Agreements Targets
Heritage Council

Financial Targets Target
$’000

Actual
$’000

Variation
$’000

Total cost of service 1,461 1,377 (84)
Net cost of service 1,461 986 (475)
Total equity 2,234 3,634 1,400
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held - (107) (107)
Approved salary expense level 0 0 0
Approved full time equivalent (FTE) 0 0 0

Working Cash Targets Target
$’000

Actual
$’000

Variation
$’000

Agreed Working Cash Limit (at Budget) 73 73 0
Agreed Working Cash Limit (at Actuals) 73 233(a) 160(b)

(a)  The Actual Working cash held $3,122,000 includes restricted cash of $2,888,000 held for payment of grant commitments and have 
therefore been excluded from this target.

(b)  The variation is mainly due to normal operational payables and accrued expenses, for which the obligations have been incurred in the 
period but the payments have not yet been made.
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Agency Performance compared to Resource Agreements Targets continued

State Heritage Office

Financial Targets Target
$’000

Actual
$’000

Variation
$’000

Total cost of service 13,569 14,443 874
Net cost of service 8,991 10,239 1,248
Total equity 34,585 32,733 (1,852)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held - 1,109 1,109
Approved salary expense level 5,783 5,630 (153)
Approved full time equivalent (FTE) 63 59.6 (3.4)

Working Cash Targets Target
$’000

Actual
$’000

Variation
$’000

Agreed Working Cash Limit (at Budget) 623 623 0
Agreed Working Cash Limit (at Actuals) 623 2,698(a) 2,074(b)

(a)   The Actual Working Cash held $3,448,000 includes restricted cash held for unspent payments out of the Heritage Revolving fund 
commitments and has therefore been excluded from this target.

(b)   The variation is mainly due to normal operational payables and accrued expenses, for which the obligations have been incurred in the 
period but the payments have not yet been made.
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Agency performance – Report on Operations continued

Heritage Council Desired Government Outcomes and Key Performance Indicators

Desired Outcome: Conservation of cultural heritage places in Western Australia for the benefit of present and future generations

Key Effectiveness Indicators Target Actual Variation

Extent to which heritage places identified as having potential State significance have been assessed 76% 76.3% 0.3%

Extent to which development approvals issued for registered places are consistent with the Heritage 
Council of Western Australia's advice to decision-making authorities 100% 99.6% (0.4%)

Extent to which grant aid leverages additional investment in conservation projects 2:1 2:1 0

Service: Cultural heritage conservation services.

Key Efficiency Indicators Target Actual Variation
Incidence of preliminary reviews proceeding to full assessment but resulting in decisions not to 
recommend interim registration. 6.5% 6.5% 0%

State Heritage Office Desired Government Outcomes and Key Performance Indicators

Desired Outcome: Quality advice and support to the Heritage Council of Western Australia and the Minister for Heritage to promote and 
deliver the conservation of cultural heritage places in Western Australia, for the benefit of present and future generations.

Key Effectiveness Indicators Target Actual Variation
The Heritage Council of Western Australia’s satisfaction with the services provided by the 
Department of the State Heritage Office. 75% 89.7% 14.7%

The Minister for Heritage’s satisfaction with the services provided by the Department of the State 
Heritage Office. 75% 88% 13%

Service: Cultural heritage conservation services on behalf of and under the direction of the Heritage Council of Western Australia.

Key Efficiency Indicators Target Actual Variation
Average cost per place of maintaining the State Register of Heritage Places $60 $59 $1
Average cost of development referrals $900 $1,100 ($200)
Average cost of administering grants (per grant dollar) 10c 17c (7c)
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Agency Performance compared to Resource Agreements Targets continued

Desired Outcome: Cultural heritage management for community education and appreciation.

Key Effectiveness Indicators Actual Note
Visitors to Fremantle Prison’s satisfaction with the services provided by the Department of the State Heritage 
Office. 96.5% 1

1. This is a new indicator and no target was set. For 2016-17 the target is 85%.

Service: Community engagement in cultural heritage.

Key Effectiveness Indicators Actual Note
Average cost per visitor to Fremantle Prison $34.1 1

1. This is a new indicator and no target was set. For 2016-17 the target is $40.
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4.2 State Register of Heritage Places 

The State Register of Heritage Places is a statutory list of places that represent the story of Western Australia’s history and 
development. Entry in the State Register recognises the value and importance of a place and helps promote its preservation into 
the future.

Places are entered in the State Register following a rigorous 
assessment and registration process, which includes extensive 
engagement with owners, local governments and other 
stakeholders.

Places typically come to the attention of the Heritage Council 
through either a nomination or referral. Any member of the 
community, or an organisation, can nominate a place to be 
considered for entry in the State Register. Most referrals are 
received from government agencies. 

On receiving a nomination or referral, the State Heritage Office 
drafts a preliminary review which is then considered by the 
Heritage Council’s Register Committee. Less than half of all the 
places that have undergone a preliminary review have been 
determined to warrant full assessment for possible inclusion in the 
State Register, and the rate is steadily decreasing as the work of 
populating the Register progresses.

A full heritage assessment considers a range of heritage values 
including the aesthetic, historic, scientific and social values of 
a place, in addition to its rarity, representativeness, condition, 
integrity and authenticity. The State Heritage Office does 
the assessment work and then undertakes comprehensive 
stakeholder engagement.

Places that the Heritage Council considers meet the criteria for 
registration are recommended to the Minister for Heritage. The 
Minister makes the final decision on whether the place will be 
entered in the State Register.

Above: Art Deco style Attunga Flats, Subiaco
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State Register of Heritage Places  continued

Place Assessments 

This year, 106 places underwent a preliminary review by the 
Heritage Council’s Register Committee. Of these, 16 places 
were nominated by the community for possible inclusion in the 
State Register, and another 80 places were referred through the 
Government Heritage Property Disposal Process. The balance of 
places were reviewed by the Committee for a variety of reasons 
such as their inclusion in thematic studies, new evidence about 
cultural significance coming to light, and the ongoing review of the 
Heritage Council’s Assessment Program. 

In the past few years, the State Heritage Office has reviewed and 
implemented major changes to the way it assesses places for the 
State Register. Assessments are now principally undertaken by 
the State Heritage Office, with some work outsourced to private 
contractors. Senior Heritage Officers in the Assessment and 
Registration division undertake most of the research needed to 
assess a place and, as a result, liaise more closely with owners 
from the beginning of the assessment and registration process. 
The change to doing most assessment work in-house continues 
to create efficiencies and is helping to build positive relationships 
with stakeholders, particularly owners, who are in a better position 
to understand the effect of registration. 

This year, the Heritage Council decided to progress nine new 
places to stakeholder consultation on their possible inclusion in 
the Register. In three other cases, the decision was that the places 
did not meet the threshold for entry in the Register, and in one 
case, the protection of the Heritage Act was determined as not 
warranted. All stakeholders were advised of these decisions.

Stakeholder consultation can take time, sometimes several years. 
This can be for a variety of reasons including difficulties contacting 
owners and interested parties, negotiations about the area of land 
to be included in the Register, and owner concerns about the 
possible effect of registration. As a result, the State Heritage Office 
is currently in stakeholder negotiations on the possible registration 
of a total of 85 places, including those added this year.

Where consultation has been inactive for some time and is being 
reactivated, it is prudent that the Heritage Council reaffirms its 
decision that the place warrants consideration for the Register, in 
which case the assessment documentation is brought up to date. 
The Heritage Council re-affirmed its decision on one pre-existing 
assessment this year. 

There are also occasions when register entries need to be 
amended. This financial year, two permanent register entries  
were amended.
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State Register of Heritage Places  continued

Stakeholder Engagement - Proposed Registration of West End, Fremantle
This year, the Heritage Council considered its largest ever addition to the 
State Register of Heritage Places with the proposal to list Fremantle’s West 
End.
West End has an important story to tell about the State’s early history and 
is a rare example of an intact port city business district established during 
the exuberance of the gold boom era.
The area under consideration is bounded by Market Street to the east, 
Collie Street and Marine Terrace to the south, Little High Street to the 
west and Phillimore Street to the north. It covers almost 200,000 square 
metres, and includes about 250 buildings with more than 400 owners. 
Engaging with a stakeholder group of this size presented significant 
challenges, and State Heritage Office employees undertook formal 
training to assist with the development of a comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement strategy. The primary objective of this was to generate a high 
proportion of informed responses from stakeholders on the proposed 
registration.
Consultation began in January 2016 with an introductory letter and 
request to confirm contact details to all 414 owners and 292 tenants 
within the West End. A formal invitation to comment on the proposal was 
subsequently sent out in February. Other key stakeholders, including local 
community and industry groups, were also invited to comment on the 
proposal. The period for submissions was open until 2 May 2016.
A high degree of interest in the proposal was expected so all efforts were 
made to inform stakeholders through fact sheets, a dedicated page on 
the State Heritage Office website, a range of media opportunities, and 
also two public information sessions that were held within the precinct. 
However, as the period for comment progressed, it became apparent 
that stakeholders were not going to be as forthcoming with submissions 
as anticipated. Feedback suggested that some assumed the area was 
already included in the State Register.

Additional engagement strategies were therefore activated which included 
direct phone calls and email reminders, while both traditional and social 
media were also used to ‘get the word out’ and encourage stakeholders 
to provide their views.
While progressing West End, Fremantle, through stakeholder engagement 
involved a Senior Heritage Officer full time for many months, this focused 
use of resources has proved effective in engaging with the community on 
a precinct that comprises buildings and related spaces that collectively 
have a unique cultural significance.
The stakeholder engagement model developed for West End has provided 
the Heritage Council and State Heritage Office with a strategy that can be 
applied to stakeholder engagement on other precincts being considered 
for listing in the future.

Above: West End consultation
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State Register of Heritage Places  continued

Entries in the State Register

This year, the Minister approved 12 places to be added to the 
State Register on an interim basis, on recommendation of the 
Heritage Council. This brings the total number of registered places 
to 1,353. One other place was approved for an amendment to the 
boundary of the interim registration. 

The Minister also approved the permanent registration of 13 places.

Some of the highlights of this year’s registrations are: 
 ■ Boundary Tree, Baskerville – a large flooded gum tree on the 

banks of the Swan River that has been used as a boundary 
marker between several lots of land since the earliest days 
of the Swan River Colony.

 ■ Captain Stirling Hotel, Nedlands (1935) – a prominent hotel 
on Stirling Highway that reflects the increasing reliance on 
motorised transportation in Western Australia. The place is a 
fine and rare example of the Inter-War Spanish Mission style 
of architecture.

 ■ Attunga Flats, Subiaco (1937) – a rare example of a 
purpose-built block of flats in the Inter-War Art Deco style, 
constructed by mining entrepreneur Claude de Bernales. 

 ■ Morby Farm Cottage, Northam (1936) – a simple stone 
cottage built by local pioneer John Morrell. It is one of the 
oldest surviving residences in Western Australia and the first 
house to be constructed in Northam.

 ■ Albany Snake Run Skateboard Park (1976 ) – a rare 
example of a reinforced concrete downhill skateboard track 
that is the oldest surviving track in Australia, and the second 
oldest in the world.
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Assessment and Registration
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*   The number of places recorded as being in the State Register of 
Heritage places was lower than in previous years because of a 
change in the way that some types of registrations were being 
reported in the State Heritage Office’s new business system to 
be consistent with the terms of section 50(3) of the Heritage of 
Western Australia Act 1990. Where an interim registration was 
located within an area that is permanently registered, the interim 
registration was no longer counted as an individual registration 
because it had been subsumed by the permanent registration. 
This reporting was not possible under the Department’s former 
business system.
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State Register of Heritage Places  continued

Amendments to Registrations 

Two amendments were made to permanently registered places during the year.

One amendment was made to an interim registered place during the year.

State Register of Heritage Places Interim Registrations 2015-16

LGA Place No Place Name Address Interim
Esperance 5056 Esperance Fish Cannery (fmr) Lot 1018, Norseman Road, Esperance 07/07/15
Bassendean 0129 Bassendean Fire Station (fmr) 10-14 Parker Street, Bassendean 21/07/15
Perth 3550 Co-operative Bulk Handling Building (fmr) 22 Delhi Street, West Perth 01/09/15

Swan 25111 Boundary Tree, Swan Locations 4 & 5, 
Baskerville Memorial Avenue, Baskerville 01/09/15

Albany 1972 Albany Snake Run Skateboard Park 162 Hare Street, Mount Clarence 15/12/15
Bunbury 5682 Lady Mitchell Memorial Child Health Centre 2 Prosser Street, Bunbury 08/01/16
Perth 10612 Chemistry Centre (fmr), East Perth 100 Plain Street, East Perth 08/01/16
Nedlands 1832 Captain Stirling Hotel 80 Stirling Highway, Nedlands 09/02/16
Yilgarn 25378 Railway Rock Catchment Dam Group Stephens Road, Bodalin 12/02/16
Northam 1837 Morby Farm Cottage 70 Katrine Road, Northam 19/02/16
Subiaco 9187 Attunga Flats, Subiaco 103/105 Thomas Street, Subiaco 17/06/16
Swan 18404 Riverbank Detention Centre, Caversham 130 Hammersley Road, Caversham 17/06/16

State Register of Heritage Places Permanent Registrations 2015-16

LGA Place No Place Name Address Interim Permanent
Perth 1961 Phineas Seeligson’s(fmr), Perth 143 Barrack Street, Perth 27/01/15 14/07/15
Armadale 3562 Darjeeling, Roleystone 538 Brookton Highway, Roleystone 17/10/14 17/07/15
Various 23992 Metropolitan Sewerage Vents Various 02/04/15 11/09/15
Subiaco 2453 Subiaco Hotel 455-465 Rokeby Road, Subiaco 07/11/14 20/10/15
Mosman Park 24857 House, 2 Hill Terrace, Mosman Park 2 Hill Terrace, Mosman Park 30/01/015 29/12/15
Perth 4289 Royal Perth Hospital Heritage Precinct 51 Victoria Square, East Perth 11/08/09 08/01/16
Stirling 9842 Briggs Kiln (1), Carine Reid Highway, Carine 13/01/15 08/01/16
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State Register of Heritage Places  continued

LGA Place No Place Name Address Interim Permanent
Vincent 3318 East Perth Power Station 11 Summers Street, East Perth 25/11/04 08/01/16
Bassendean 129 Bassendean Fire Station(fmr) 10-14 Parker Street, Bassendean 21/07/15 09/02/16

Esperance 5056 Esperance Fish Cannery (fmr) Lot 1018, Norseman Road, 
Esperance 07/07/15 09/02/16

Dalwallinu 667 Pithara Town Hall and Supper Room 41-13 Leahy Street, Pithara 17/12/10 09/02/16

Swan 25111 Boundary Tree, Swan Locations 4 & 5, 
Baskerville Memorial Avenue, Baskerville 01/09/15 22/04/16

Albany 1972 Albany Snake Run Skateboard Park Hare Street, Mount Clarence 15/12/15 17/05/16

Accessing information on State Registered places

More information on new inclusions in the State Register can be found through inHerit, the online database of heritage places on the 
State Heritage website. This information includes the significance and history of the place; other applicable heritage listings; curtilage area; 
spatial mapping and street view; and images. Simply search the inHerit database by using the place number or name of the place.

inHerit is a statewide online repository of information on more than 25,000 places of heritage interest. It contains information on State and 
locally-listed places; places in local government inventories; National Trust classifications; places on the Heritage Council’s Assessment 
Program or places that have come to the notice of the Council through surveys and nominations. 

inHerit is hosted and managed by the State Heritage Office. Information on locally-listed places is managed by local governments, which 
can create, edit and publish their own records through inHerit. 

In 2015-16, inHerit usage increased by more than 30 percent to over 106,000 users.
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East Perth Power Station (1913-16)
East Perth Power Station was added to the State Register of Heritage 
Places on an interim basis in 1994. The place is rare in Australia as a 
large-scale thermal power station constructed before the end of WWI 
that retains its plant and equipment. Before its construction, electricity 
was generated by small scale systems operated by local councils, so the 
construction of a centralised power station allowed for the expansion of 
electricity supply to homes and industry.
Because East Perth Power Station was in government ownership at the 
time it was registered, there was no urgency to finalise the process and 
progress it to the Register on a permanent basis – until recently.
In 2015, the State Government announced that East Perth Power 
Station was one of 20 sites that would be sold, as they were surplus to 
Government needs. East Perth Power Station had stopped generating 
power in 1981, and other functions relating to power supply had gradually 
been relocated or consolidated to small parts of the site. The issue of 
permanent registration was identified early on in the sale process as 
something that would need to be concluded before the site could be 
offered to the market. Permanent registration would provide clarity to 

prospective purchasers about the cultural significance of the site, and 
make arrangements like Heritage Agreements more straightforward.
Before progressing permanent registration, the Heritage Council reviewed 
the interim entry to bring it up to date as there had been quite a few 
changes made to the site since 1994, and it was realised that only the 
portion around the main buildings was actually registered. Other important 
elements, like the Gate House and the Administration Building, were 
found to lie outside the registered area. Because of this, and because 
the boundary of the registration ran arbitrarily through the middle of what 
could be a redevelopment site, the Heritage Council proposed expanding 
the registration to include the entire power station site. 
Discussions were initiated with the site owner, the Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority, about these issues, and they were supportive 
of the registration being expanded. All stakeholders were consulted on 
the proposed amendment, and the Minister’s decision to progress the 
amendment to interim registration was gazetted in September 2015. 
Permanent registration was then able to progress, and was finalised in 
January 2016.

Background: Interior East Perth Power Station.  
Image courtesy of the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority
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4.3 Government Heritage Property Disposal Process

The State Government is the largest single owner of heritage places in Western Australia and sets the standard for observing good 
heritage management and conservation practice. Currently, about 40 percent of all places in the State Register are owned by 
State Government.

The purpose of the Government Heritage Property Disposal 
Process (GHPDP) is to identify and assess the heritage value of 
State Government property under consideration for disposal, and 
to provide relevant protection where appropriate. Disposal includes 
the demolition, sale, transfer or lease of a property out of the State 
Government sector (the transfer or lease must be for at least 10 
years). 

The policy applies to all State Government agencies and 
organisations listed in Schedule 1 of the Financial Management 
Act 2006, as well as the Government Trading Enterprises. These 
agencies are required to notify the Heritage Council if they intend 
to dispose of or demolish a property which: 

 ■ is more than 60 years old;
 ■ is listed on an existing heritage list such as a local 

government inventory; or
 ■ displays other evidence of potential heritage significance. 

Agencies are asked to notify the Heritage Council of the proposed 
disposal at least four months before taking action. 

This year, 80 places were referred to the Heritage Council through 
the GHPDP and had preliminary reviews. Of these, two places 
were identified as warranting assessment for possible entry in the 
State Register as part of larger groups or precincts, and one place 
was identified as warranting individual assessment. 

In response to decisions in previous years, one full heritage 
assessment was undertaken by a government agency under 
the GHPDP, and three other full assessments were informed by 
heritage reports commissioned by government agencies. 



4 3 Heritage  Counci l  |  State  Her i tage  Off ice    4 3    Annual  Report  2015-16

4.4 Development of Heritage Places 

The Heritage Council provides advice to local governments and other decision-making authorities on changes or development to 
State Registered places, prior to works being undertaken. 

Owners and their consultants are also encouraged to seek input 
from the State Heritage Office Development team at the early 
stages of their project when working on a State Registered place. 
Discussions at this stage can identify ways in which the project 
objectives can be met while protecting heritage values. 

The heritage values of a place may include building fabric that 
tells its story, such as the materials and construction method 
or decorative elements, as well as the setting and landscape. 
These elements together paint a picture of when the place was 
constructed and its purpose; the people who lived or used the 
spaces and their general way of life; the economic circumstances 
and scientific or technical innovations; as well as the broader story 
of the aspirations, cultural norms and values of our community at 
the time. More information about developing heritage places can be 
found on the State Heritage website.

The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office work together 
with owners and industry to encourage sensitive development and 
new compatible uses of heritage places because this is the best 
way of assuring their future.

The Heritage Council has authorised the State Heritage Office 
to deal with most development proposals under a delegation 
framework. 

Complex, major and sensitive developments are dealt with by the 
Heritage Council or its Development Committee.

While it is not a statutory requirement, the Heritage Council, through 
the State Heritage Office, also provides advice on development 

proposals for places that are on the Heritage Council’s assessment 
program for possible inclusion in the State Register. 

Development Referrals 
A total of 898 development referrals were determined during the 
year, with 92 percent being dealt with by the State Heritage Office 
under its delegation from the Heritage Council. Development 
referrals have increased by 7 percent reflecting the increase in 
adapting heritage buildings for modern use and included major 
heritage projects such as the Guildford Hotel redevelopment, with 
the hotel re-opening its doors to patrons in May 2016. 

Eighty nine percent of development referrals were processed 
within 30 days. Those taking more than 30 days reflect more 
complex proposals requiring consideration by the Heritage 
Council’s Development Committee or full Heritage Council. This 
year has seen 18 more referrals escalated to the Heritage Council 
for determination with a total of 74 determined by the Council or 
its Development Committee. Early discussions with stakeholders 
about their proposed development plans provides the opportunity 
for timely feedback and advice from the State Heritage Office to 
enable quicker turnaround times for formal referrals to the Heritage 
Council.

The following graphs provide a breakdown of development 
referrals by type, region, referral processing times and delegation. 
Information on planning referrals is contained within the Local 
Government Services section.
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Development of Heritage Places  continued
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Development of Heritage Places continued
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Development of Heritage Places continued

Major projects
The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office were actively 
involved in a number of major metropolitan projects including: 

 ■ Warders’ Cottages, Hendersen Street Fremantle
 ■ Coogee Hotel and Post Office
 ■ Wilhelmsen House, Fremantle
 ■ Sunset Hospital, Nedlands
 ■ Dalgety Wool Stores, Fremantle
 ■ Midland Railway Workshops, Midland
 ■ General Post Office, Perth
 ■ Old Treasury Building (Central Government Offices), Perth
 ■ Chemistry Centre, East Perth
 ■ Shenton Park Rehabilitation Hospital

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office were also involved 
in several key projects in regional Western Australia:

 ■ Lord Forrest Olympic Pool, Kalgoorlie
 ■ Katanning Roller Flour Mill, Katanning
 ■ Boulder Town Hall and Offices
 ■ Batavia Coast Marina, Geraldton

Unfortunately, 2016 will also be remembered for the loss of 
three State Registered places to fire. The Waroona bush fires in 
January had a devastating impact on the historic town of Yarloop 
and its surrounding rural community. The State Heritage places 
of St Joseph’s Church and Cottage and the Yarloop Timber Mill 
Workshops were razed to the ground and the State Heritage 
Office and Heritage Council have been working closely with the 
State Recovery team and owners to assist in the initial clean-up 

of the area to ensure the 
remaining heritage values 
of the places are protected 
and conserved.

Much of the workshop’s 
museum collection still 
remains and can be 
salvaged and conserved. 
The State Heritage Office, 
along with valuable support 
from the Western Australian 
Museum, has helped the Shire of 
Harvey and museum volunteers to develop an approach to the 
identification of objects, their careful retrieval from the charred 
remains of the buildings, cataloguing and conservation until such 
time the collection can be re-exhibited and this important part of 
the State’s heritage restored to the community.

The third State Heritage place to fall victim to fire was the State 
School at Quairading, which was burnt to the ground in February 
following a suspected arson attack. Again, the State Heritage 
Office and Heritage Council were quick to respond with advice 
and support, providing the services of an archaeologist to oversee 
the removal of building debris from the site, and identification and 
salvage of artefacts associated with the building and its use as a 
place of learning for almost 100 years. A small selection of objects 
was found, cleaned and conserved and will be returned to the 
community for use in educational programs and interpretation 
relating to the ongoing story telling of the important role this 
building played in the inequitable approach to the education of 
Aboriginal children.

Above: Yarloop Timber Mill Workshops  
fire damage
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Development of Heritage Places continued

Background: Artists impression for the new transformation of Sunset Hospital.
Inset: Phase 1 of the upgrade to Sunset Hospital.

Sunset Hospital
First established in 1904 and originally referred to as the Claremont Old 
Men’s Home, the site provided housing and care for men unable to look 
after themselves and with no relatives to care for them. Many were gold 
prospectors, agricultural and pastoral workers, as well as former convicts. 
Its function later changed to include hospital care for war veterans and 
was renamed as Sunset Hospital in 1943 following a competition that was 
held among the patients. In use for almost 100 years, the site closed in 
1995 and has remained largely unused ever since.
In 2013, the State Government announced a vision for the site,  
“to transform Sunset over time into a unique Government owned asset 
for arts, cultural and community use, which has a high level of heritage 
conservation, public access, amenity and engagement with the river”. 
The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office have been working closely 
with the Department of Finance to assist in the transformation of Sunset 

and implement Phase 1 of the project, 
including the preparation of the parkland 
area for opening to the public in spring 
2016.
Much has been happening behind the 
scenes in Phase 1, including an upgrade 
of services to the buildings and installation 
of fire suppression and protection systems. On the advice of the Heritage 
Council, the excavation works have been carefully managed to identify 
and protect archaeological remains and significant trees. An interpretation 
plan and landscape proposal will also be implemented prior to opening the 
gates. This will create a sense of place reflective of the history of the site 
and visitors will be able to immerse themselves in the heritage of the place 
and stories about its colourful characters. 
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Heritage Agreements and Regulatory Orders  continued

Proposals that may affect a State Registered place are referred 
to the Heritage Council under the Heritage of Western Australia 
Act 1990 (the Act). Section 11 of the Act requires a decision-
making authority to determine proposals consistent with Heritage 
Council advice unless the decision-making authority determines 
there is no feasible and prudent alternative. This may result in an 
approval that is inconsistent with Heritage Council advice. While 
this is permitted by the Heritage of Western Australian Act 1990, 
such a determination would generally result in a negative heritage 
outcome. Instances are therefore recorded within the Annual 
Report and form part of the Heritage Council’s key performance 
indicators. 

This year, the Shire of Esperance has advised that it has made 
a determination that is inconsistent with the Heritage Council’s 
advice. In this case, it was determined by the Shire that under the 
Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990, section.11(3) (c) there was 
no feasible or prudent alternative to taking the approved action, 
which was to demolish the Esperance Tanker Jetty.

4.5 Heritage Agreements and Regulatory Orders 
Heritage Agreements

A Heritage Agreement is a legally binding contract that sets out 
a framework for the long-term conservation and maintenance or 
interpretation of a place. If the place is sold after the owner signs the 
Heritage Agreement, it normally remains binding on the new owner.

The State Heritage Office prepared and completed nine new 
Heritage Agreements in respect of nine places and revised an 
existing Heritage Agreement in respect of one place pursuant to 
section 29 of the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990, for the 
following places:

Place No. Place Name
201 Cornwall Hotel, Boulder
854 Wilhelmsen House, Fremantle
878 Fremantle Court House and Police Station Complex
1035 Hillcrest, Fremantle
2005 Melbourne Hotel, Perth
2174 East Perth Primary School *
2953 The ‘Island’ Farmhouse, Busselton**
3850 Esplanade Reserve, Perth (Elizabeth Quay Site 9 only)
4031 Barrack Square, Perth (Elizabeth Quay Site 10 only)
5326 Yoonderup, Busselton**

* This Heritage Agreement replaces one previously made in 
respect of the same place.
** This place is not on the State Register but is recognised as 
being significant to the local government district. The Heritage 
Agreement is between the local government and the owner.
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Heritage Agreements and Regulatory Orders  continued

There are currently 125 Heritage Agreements in effect 
for 116 places, of which 101 places are entered in the 
State Register. Some places are subject to more than one 
Heritage Agreement because the place includes two or 
more separate structures that are each the subject of a 
Heritage Agreement.

The State Heritage Office provides assistance to local 
governments in preparing Heritage Agreements for 
places of local heritage significance that are not in the 
State Register, as permitted under section 29(2)(c) of the 
Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990. The Heritage 
Council is not a party to these agreements. Rather, these 
agreements are between local governments and property 
owners only. In the past year, the State Heritage Office 
assisted the City of Busselton in preparing Heritage 
Agreements for The ‘Island’ Farmhouse and Yoonderup.

Elizabeth Quay
Occupying the Esplanade 
Reserve and a portion of 
Barrack Square, both of 
which are entered in the State 
Register of Heritage Places, 
Elizabeth Quay is a major 
State Government waterfront 
development that reconnects 
Perth city with the Swan River. 
The Metropolitan 
Redevelopment Authority (MRA) subdivided Elizabeth Quay to provide seven 
commercial development sites and began inviting expressions of interest for the 
sale of these sites. To date, three of the sites have been sold and negotiations 
are under way in respect of the remaining four. All of the sites are to be sold 
subject to the purchaser entering into a Heritage Agreement.
Heritage Agreements are normally used to ensure the long-term conservation 
and maintenance of a place. However, in this instance, the agreements are 
used to ensure that cultural heritage interpretation features are included in any 
development of the sites, and that these features are properly maintained over 
the long term.
The Esplanade Reserve has considerable historic value as an area that has 
traditionally been used for sporting activities, special events, performances and 
memorial services. It has also been a rallying point for public protest marches. 
Barrack Square has been associated with river transport since the time of 
first settlement in 1829, with a jetty continuously present at this spot. Today, it 
remains a point of departure and return for river transport and recreation.
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Heritage Agreements and Regulatory Orders  continued

Background: Wilhelmsen 
as it stands today after 
the repairs

Inset: Before and 
after showing black 
tuckpointing applied

Wilhelmsen House, Fremantle 1902
This striking landmark building on the corner of Cliff Street and Phillimore Street, 
built during the boom days of the 1890s gold rush and opening of the Fremantle 
Harbour has now, quite appropriately, become the new headquarters for the 
Mediterranean Shipping Company, echoing its original intended use as shipping 
offices for Dalgety and Co Ltd. Designed by JJ Talbot Hobbs, the building has 
particularly fine detailing and its facades are important for the aesthetic qualities 
of the stone and rendered brick work with a plethora of classical details, balanced 
about the domed tower. 
Over the years, inappropriate repairs, use of non-compatible materials and failing 
gutters and roof coverings have led to a build-up of damp and deterioration of 
early concrete elements, and the original brick facades were suffering from being 
covered in non-permeable cement coatings and paint.
Not daunted by the task, the owners, ably supported by a lead architect, heritage 
consultant and experienced heritage building contractor, have carefully removed 
the modern additions, remediated the damp issues and returned the facades to 
their near original appearance. Often in these cases, a lime render is applied to 
protect the face brick and provide a sacrificial coating to absorb salt carried in the 
air and moisture trapped in the brick from years of falling damp. The owners were 
keen to return the building to its original face brick appearance, which over time 
had been impacted by the application of renders that had trapped moisture in 
the brick walls from years of falling damp. The State Heritage Office worked with 
the owners to find a mutually acceptable outcome that provided for the long term 
protection of the building’s historic fabric. This included negotiation of a Heritage 
Agreement between the Heritage Council and the owners to require regular 
monitoring of the brick facades and provide for the application of a lime render 
should levels of deterioration become unacceptable.
To date, the brick is showing no damaging signs of salt efflorescence and the 
building once more can be admired for its original design intent and as expressed 
in a speech made at its opening in 1902 when the Port of Fremantle was the 
main gateway into Western Australia, the building “presents a most pleasing 
appearance and is a worthy sentinel at the front door of the State”. 
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Heritage Agreements and Regulatory Orders  continued

Regulatory Orders

Under section 59 of the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990, 
the Heritage Minister may issue an order to provide special 
protection for a place.

 ■ A ‘Conservation Order’ is an on-going protective order that 
remains in effect indefinitely, unless an end-date is specified. 
It requires public consultation before the Minister may issue 
it.

 ■ A ‘Stop Work Order’ is a protective order that automatically 
expires after 42 days. It does not require public consultation.

 ■ A ‘Consent Order’ is a protective order that only requires 
the owner’s consent. It remains in effect for as long as the 
owner agrees. It does not require public consultation.

No new Regulatory Orders were issued this year.
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4.6 Assistance for heritage property owners

Great Southern “Dingo” Roller Flour Mill 
Thompson Road, North Fremantle
Mention the words Dingo Flour to most West Australians and an image 
of North Fremantle’s iconic red and white DINGO FLOUR sign will come 
to mind – that, or memories of cream and red carry bags or shorts made 
from recycled flour bags!
Formally known as the Great Southern Roller Flour Mill, the locally known 
‘Dingo Flour’ sign has been a landmark on Stirling Highway since it was 
first painted in 1940. The Great Southern Roller Flour Mill is one of only 
two large mills still operating in Western Australia, and is the only one to 
continue operating in the Perth metro area. 
The mill site is home to multiple heritage-listed structures, including the 
original mill buildings, silos, packing and mixing buildings, administration 
building, store and warehouse buildings, the workshop, laboratory, bakery 
and staff amenities. Most of the buildings in the complex are still in use 
according to their original purpose and some of the original machinery 
is still in use as well, although modifications have been made to meet 
modern safety standards.
The ‘Dingo Flour’ brand was first registered by the Narrogin Co-operative 
Flour Milling Co Ltd in 1908. Following the opening of the Great Southern 
Roller Flour Mill by the company in the 1920s, each bag of flour from the 
mill was stamped with the distinctive logo. In August 1925, the mill’s water 
tank was painted with the trademark, 15 years before the four-storey silos 
were emblazoned with the red dingo.
Over the years, the question of who painted the sign on the silos has been 
the subject of debate and urban myths. Many falsely believed that the silo 
sign was repainted by notorious Perth businessman Alan Bond when he 
was an apprentice at a local signwriting company Parnell Signs. When 
Fred Parnell of Parnell Signs reinstated the dingo after World War II, during 
which it was painted over as a war precaution, it reappeared from hiding 
having an eye, a feature not previously present.

It has recently been confirmed that the original dingo sign on the silos was 
painted by Les Nash of Davies Sign Services, who painstakingly enlarged 
the image and transferred it onto the four-storey silos using the iron sheets 
as a grid to guide him.
In place for 75 years, the Dingo Flour clad silos have unfortunately 
suffered an accelerated ageing process due to the salt-laden winds of the 
Fremantle Doctor. The sheet metal cladding the dingo is painted on now is 
very brittle and rusted, despite regular maintenance and several recoats of 
paint over the years.
As part of a major refurbishment of the site to enable it to continue 
operating as a mill, the silos will be reclad in fresh steel, and the Dingo 
Flour sign will be repainted exactly as it is now, with the dingo continuing 
its gaze toward port and remaining a treasured icon of Fremantle for 
generations to come.
The Heritage Council assisted the current owners, Allied Mills, in 
recladding the ocean-facing silos and reinstating the landmark DINGO 
FLOUR graphic through an $82,564 grant under the 2015-16 Heritage 
Grants Program.
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Assistance for heritage property owners continued

One of the Heritage Council’s key objectives is that Western Australia’s heritage places are conserved through sound conservation 
practice, successful adaptation and harmonious development.

One way in which this objective can be achieved is by providing 
or facilitating incentives for owners of State Registered heritage 
places. Since 1997, the Heritage Council has offered financial 
support to custodians of our State’s built heritage for conservation 
works and conservation management plans and strategies through 
the Heritage Grants Program.

The State Heritage Office administers the Heritage Council’s 
grants program as well as providing information and advice on 
other incentives and assistance available to property owners. 
The Department also administers the Goldfields Earthquake 
Restoration Fund, which was established by the State Government 
in response to the damaging earthquake of May 2010. There is 
also the Heritage Advisory Service Subsidy, an incentive offered 
to regional local governments which subsidises the cost of 
establishing and running a heritage advisory service for residents 
and ratepayers.

Heritage Grants Program

The Heritage Grants Program assists owners of State Registered 
heritage places by offering grants of up to $100,000 on a matched 
dollar-for-dollar basis for essential conservation works and the 
preparation of conservation management plans or strategies. 
Since the program began in 1996-97, more than 700 heritage 
projects have been awarded grants of more than $17 million. 

In March 2012, the State Government announced that the 2012-13 
Heritage Grants Program would be increased by 25 percent, with an 
additional $1.046 million allocated over four years. This was the first 
increase in the program since its inception in 1996-97.

In its third year of increased funding, $1.27 million was provided 
to 27 projects which contributed to $2.59 million in conservation 
works around the State. It included 11 metropolitan and 16 
regional projects.

This year, $790,532 was acquitted for 21 grant-funded projects 
completed in the period. Of these, 17 were from previous years’ 
grant rounds and 4 were from the 2015-16 funding round.
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Assistance for heritage property owners continued

2015-16 Funding Round

The 2015-16 funding round opened on 9 June 2015 and saw 49 
eligible applications, seeking a total of $2.48 million to complete 
$6.44 million in conservation projects. Of these, 27 applications 
were successful, with $1.27 million awarded.

The successful applicants from the general funding round were 
announced in November at the Great Southern Roller Flour Mills 
(Dingo Flour), North Fremantle.

Details of the Heritage Grant Program allocations and variations 
are found in the Appendices on pages 212 and 214. Further 
information on the grant projects can be found on the State 
Heritage website.

Policies and reviews

Prior to opening each year, the Heritage Grants Program’s 
priorities are decided by the Heritage Council. This year saw the 
first full year of operation under the Heritage Grants Program 
Administration Policy, which defines the program’s objectives and 
provides the basis for the Heritage Council’s decisions and higher 
level procedures. The policy promotes greater clarity, transparency 
and accountability in the provision of funding; standardises the 
assessment criteria and funding arrangements; and ensures best 
practice in grants administration.

In practice, the policy resulted in clearly justified decisions and 
improved documentation of the decision-making process, which 
was audited by the Office of the Auditor General (OAG) and 
standard internal and external compliance and process audits. 
On the recommendation of the OAG, the effectiveness of the 
policy has been enhanced through the adoption of a written officer 
declaration of interest procedure.

Website content review

In 2015-16, the State Heritage Office updated its online grants 
resources to improve services to State Registered property 
owners in WA. The State Heritage Office takes a wide range of 
queries from owners seeking assistance, ranging from subsidised 
or free conservation advice through to financial assistance for 
conservation works or documentation.

Support for heritage property owners can come from a variety of 
sources, but it isn’t always easy to find this information. To assist 
owners, a Heritage Grants Directory was established to provide 
a list of potential funding sources and other assistance offered by 
local, State and Commonwealth government agencies and the 
private sector.
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Assistance for heritage property owners continued

inContact with heritage specialists

inContact is an online searchable database developed to assist 
owners, State Government agencies, local governments and 
other stakeholders to find professionals that specialise in heritage 
services. Launched in 2013, it replaced a hard-copy directory that 
was published once a year. inContact allows businesses to list or 
alter their details at any time throughout the year.

inContact allows people to search by profession, service provided, 
region and business name. It provides a glossary of professions 
and the services they provide, a handy checklist offering tips and 
suggestions on engaging a heritage business, and information on 
adapting heritage places.

In 2015-16, there were more than 1,552 visits to the inContact 
database, spending an average of four minutes on the site. Nearly 
54 percent were new visitors. For a niche directory, the website 
figures show that the directory is of value to owners and other 
stakeholders, and is being used repeatedly by 46 percent of 
visitors.

In 2015, a decision was made to open inContact to builders and 
trades to further assist heritage owners and other stakeholders 
as well as to support traditional craftsmen, builders and trades 
who specialise in working with heritage fabric. A wide range of 
tradespeople, such as electricians and plumbers are employed 
on heritage sites, and understanding conservation principles will 
result in less inadvertent and unnecessary damage to significant 
fabric. The Heritage Council is also concerned that the number 
of craftsmen who have knowledge of traditional techniques to 
repair or restore heritage fabric is in decline and it is hoped that 
inContact will assist in promoting the industry and encouraging 
new participants.

Enquiries from suppliers also saw inContact opened to businesses 
that supply specialist heritage products. The uptake from 
craftsmen and tradespeople has been modest. Next year, the 
State Heritage Office will look at ways to encourage greater 
participation. 
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Assistance for heritage property owners continued

Guildford Hotel, 159-161 James Street, Guildford
The Guildford Hotel was gutted by fire in September 2008 and when the 
flames were finally extinguished, the extent of structural damage and loss 
of significant fabric throughout the building became evident. The iconic 
belvedere structure, roof and internal wooden flooring were all destroyed. 
Complications resulting from insurance and planning concerns delayed 
the hotel’s rebuilding, much to the frustration of the local community. 
Nevertheless, the owners remained committed to the conservation of the 
Guildford Hotel, taking care to continuously monitor structural stability 
at the site and working with the local government and other interested 
parties to find the best possible outcome for the building. 

The project to conserve the building actually began not long after the fire, 
with the owners carefully removing debris following the fire and storing 
any salvageable original fabric of the building for later reuse. Some of 
the salvaged material has now been reinstated to the fully restored and 
refurbished hotel, which opened its doors to the public in May 2016.
The Heritage Council provided a heritage grant of $100,000 in 2014-15 
towards the extensive conservation and restoration works. This allowed a 
replica belvedere to be constructed and reinstated, ensuring the building 
retained its original presentation on the corner of James and Johnson 
Streets, Guildford.

Inset: Before, when the hotel was gutted by fire, and after,  
with the reinstated belvedere

Background: Inside the restored Guildford hotel.  
Image courtesy of Hilary Smale 720 ABC Perth
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Assistance for heritage property owners continued

Other assistance

State Government heritage commitments

The Heritage Council, through the State Heritage Office, 
administers funding committed by the State Government for 
heritage specific projects. These projects are usually allocated their 
own funds and are therefore managed outside the Heritage Grants 
Program. As a general rule, these funding commitments are not 
on-going.

Cossack

Under an agreement entered with the State Government in 1996, 
the City of Karratha (formerly Shire of Roebourne) is offered an 
annual grant of $120,000 for the maintenance of the historic 
Cossack town site. This funding is provided as a controlled grant 
within the State budget and administered by the State Heritage 
Office.

Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund

Following a magnitude 5.0 earthquake in the Kalgoorlie-Boulder 
area on 20 April 2010, the Hon Colin Barnett MLA, Premier 
of Western Australia announced $5 million in funding to assist 
owners of damaged properties with repairs to their heritage-listed 
buildings.

At the request of the Premier and the Minister for Heritage, the 
State Heritage Office developed an operating framework for the 
Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund. The funding was offered 
through a number of different streams addressing urgent works 
and ongoing heritage conservation. Expressions of interest for 
these funding streams closed in 2011.

The Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund has provided vital 
assistance to the owners of these historical buildings, and has 
contributed to revitalising the Burt Street Historic Precinct, one of 
the most intact gold boom era streetscapes in WA.

The last remaining Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund project 
is the restoration of the historic Cornwall Hotel. Delayed due to 
protracted negotiations with the property’s insurer, the Cornwall 
Hotel project didn’t commence on-site until early 2016. Once 
complete, this project will see the closure of the fund.

A total of $257,442 in funds was released during the year, with 
$831,603 remaining to be claimed by the Cornwall Hotel. Further 
details of activity under the fund this year can be found in appendix 
on page 214.
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4.7 Heritage Revolving Fund - Heritage Works 

Heritage Works has completed its second year of operation, following its announcement as a new program by the Hon Colin 
Barnett MLA, Premier of Western Australia in May 2014. 

The program was allocated $4 million over two years in the 2014-
15 State Budget as well as ownership of the historic Warders’ 
Cottages in Fremantle.

Heritage Works is a ‘revolving fund’ established to revitalise vacant 
and under-utilised State or local government owned heritage 
properties through conservation and adaptive reuse, and deliver 
the best possible financial returns through the sale or lease of 
heritage places. Through the revolving fund mechanism, financial 
returns will be available to revitalise other disused heritage assets. 

Services provided by Heritage Works include feasibility analysis; 
conservation planning and works; financial support (where 
required); project management; and support with marketing, sales 
and disposal.

The program is nearing completion of its first two projects: the 
Warders’ Cottages in Fremantle and the former Coogee Hotel and 
Post Office.

The proceeds from the sale of these assets will fund future 
projects. New projects are being investigated in discussion with 
their owners, to be carried out in 2017 and beyond.

The program complements the wider State Government program 
of land asset management and disposal, coordinated by the 
Department of Lands. In effect, Heritage Works operates as a 
niche component of that wider program.

Warders’ Cottages (1851-1858), Fremantle

The program’s first and highest-
priority project has been the 
reactivation of the Fremantle 
Warders’ Cottages, built in the 
1850s to house warders from 
Fremantle Prison, now a World 
Heritage-listed place. 

Vacant since 2011, the Warders’ 
Cottages present a unique challenge 
to prepare them for a new chapter 
of active use. 

Heritage Works has carried out 
extensive conservation works with 
a $2 million budget. The work has 
repaired 2,000 square metres of external limestone walls, taking 
away the harmful paint and cement wash applied during the 
mid-20th century. Additional works included an overhaul of the 
onsite drainage system, replacing the roofs, and restoring the front 
verandahs and awnings. The works repairs have presented the 
cottages in a fresh light not seen for many decades. 

Contract management support was provided by the Building 
Management Authority.

Above: Roof replacement to Warders’ 
Cottages, Fremantle
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Heritage Revolving Fund - Heritage Works  continued

In 2015-16, Heritage Works also completed a comprehensive 
Future Use Analysis which considered the heritage impact, 
financial performance, and local-amenity impacts of several 
primary future-use scenarios. This guides the preparation of the 
cottages for disposal in ways that will deliver the best financial and 
heritage outcomes.

Selected internal conservation, servicing and compliance works 
will be undertaken as a final phase of work in the July-September 
quarter of 2016.

The cottages will then be made available for sale in late 2016.

Former Coogee Hotel and Post Office

The program’s other pilot project has addressed the repair, town 
planning and disposal requirements of the former Coogee Hotel 
and Post Office, on behalf of the owner, Main Roads Western 
Australia.

Originally acquired by Main Roads for road-widening in 1991, the 
property was leased to a private tenant from 1991 to 2015, and is 
now surplus to road network requirements.

The State Heritage Office completed a substantial set of 
conservation works in 2016, including:

 ■ Removal of intrusive extensions from the Hotel and Post 
Office

 ■ Verandah reinstatement and structural improvements
 ■ Refurbishment of existing joinery and floors
 ■ Repainting externally and internally
 ■ Stonemasonry repairs.

The former hotel and post office buildings are situated on 6,445 
square metres of land. The site is strategically located opposite 
the entrance to Coogee Beach, close to the Woodman Point 
recreation area, Port Coogee and the wider Cockburn Coast 
structure plan area. 

Addressing a pre-requisite to development and reuse of the site, 
the State Heritage Office prepared a Coogee Hotel Structure 
Plan and presented it to the City of Cockburn for consideration. 
The Structure Plan introduces a zoning framework for the site 
(Local Centre, Mixed Use, and Residential zonings); allows for 
the possibility of subdivision; and provides a framework of design 
guidelines for any future new construction.

Main Roads will make the property available for sale later in the 
second half of 2016.

Above: Former Coogee Hotel
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Heritage Revolving Fund - Heritage Works  continued

Financial performance of the Revolving Fund

The first period of operations has involved only outgoings; no 
revenue has been generated. 

However, from mid-2016-17, money will be returned to the fund as 
a result of asset sales at the Warders’ Cottages and Coogee Hotel 
and Post Office.

Financial projections are not supplied in this report so as to not 
disclose asset values to prospective purchasers prior to, or during, 
the upcoming expression-of-interest processes.

Nonetheless, on the basis of valuation analysis, both projects are 
expected to produce a positive Return-on-Investment, especially 
the Warders’ Cottages.

The returns will be disclosed in the 2016-17 Annual Report, with 
a description of the 3-year financial performance of the Revolving 
Fund.
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4.8 Fremantle Prison

The history of Fremantle Prison dates back to the early beginnings of the Swan River Colony and its role in the development of 
Western Australia is unparalleled. It is the largest convict built structure in Western Australia and the most intact and authentic 
convict structure in the nation. 

In 2010, Fremantle Prison became the first building in Western 
Australia to be included on the World Heritage list as part of a 
serial nomination with 10 other Australian Convict Sites.

On 1 July 2015, the management of Fremantle Prison and its 
staff was transferred from the Department of Finance’s Building 
Management and Works division to the State Heritage Office. The 
transfer included the heritage buildings and spaces, the Fremantle 
Prison Collection including 15,000 heritage artefacts, business 
assets and leases, employment awards which needed to be 
configured into the Human Resources system, as well as financial 
and records systems. The transition has come with many positive 
changes including increased administrative support, particularly 
in the areas of Human Resources, Information Technology and 
Finance. Throughout the year-long transition, Fremantle Prison 
continued its seamless delivery of guided tours and other heritage 
tourism services.

Visitor Services

Fremantle Prison has had a tremendous year of public and tourism 
sector recognition for its efforts in preserving and promoting WA 
heritage. The Prison was ranked as the seventh best landmark 
attraction in Australia by travel website TripAdvisor in the 2016 
Traveller’s Choice Awards. The list is based on millions of reviews 
submitted by travellers to the website over the past 12 months. 

Minister for Heritage Albert Jacob said: “For Fremantle Prison to 
rank so well is a tribute to the dedication of the prison’s staff and 
the wonderful work they do in offering programs and tours to 
engage visitors and provide them with enriching and entertaining 
experiences.”

Fremantle Prison was also recognised at the 2015 Western 
Australian Tourism Awards, winning both the Major Tourism 
Attraction and Cultural Tourism awards. 

Confirming its status as a significant tourism asset for the State, 
in 2015-16 Fremantle Prison broke all previous records and 
welcomed 200,387 international, interstate and local visitors 
through its gates.

In February, Fremantle Prison hosted the largest function ever 
held on the prison site. The sold-out concert, Far From Folsom 
featured Tex Perkins singing Johnny Cash’s famous performances 
at Folsom and San Quentin prisons in the late 1960s. Fremantle 
Prison welcomed 2,354 concert-goers on to the Main Parade 
Ground to enjoy a great night of entertainment set amongst the 
unique prison backdrop.
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Fremantle Prison continued

In support of the new photographic exhibition, A Quiet Conviction: 
Photographs of Decommissioned Prisons by Brett Leigh Dicks, a 
range of merchandise was developed for sale in the gift shop. This 
included a 76-page companion publication, postcards of selected 
Fremantle Prison images, mounted and framed prints. The gift 
shop has also recorded its most profitable year since opening in 
2006. 

The Prison continues to support a range of community events 
and festivals, adding to the vibrancy of Fremantle as a tourism 
destination. In addition to conducting specialised tours and floor 
talks as part of the Western Australian and Fremantle Heritage 
Festivals, the Prison remains a corporate sponsor of the Fremantle 
Chamber of Commerce Photographic Competition, Fremantle 
Festival, Fremantle Heritage Festival and Fremantle Street Arts 
Festival.

Fremantle Prison is currently in the final stages of implementing 
an e-commerce platform. The project will deliver an online facility 
for visitors to book tours and purchase tickets. The introduction 
of online sales will serve as a tool to maximise revenue, visitation 
levels and market reach and bring Fremantle Prison in line with the 
booking services available at comparable attractions. The project 
also involves an update and redesign of the existing website, 
allowing the site to be displayed on mobile devices as well as 
improving its search engine optimisation.

In February, the State Heritage Office commissioned Lockwood 
Advisory to conduct extensive community consultation on 
Fremantle Prison, asking stakeholders how they would like to see 
the Prison’s use expanded, and what programs and events they 
would like the Prison to offer. The report showed overwhelming 
stakeholder support for Fremantle Prison’s approach to visitor 
engagement, while also suggesting new and innovative ways to 
increase visitor engagement in the future.

Above: Tex Perkins concert at Fremantle Prison
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Fremantle Prison continued

Conservation

This year has seen a strong focus on heritage conservation 
planning for Fremantle Prison’s buildings and structures with the 
development of a 10-year Building Conservation Works Schedule. 
This comprehensive plan identifies conservation needs for 
every structure across the site and prioritises all required works 
according to state of degradation and heritage significance of each 
structure. 

The major conservation project this year was the roof replacement 
and associated conservation works at the East Workshops. The 
Blacksmiths and Carpenters shops were the first buildings built by 
convicts on the prison site, and the area between them and the 
perimeter wall remained an open yard for 110 years. Removing 
the old roof provided the opportunity to view the area as it had 
once been before being converted an automotive workshop in 
the 1960s. Fremantle Prison received a grant of $80,000 from 
the Australian Government’s Protecting National Historic Sites 
Program in 2016 to re-roof the historic Blacksmith’s Workshop to 
complete the East Workshops project.

Fremantle Prison will include the Building Conservation Works 
Schedule as well as Lockwood’s findings in a new Heritage 
Management Plan currently being developed for the site to provide 
strategic direction for the Prison for the next 10 years.

Exhibitions and collections

Fremantle Prison’s exhibition A Quiet Conviction showcases 
11 photographs by photographer Brett Leigh Dicks, taken at 
Fremantle Prison in 2015. These photographs are exhibited 
alongside 49 of Brett’s photographs of American gaols, prisons 
and penitentiaries. The exhibition is open from 14 May to 27 
November 2016.

Four Insider Art exhibitions were held this year in the Prison 
Gallery by the Department of Corrective Services. The exhibitions 
shine the spotlight on the creative achievements of contemporary 
Western Australian prisoners. The Insider Art: Summer 2015 
(5 December 2015 – 6 March 2016) was themed ‘Education’ 
and showcased the artwork and creative writing of some of the 
Western Australian prisoners involved in education programs.

Almost 430 objects were accessioned into the Fremantle Prison 
Collection this year, including 10 donated objects and more than 
400 objects found on-site. Of the 10 donated objects, of particular 
interest was a painting by ex-prisoner ‘Peg Leg Pete’ donated 
by Coralie Smith, as well as a limestone baptismal font made in 
1892 by Fremantle Prison inmates and donated by St Andrew’s 
Presbyterian Church.

This year, 591 collection objects were cleaned and documented in 
the collection management system MOSAiC, and moved into the 
new Visible Storage Facility.
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4.9 Supporting Local Governments 

Local Government Services

The role of the Local Government Services division is to:
 ■ Educate, activate and empower local governments in their 

responsibilities for heritage management and conservation.
 ■ Strengthen the urban planning framework as it applies to 

heritage protection and ensure that the relevant provisions 
are understood and utilised.

 ■ Facilitate and inform productive heritage conversations with 
State agencies, local government and the wider community. 

Local governments are integral to the management of heritage 
for the wider community. They contribute to the community’s 
understanding and conservation of local heritage through the 
identification of heritage places in municipal inventories, adoption 
of policies and strategies under a local planning scheme, and 
celebration of heritage through trails and walks, open days and 
other community activities.

Local government support in heritage matters is critical to 
recognising places that are important to their communities and 
sensitively managing change to those places. 

Local Government Services provides advice and support to local 
governments and their communities on the interpretation of the 
Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990. It also offers education 
and training workshops, online resources, and guidance on 
submissions and heritage planning issues. 

Heritage in urban planning

Under section 79 of the Planning and Development Act 2005, 
amendments to local planning schemes are referred to the 
Heritage Council for advice. The State Heritage Office also 
makes submissions on urban planning proposals that have the 
potential to affect State Registered places. The ongoing review 
of the State’s planning framework has provided a number of 
opportunities for comment.

This year, Local Government Services provided statutory advice 
and submissions on 128 planning referrals.

The graph below displays planning referrals by determination and 
delegation.
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Supporting Local Governments  continued
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Regional visits

Maintaining an understanding and awareness of heritage 
issues throughout Western Australia is important in informing 
Heritage Council advice and strategic direction. Meeting with 
local governments and their communities provides first-hand 
information, and helps to foster positive relationships with each of 
the groups and agencies that participate.

In November 2015 the Heritage Council and State Heritage Office 
participated in the ‘Cue Parliament’, a meeting of the WA Local 
Government Association (WALGA) Murchison Country Zone, 
which comprises the Shires of Cue, Meekatharra, Mount Magnet, 
Murchison, Sandstone and Yalgoo. This provided the Heritage 
Council with an opportunity to engage with representatives from 
a broad area to provide a general update on heritage matters, 
and information on services and support available to local 
governments.

To maximise the journey, the Heritage Council and State Heritage 
Office group travelled via Geraldton and met with agencies, 
organisations and individuals working in heritage. The group also 
visited heritage places around Geraldton and Mullewa, including 
the delightful Church of Our Lady of Mount Carmel and the Holy 
Apostles St Peter and St Paul.
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Supporting Local Governments  continued

Monsignor Hawes – a legacy of faith
As part of its visit to the Midwest, the Heritage Council and State 
Heritage Office group met with the Catholic Diocese of Geraldton 
for an update on conservation works to the State Registered St 
Francis Xavier Cathedral and the construction of an information and 
interpretation centre focusing on the works of architect Monsignor John 
Cyril Hawes. The Monsignor Hawes Heritage Centre will enhance the 
visitor experience of the adjacent cathedral and serve as a gateway to a 
regional heritage tourism program focused on Hawes’ architecture.
Hawes was responsible for dozens of religious buildings, many of 
which are concentrated in the Midwest region. Hawes’ architecture 
is distinguished by a quirky but accessible style, often reflecting 
elements of the Arts and Crafts movement or including features seen in 
Romanesque or Spanish Mission architecture.
Twelve of Monsignor Hawes’ works are entered in the State Register, 
including Melangata, one of the few domestic buildings he designed.

Left: St Francis Xavier Cathedral. Image courtesy of Father Robert Cross, 
Catholic Diocese of Geraldton.
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Supporting Local Governments  continued

Heritage Advisory Service Subsidy

In 2013, the State Heritage Office revised the way in which 
regional advisory services were provided to local governments 
and their communities. Consistent with the approach promoted 
in national guidelines on heritage advisory services, the program 
was changed from a centralised model in which consultants were 
contracted by the State Heritage Office, to one in which local 
governments were able to appoint their own advisor and seek a 
subsidy.

While the Heritage Council encourages the use of heritage 
advisory services to provide assistance and advice to communities 
as well as the local government, some local governments have 
opted for a more limited role for their advisor. Where such a role is 
limited only to providing advice on planning applications or queries 
from within the local government, the advisor is often contracted 
on an ad-hoc basis, rather than to provide a planned program 
of activity. This approach means that expenditure is difficult to 
estimate and final costs are often lower than allowed for, with 
expenditure in 2015-16 totalling $105,795.

To maximise flexibility, the subsidy is reviewed throughout the 
year and varied based on use of the service. The final level of 
expenditure on each subsidy may therefore be higher or lower 
than the initial agreed amount, subject to overall budget and the 
individual limit of $10,000 to each local government. 

The subsidy allows for additional costs incurred in establishing a 
heritage advisory service. Where a service is newly established, 
the local government is able to claim 75 percent of costs, after 
which the State’s support is reduced to 50 percent. For three local 
governments, 2014-15 was the last year in which the 75 percent 
funding could be claimed, hence the change to a 50 percent 
subsidy in 2015-16. 

Based on reported local government expenditure on heritage 
consultancy services, the subsidy generated an estimated total 
spend of approximately $240,000. This represents an average 
leverage of more than 2:1 on State Heritage Office funds.
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Supporting Local Governments  continued

Local Governments receiving a Heritage Advisory Service Subsidy:
2014-15 2015-16

Local Government Estimated 
Total Cost

Subsidy % Agreed 
Subsidy

Final Claim Estimated 
Total Cost

Subsidy % Agreed 
Subsidy

Final Claim

Shire of Northampton $9,000 50 $3,600 $4,153 $12,356 50 $6,180 $4,083
City of Greater Geraldton $38,800 50 $8,000 $10,000 $37,516 50 $10,000 $10,000
City of Albany $26,000 50 $8,000 $9,088 $28,000 50 $10,000 $10,000
City of Bunbury $22,000 50 $8,000 $9,997 $20,000 50 $10,000 $10,000
Shire of Toodyay $20,000 50 $8,000 $10,000 $20,000 50 $10,000 $10,000
Shire of Leonora $10,000 50 $4,000 $4,000 $11,906 50 $4,000 $4,000
City of Kalgoorlie-Boulder $28,320 50 $8,000 $10,000 $34,200 50 $10,000 $10,000
City of Busselton $14,400 50 $5,760 $8,922 $18,000 50 $9,000 $4,047
Shire of Northam $6,480 50 $2,400 $2,400 did not apply
Shire of Sandstone $5,161 75 $3,097 $1,612 did not apply
Shire of Manjimup $11,520 50 $4,608 $3,986 $14,680 50 $6,670 $6,670
Shire of York $15,8401 75 $8,000 $10,000 $12,420 50 $6,210 $4,020
Shire of Cue $9,416 75 $4,000 $1,675 $5,807 75 $4,355 $2,333
Shire of Chapman Valley $8,000 75 $4,800 $909 $5,000 50 $2,500 $02

Shires of Cunderdin, 
Quairading & Tammin n/a n/a n/a n/a $10,800 75 $8,100 $1,879

Shire of Irwin $9,165 50 $3,666 $1,438 $12,356 50 $6,180 $4,427
Shire of Goomalling $4,680 50 $1,872 $720 $10,000 50 $5,000 $5,000
Shire of Murray $14,994 50 $5,998 $3,699 $15,253 50 $7,630 $3,353
Shire of Dardanup $7,200 75 $4,320 $5,310 $4,320 75 $3,240 $1,800
Shire of Yalgoo $7,062 75 $4,237 $1,425 $7,062 75 $5,300 $1,780
Shire of Gnowangerup $4,000 75 $2,400 $2,400 $19,965 75 $10,000 $7,484
Shire of Collie $6,000 75 $3,600 $4,423 $8,640 50 $4,320 $844
Shire of Jerramungup $14,000 75 $9,200 $6,523 $3,750 75 $2,815 $2,815
Shire of Bridgetown-
Greenbushes $9,800 50 $3,920 $02 $7,000 50 $3,500 $1,260

Shire of Katanning $22,080 50 $8,000 $02 did not apply
Shire of Beverley $6,840 75 $2,565 $02 did not apply
Total $301,838 $130,043 $112,681 $319,032 $145,000 $105,795

1 Joint application with Cunderdin, Quairading and Tammin
2 Did not spend allocation
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4.10 Strategic Projects

New Heritage Act

In his opening speech to State Parliament in February 2015, the 
Hon Colin Barnett MLA, Premier of Western Australia, highlighted 
the Government’s intention to introduce a new Heritage Bill. 

The Heritage Council is continuing to work with the Government 
on new heritage legislation.

The new legislation will reflect the Government’s election 
commitment to deliver modern legislation that is open, transparent, 
simple to operate and understand, and that reflects best practice 
in the recognition and protection of heritage places. 

The findings of the two rounds of public consultation undertaken 
in 2011 by the State Heritage Office, on behalf of the Heritage 
Council, and further public consultation on an Exposure Draft 
‘Heritage Bill’ undertaken in 2015, will heavily influence the 
legislation, as will the Heritage Council’s 25-year experience with 
the current Act,.

More information about the progress of new heritage legislation will 
be posted on the State Heritage website as it becomes available.

Fremantle Prison Transfer

On 30 April 2015, Heritage Minister Albert Jacob and Finance 
Minister Bill Marmion announced that Fremantle Prison would be 
transferred from the Department of Finance’s Building Management 
and Works division to the State Heritage Office, on 1July 2015. 

With support from the Departments of Finance and Local 
Government and Communities, the State Heritage Office facilitated 

a smooth transition of the Prison and its staff to the State Heritage 
Office, including asset and lease transfers, employment award 
configuration into the Human Resource system and merging of 
financial and records systems. 

As a division of the State Heritage Office, Fremantle Prison is able 
to leverage the agency’s specialist expertise, best practice and 
industry connections for the conservation and management of the 
globally important heritage asset.

A Thematic History of Government Housing in WA – 
An Ongoing Project

The Government of Western Australia began providing government 
assisted housing in 1912. This resulted in tens of thousands of 
properties being built all across the state, many of which remain 
the property of the Housing Authority. Housing renewal programs 
and government land and asset sales in recent years have resulted 
in an increasing number of referrals coming to the Heritage 
Council from the Housing Authority under the provisions of the 
Government Heritage Property Disposal Process (GHPDP). The 
process ensures that government property under consideration 
for sale or lease is first assessed for its heritage value if it meets 
certain criteria. 

In March 2014, the Housing Authority commissioned a Thematic 
History of Government Housing in WA, with assistance from the 
State Heritage Office. This provided an essential overview of the 
provision of government housing in WA, and guidance on where 
there might be important examples of public housing. 
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Strategic Projects continued

Subsequent analysis of the findings in the Thematic History by the 
State Heritage Office has begun to identify areas that may warrant 
further investigation to see if there are examples of housing that 
meet the threshold for assessment for entry in the State Register 
of Heritage Places. The analysis has resulted in a streamlined 
checklist-based system for use by the Housing Authority designed 
to reduce the amount of time officers in both agencies spend 
dealing with referrals. 

Prior to this, Housing Authority and State Heritage Office staff were 
spending, on average, 7.5hrs on each referral, at a cost of about 
$350, depending on the salary level of staff involved. The new 
checklist process has resulted in the time taken to review each 
place being reduced to only 15 minutes – a significant saving in 
both time and costs for both agencies.

The State Heritage Office has further analysis to do on the 
Thematic History of Government Housing in WA, but discussions 
are already underway with other government agencies about 
applying the method to other asset types with the intention of 
extending the streamlined process further.
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- Old Vs New Process
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Strategic Projects continued

Providing heritage data for property industry

inHerit is an online database, launched in July 2012, that brings 
together information on more than 25,000 State and local heritage 
places in WA with many entries featuring descriptive information, 
images, spatial mapping and street view functions.

It is the first time that local government inventories have been 
available centrally online, with local governments having the ability 
to create, edit and publish their records about heritage places. This 
is offered as a free service to local governments, and is designed 
to promote a consistent approach to heritage place information 
across all jurisdictions.

inHerit was built by the State Heritage Office with assistance from 
the City of Fremantle and Lotterywest. It was developed following 
stakeholder consultation that highlighted the need for an online 
presence for local government inventories because most were 
kept in book form and were under-utilised and highly inaccessible.

inHerit has proved to be an extremely useful and popular resource, 
evidenced by the following website statistics:

 ■ 99,931 visits or sessions (a 25 percent increase on last year)
 ■ 304,949 overall page views
 ■ 217,662 unique page views

inHerit is the most popular page on the State Heritage website and 
far exceeds the 57,553 visitors to the general website.

inHerit contains accurate mapping of all places protected under 
the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990, including State 
Registered places; those with Conservation Orders or Heritage 

Agreements; and those on the Heritage Council’s assessment 
program for possible inclusion in the State Register. This mapping 
has been linked to Landgate’s Property Interest Report service, 
which provides a one-stop-shop for land information for the 
general public.

A key area of ongoing activity is to ensure that mapping of local 
government municipal inventory places is complete and accurate. 
To accelerate this complex task and bring forward the completion 
of the heritage mapping layer, the State Heritage Office was 
provided with assistance from Landgate. This year, the focus was 
on finalising the mapping of metropolitan areas where there is the 
highest demand for data in Landgate’s Property Interest Report 
service, and then progressing onto regional areas. This presented 
a range of challenges that slowed down the mapping process 
including older aerial photography for many parts of the state, 
limited and outdated location information, and no option for site 
visits to confirm locations or features.

Mapping results this year:
 ■ 72 percent of all municipal inventory places mapped 
 ■ All municipal inventory places in the metropolitan area 

mapped

The progressively growing layer of local heritage places was 
made publicly available in November through Landgate’s Shared 
Land Information Platform (SLIP) where it can be downloaded or 
integrated with online mapping systems such as Locate WA. In line 
with the government’s open data policy, the Departments spatial 
data is now also available at data.wa.gov.au/
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Strategic Projects continued

Using Web Mapping Technology

In 2015, a new State Heritage Office Mapping Environment 
was launched called SHOme. This online portal provides staff 
with access to dynamic maps, and up to date spatial and land 
information data through a web browser or mobile app. 

Staff in the agency are using SHOme regularly for a range of 
functions including searching for heritage places, viewing them 
in relation to other data (such as land tenure, aerial imagery, 
administrative boundaries or planning zones), and generating 
maps for reports. The application has become the ‘go-to’ place for 
information to help assess the potential impact that developments 
might have on places in the State Register.

The platform has also been used to develop themed maps, 
including a virtual heritage trail of the State Registered Metropolitan 
Sewerage Vents that runs from East Perth to Subiaco, and an 
overview of the latest places added to the State Register. SHOme 
has also proved an invaluable source of information on natural 
hazards, providing readily available data on bushfire hotspots, and 
bushfire and flood prone areas. 

During site visits, staff can also now access and record spatial 
data via a mobile app which is linked to SHOme. For example, 
after the devastating Waroona bushfires in January 2016, 
officers used this GPS-enabled application to identify and map 
salvageable elements at the State Registered Yarloop Timber Mill 
Workshops based on historic aerial imagery, cadastral boundaries 
and heritage data overlays.
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Strategic Projects continued

Municipal Inventory Mapping
One of the challenges of mapping local heritage places is that sometimes 
there is not much fabric left, but the site itself is still important to the 
community. These places are often the site of an important piece of 
infrastructure such as a school, hospital or railway station that is now long 
gone. Often only the street name is given as the address, which makes it 
difficult if the address is simply Great Northern Highway. 
Historic maps held in the State Records Office have been a great help 
in locating these sites, and many of them are available online. The State 
Heritage Office Geographic Information Systems (GIS) project team 
downloads and geo-references these maps. This means that they can 
then be overlaid in GIS with contemporary aerial imagery, cadastral 
boundaries and other topographic data to help identify the location of 
places today.
The team also utilises other sources of information like Google Street View 
and the occasional site visits to conform the location of places.  
A good example of the challenges of mapping these sites was the 
Municipal Inventory listing for Lennonville Townsite. Located about 
11km north of Mount Magnet, Lennonville was proclaimed as a town in 
1898 after rich reefs of gold were discovered in the area. Several mines 
were developed in the following years and people flocked to the town. 

However, in 1909, a huge fire destroyed most of the town’s main street. 
That same year, the State Battery that crushed the gold ore also closed 
and the remaining buildings left in Lennonville were quickly relocated to 
other settlements. All that remains today are ruins, the railway platform 
and some of the mineshafts, all scattered in the scrub by the side of Great 
Northern Highway. 
While finding the location of Lennonville was relatively easy, working out 
what area should be mapped to represent the Municipal Inventory listing 
was more difficult. However, the State Records Office has a map of the 
town dating from 1898 when it was proclaimed. This showed the full 
extent of the town, with the lots laid out. The necessary infrastructure for 
Lennonville to become a thriving community was anticipated, with land set 
aside for a school, a post office, a recreation reserve, a police station, and 
a roads board office – as well as the ubiquitous hotel. Most of these lots 
and reserves still exist today, even those that now lie under Great Northern 
Highway, and these lots were used to geo-reference the historic map to 
the current land title information. From there, it was possible to map the 
historic boundary of the town, and this has now been added to the State 
Heritage Office places database.

Above (l-r): a section of the historic map of Lennonville (State Records Office); the same map geo-referenced and overlaid on modern aerial imagery and lot 
boundaries; and the view of the site from Great Northern Highway (Google Street View, December 2014).



7 4 Heritage  Counci l  |  State  Her i tage  Off ice    7 4    Annual  Report  2015-16

4.11 Education and Training 

Education is a key component of the State Heritage Office’s engagement strategy and relationship with its stakeholders. This 
includes providing general information on the regulatory process, basic concepts of heritage and conservation, and specific advice 
for a particular professional group.

The delivery of a training program or event is consistent with the 
Heritage Council’s aims to inform best practice conservation 
and enhance the understanding and appreciation of heritage 
places. This can include training to help decision-makers apply 
heritage principles and make informed decisions through a clear 
management process.

Heritage Management and Planning Seminar

The annual seminar is central to the education program delivered 
by the State Heritage Office on behalf of the Heritage Council. This 
event enables participants to hear from professionals, owners and 
community representatives, each providing an update on a project, 
site or heritage related process or activity.

The 2016 seminar was held in the Kalgoorlie Town Hall and 
Council Chambers, hosted by the City of Kalgoorlie-Boulder. The 
regional location prompted the choice of ‘Industrial Heritage’ as 
a theme, which provided for a broad range of interesting talks. 
Further examples of heritage in action were provided through a 
tour of Coolgardie, with an additional day trip offering a guided 
study of Leonora and the fascinating Gwalia Townsite Precinct.

The 2016 seminar in Kalgoorlie turned out to be the largest 
regional event to date, with more than 70 participants over the 
two days of sessions and the additional Gwalia trip. Once again, 
owners of registered places were invited to attend as guests of the 
Heritage Council. Twelve owners took up the offer. There were 30 
full registrations, with a further five opting to participate in just the 
Gwalia trip rather than the full seminar. 

Feedback via an online survey returned very positive comments, 
particularly on the Gwalia tour. Our afternoon in Coolgardie was 
also well received, highlighting the benefit of hands-on activities 
and practical experiences within the seminar framework.
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Education and Training  continued

The theme of industrial heritage drew a broad range of 
presentations, which included an unexpectedly high proportion of 
social history content. The presentations ranged from the more 
obvious topics of the Golden Pipeline, mining heritage and local 
timber industry, to areas such as silicosis in miners, the reasons for 
the various ghost towns in the region, and even a contemplation of 
Kalgoorlie’s sex industry.

It was encouraging to see representation across a very broad 
sector – participants included a presenter from the City of Sydney, 
two delegates from the heritage division of the NSW Office 
of Environment and Heritage, as well as representatives from 
Department of Culture and the Arts, Main Roads, Department of 
Planning, Shell and numerous local governments. 

Laying the foundations for interest in heritage
In preparing for the 2016 Heritage Management and 
Planning Seminar, the State Heritage Office contacted 
various interest groups and professional bodies to both 
promote the event and to locate relevant topics and 
speakers. Discussions with Engineering Heritage Australia 
(EHA) identified an opportunity to tie in with their own efforts 
to inform those in the engineering professions about heritage 
and to encourage greater participation in EHA activities.

Building on the ‘Industrial Heritage’ theme, members of 
the Young Engineers group were invited to apply for a 
scholarship to attend the Kalgoorlie Seminar. This was tied 
in with an EHA event in October, which presented a range 
of case studies demonstrating how engineers engage with 
heritage and how they can develop a specialised area on 
which to build a career. 

The two successful applicants attended the full three days 
of the seminar. As part of the agreement supporting the 
scholarship they have committed to reporting back to their 
industry groups and it is hoped they will continue their 
engagement with heritage.

Above:  Heritage engineer Ian Maitland at a heritage mining headframe in Leonora
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Education and Training continued

Student Internships

Another way that the State Heritage Office seeks to increase the 
skill-base of the heritage industry is through student internships.

During the year, student interns undertook the following projects: 
 ■ Institutions Attended by Aboriginal People in Western 

Australia: A Thematic Review of Places Represented on the 
Register of Heritage Places and the Assessment Program – 
Gemma Wilson, University of Western Australia

 ■ West End, Fremantle: An Assessment of Archaeological 
Potential and Significance – Daniel Holland, University of 
Notre Dame, Fremantle.

Daniel Holland also completed a six-week work placement as part 
of a Bachelor of Science internship requirement which supports 
the University of Notre Dame’s ethos of ‘learning by doing’.

Landgate International Fellowships

This year the State Heritage Office hosted two groups of 
international visitors as part of a land administration and 
management fellowship program. This year’s participants came 
from Ghana and Sri Lanka.

Landgate has been delivering these capacity building programs 
for the past eight years under sponsorship from Australian Aid, a 
Division of the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT).

The State Heritage Office again provided the visiting ‘Fellows’ with 
insights into the management of heritage in Western Australia, in 
particular the administration of the associated land information, 
and showcased a variety of heritage places, some of which were 
on the participants’ itinerary during their fellowship.  

Following the presentation, the visitors shared their experiences of 
heritage management in their home countries.

4.12 Engagement
Representation on Committees 

In its role as the State Government’s advisory authority on heritage 
and under its responsibilities under the Heritage of Western Australia 
Act 1990, the Heritage Council and, through delegation, the State 
Heritage Office, provide advice to various government agencies and 
are involved in a number of committees relating to heritage.

Typically, these relate to planning reforms and outcomes, 
conservation and adaptation of heritage places, and assistance to 
owners of heritage places. 

These also include committees designed to support heritage tourism.

The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office are represented 
on the following committees: 

 ■ Land Asset Management Advisory Group (LAMAG)
 ■ Central Perth Planning Committee: a sub-committee of the 

Western Australian Planning Commission to oversee and 
provide direction for planning in the Perth central area

 ■ Sunset Transformation Committee: oversees the 
transformation of the largely disused heritage-listed site into 
a community centre

 ■ Western Australian Museum Maritime Archaeology Advisory 
Committee: advisory committee to WA Museum CEO on 
proposals relating to shipwrecks and other underwater 
cultural heritage

Education and Training
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Engagement continued

 ■ Forum Advocating Cultural and Eco-Tourism executive 
committee

 ■ WALIS (WA Land Information System) Council: coordinates 
across-government access and delivery of the location 
information held by WA Government agencies

 ■ CFO Review Group: provides advice on behalf of small 
agencies to this financial advisory group

 ■ Fremantle Tourism Association
 ■ Association of Perth Attractions
 ■ Fremantle Chamber of Commerce Tourism Committee. 

In addition, the Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office 
are represented on the Heritage Chairs and Officials of Australia 
New Zealand, which works on co-operative projects and shares 
expertise and experience to enhance and improve heritage 
management practice across all jurisdictions.

Stakeholder Survey

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office were keen 
to investigate stakeholder perceptions of the organisations, 
how effective they are in their roles and in meeting community 
needs and expectations, and how well they communicate with 
stakeholders.

In order to gauge and benchmark stakeholder perceptions, a 
series of surveys was commissioned. Drawing on a wide range 
of stakeholders across the public and private sectors, and in the 
wider community, data has been collected through one-on-one 
interviews, workshops and online surveys.

An initial report will be delivered in late 2016, enabling the 
State Heritage Office to refine its engagement practices and 
communications avenues to better meet stakeholder needs and 
expectations.

Presentations

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office are committed 
to engaging with its diverse stakeholders through the delivery 
of presentations, lectures, participation in conferences and 
workshops across a broad range of topics.

These outreach initiatives are targeted across all levels 
of government and industry, at varying levels and include 
engagement with:

 ■ WA Local Government Association
 ■ Engineers Australia
 ■ Australian Institute of Architects
 ■ Australian Archaeological Association
 ■ Forum Advocating Culture and Eco Tourism
 ■ Department of Planning
 ■ Curtin University
 ■ Mt Lawley Society
 ■ Regional local government authorities (Bunbury, Geraldton, 

Coolgardie)
 ■ Metropolitan local government authorities (Swan, 

Cambridge, Subiaco)
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4.13 Promotion

Under the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990, the Heritage Council is responsible for promoting public awareness of Western 
Australian cultural heritage.

The State Heritage Office undertakes these functions on behalf of the Heritage Council through a range of public and media events, 
marketing and publications, and other promotional activities.

Western Australian Heritage Awards

The Heritage Council’s Western Australian Heritage Awards is the 
premier event in Western Australia’s heritage calendar.

The awards were established in 1992 by the Heritage Council 
to acknowledge the outstanding contribution of individuals and 
organisations to heritage in Western Australia.

They showcase excellence in revitalising heritage places, setting 
standards for future interpretation, conservation and adaptive 
reuse of places on the State Register of Heritage Places. The 
awards also recognise individuals and organisations that have 
been instrumental in elevating the value of heritage, securing its 
place in the future development of Western Australia.

The awards are used to promote heritage success stories through 
the media and corporate publications, and to engage with heritage 
owners and other stakeholders such as heritage professionals, 
local governments, heritage tourism operators, and community 
groups.

The awards also showcase WA heritage projects in the Asia-
Pacific region through cooperation between the Heritage Council 
and the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural 
Organisation (UNESCO).

Above: Mrs Judy Gauntlett presenting the Gerry Gauntlett Award for Conservation 
and Adaptive Reuse to Kyle Jeavons representing The State Buildings
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Promotion continued

UNESCO Asia-Pacific Awards for Cultural Heritage 
Conservation

In 2012, the Heritage Council negotiated with UNESCO for WA 
Heritage Award conservation winning projects to be shortlisted 
for nomination for the UNESCO Asia-Pacific Awards for Cultural 
Heritage Conservation with Heritage Council endorsement.

In September, the 2015 Gerry Gauntlett Award winner, Wanslea 
in Cottesloe, received a UNESCO Honourable Mention. It was the 
only Australian project to receive a conservation award at the 2015 
UNESCO Awards. The cooperation between the Heritage Council 
and UNESCO has now seen five WA heritage projects receive 
UNESCO honourable mentions in the past four consecutive 
years, clearly showing the world-class standard of conservation 
work being undertaken in Western Australia. The arrangement is 
just one of the ways that the Heritage Council, through the State 
Heritage Office, seeks to promote Western Australian heritage on a 
state, national and international stage.

2015 UNESCO Asia-Pacific Awards for Cultural Heritage 
Conservation

Wanslea, Cancer Wellness Centre, Cottesloe

2014 UNESCO Asia-Pacific Awards for Cultural Heritage 
Conservation

Rottnest Island World War ll Coastal Defences

Cape Inscription Lighthouse Keepers’ Quarters, Shark Bay

2013 UNESCO Asia-Pacific Awards for Cultural Heritage 
Conservation

Sailmakers’ Shed, Broome

2012 UNESCO Asia-Pacific Awards for Cultural Heritage 
Conservation

William Street Revitalisation Project, Northbridge
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Promotion continued

2016 Western Australian Heritage Awards

The 2016 Western Australian Heritage Awards was held on 
31 March 2016 at the former Hale House, now successfully adapted 
into the award-winning Office of the Premier and Cabinet Room. 
The event was attended by 120 guests including award finalists.

Of the 34 finalists, 15 individuals and heritage projects were 
recognised for heritage excellence, including the awarding of the 
Gerry Gauntlett Award and the Judges’ Award: The Professor 
David Dolan Award.

FJM Property was a big winner on the evening, receiving 
a commendation in the Contribution by a Public or Private 
Organisation category, and winning the esteemed Gerry Gauntlett 
Award for Conservation or Adaptive Reuse for the conservation 
and restoration of the State Buildings. Fremantle Prison YHA was 
awarded best Heritage Tourism Product, while Donnelly River 
Village, a heritage mill town in the South West, was recognised for 
providing visitors with a simple bush holiday experience.

Martin Colgan, founder of Colgan Industries, took home the 
Professor David Dolan Judges’ Award. The prestigious Judges’ 
Award is not open for nominations but rather one outstanding 
nomination may be chosen from the finalists across all categories. 
The judges chose Martin Colgan to receive the award for his 
outstanding contribution to heritage over the past 40 years. From 
humble stone masonry beginnings, Martin built a highly respected 
and multi-disciplinary family building company dedicated to 
conserving, restoring and adapting heritage buildings.

Following FJM Property’s win at the 2016 WA Heritage Awards, 
the State Buildings (Old Treasury Buildings/Central Government 
Offices) was shortlisted for a UNESCO Award.

The Heritage Awards received extensive media coverage in 
regional and community newspapers as well as on Channel 
Seven’s Today Tonight, The West Australian, Sunday Times, ABC 
Radio and 6PR. In total, there were 81 media appearances and 
interviews on the award finalists and winners, equating to an 
advertising space rate of $330,307 and reaching a cumulative 
audience of 2.21 million people. This was an increase on last 
year’s coverage which achieved an advertising space rate of 
$212,444.

Promotion of the WA Heritage Awards is a key driver in 
encouraging visitors to the State Heritage website, with statistics 
showing the highest number of new visitors to the website occurs 
after the announcement of the award winners.

Right: Representatives of the Sisters of St John of God Heritage Centre, Broome
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The 2016 Western Australian Heritage Awards winners and commendations were:

Voluntary Individual Contribution

Winner: Ken McKay, Bull Creek

Commendation: The late Noreen Hackett, Augusta

Professional Contribution

Winner: Alan Kelsall, Heritage Coordinator at the City of Fremantle

Contribution by a Community-based Organisation

Winner: Ravensthorpe Historical Society (Kukenarup Memorial and 
Information Site)

Commendation: Sisters of St John of God Heritage Centre, 
Broome

Contribution by a Public or Private Organisation

Winner: Donnelly River Village (Wheatley)

Commendation: FJM Property (The State Buildings)

Commendation: The National Hotel, Fremantle

Heritage Practices by a Local Government

Winner: Shire of Murray

Interpretation Project

Commendation: Sailmakers’ Shed (fmr), Broome

Heritage Tourism Project

Winner: Fremantle Prison YHA

Conservation or Adaptive Reuse of a State Registered Place

Winner: Brookman and Moir Streets Precinct, Perth

Winner: The State Buildings (Old Treasury Buildings/Central 
Government Offices)

Commendation: Denmark District Hospital (fmr)

The Gerry Gauntlett Award for Conservation and Adaptive 
Reuse

Winner: The State Buildings (Old Treasury Building/Central 
Government Offices)

The Judges’ Award: The Professor David Dolan Award

Winner: Martin Colgan, Colgan Industries

More information on the finalists and winners, including judges’ 
citations and photographs feature on the State Heritage website.
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Promotion continued

Celebrating life in the slow lane at Donnelly River Village
Donnelly River Village (Wheatley) holiday cottages is an exemplar of a 
can-do community spirit and good heritage management that is allowing 
visitors to return to a simpler way of life. 
The village is in the State Register of Heritage Places and consists of 35 
timber workers’ cottages at the Wheatley townsite that was established 
in 1949 to house timber workers employed at the nearby Bunning Bros’ 
Donnelly Mill.
Six years ago, Fremantle resident Sue Hall had a novel idea and managed 
to inspire others to get on board. 
“The idea that 35 people should purchase a block of land of 35 acres,  
with 35 really run-down cottages on it seemed bizarre and extreme,”  
Anna Catelli, the village’s Chairperson, said at the WA Heritage Awards.
“But as it turned out, we found 35 people who were mad enough, and 
enthusiastic enough, to join Sue and myself, and the dream is still alive.
“The old houses each have a character, they’re all loved by their owners, 
they’ve been re-roofed, they haven’t fallen down—and if we continue to 
look after them, they’ll be there forever.”

The village has become a perfect bush getaway for families and tourists. 
The renovated cottages are set in the South West forests where it’s not 
uncommon to find tame emus, kangaroos and possums wandering 
around the place.
There’s a swimming lake, bike and bushwalking trails, and tennis and 
basketball facilities. Perhaps best of all, there’s limited phone and internet 
access and only one television in the old butcher’s store. 
Despite the idyllic setting, the cottage owners have been busy. As well 
as re-roofing the cottages, they’ve insulated roof spaces, installed more 
efficient wood burning stoves, restumped 40 percent of the cottages, 
replaced beds and furniture, and planted trees and gardens in the 
streetscape.
At the WA Heritage Awards, the judges praised the village owners’ hands-
on approach and their efforts in making it a successful tourist and holiday 
destination. 
“An innovative ownership model, with owners directly involved and guided 
by a conservation plan, it is an exemplar of good heritage management of 
a fragile site,” they said.
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Restored workers’ cottages a labour of love
If you ever wanted an example of a successful community approach to 
conservation, it would be hard to find a better one than the Brookman and Moir 
Streets precinct in the City of Vincent.
Over a decade, home owners, council staff, builders, heritage consultants 
and architects have rolled up their sleeves to work individually and together to 
preserve the precinct’s workers’ cottages.
It was a project that spread by example. Some of the homes had been in a poor 
or dilapidated state, including one which was unfit for human habitation. Once 
that was restored, the owner of a neighbouring property that was going to be 
demolished was then inspired to restore his cottage.
In 2006, the 58 properties contained within the precinct were included in the 
State Register of Heritage Places. Since then, owners of 25 of the properties 
in the precinct have taken the opportunity to restore and adapt their homes for 
contemporary living, undertaking works such as restumping, re-roofing, and 
repairing large, structural cracks.
Sixteen of the properties were restored with the help of heritage grants from the 
Heritage Council of WA.
At the awards night, the City of Vincent’s Josh O’Keefe, paid tribute to the 
residents and owners.
“They’re really committed to making this an outstanding precinct,” he said.
“As an inner city local government, we’re faced with many pressures every day, 
including appropriate development, change and lots of new people.
“This heritage precinct gives our city a unique flavour and we’ll do our very best to 
continue to preserve the heritage values of the area and stories of the cottages.”
At the awards, the judges praised the project saying the award is dedicated to 
past and present owners, their heritage consultants and the City of Vincent.
“It’s an inspirational story of how individuals can work together, by sharing 
knowledge and encouraging others, to restore and adapt their 1890s workers’ 
cottages, thus returning this significant streetscape to its original state,” they said.

Background: Workers’ cottage 
in its restored state
Inset: Before the restoration
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‘Open door’ approach the key to State Buildings restoration
The State Buildings conservation and adaptive reuse project won two 
major awards and a commendation at the 2016 WA Heritage Awards.
The redevelopment by FJM Property has reinvigorated the former CBD 
government buildings on the corner of Barrack Street and St Georges 
Terrace and transformed them into a mix of luxury hotel, day spa, 
restaurants, bars and shops.
Just as importantly, it means the magnificent buildings which have been 
vacant for nearly two decades can now be enjoyed by the community.
In fact, that was a clear objective from the very start of the project.
At the awards night, FJM Property’s Development Director Kyle Jeavons, 
acknowledged the commitment and passion of FJM Property Director 
Adrian Fini, saying his vision had driven the project.
“Adrian had always maintained, from day one, that every door that existed 
within the buildings would be open to the public,” Mr Jeavons explained.
In the end, the redevelopment involved lots of doors, a big project team 
working over eight years, and lots of passion.
The buildings, which covered some 15,000 square metres, were in a 
serious state of decay and neglect, with damaged and leaking roofs, 
rotting timbers, extensive vermin damage and rising damp.
The project team literally searched the world to find tradespeople such as 
slaters from Ireland to repair the roofs.
Other key works included reinstating decorative metal lacework; 
reconstructing dormer windows; and restoring balconies damaged by 
concrete cancer.
Inside, the basements were treated to address rising damp; structural 
changes were made to protect against possible earthquake damage;  
and damaged plasterwork, archways and stairs were repaired.
Restoration techniques included the use of traditional lime mortar for 
brickwork; re-milling reclaimed jarrah timber for floor boards; and using 
breathable paint finishes to prevent brick damage and rising damp.

“When we started the project, the buildings had been empty for 19 years 
and the objective was to take them back to what they were in the 1800s,” 
Mr Jeavons said.
“We had more than 3,000 people work on this job over that period and 
everyone who worked on this project lived and breathed it as much as we 
did.”
The awards judges paid tribute to the State Buildings project as an 
outstanding example of adaptive reuse and conservation project on a 
grand scale.

Above: Image courtesy of COMO The Treasury
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Promotional activities

Twitter

In June 2014, the State Heritage Office launched its Twitter 
account, its first foray into social media. 

Over the past year, Twitter has played a pivotal role in the State 
Heritage Office’s media and marketing communications. Twitter 
has allowed the State Heritage Office to interact and connect with 
the online community including the public, the media, heritage 
organisations and professionals, and State departments and local 
government authorities. 

Twitter statistics to 30 June 2016:
 ■ 577 followers
 ■ 172,900 impressions or views
 ■ 666 clicks through to links
 ■ 381 retweets

On average, the Department tweets once or twice each day on a 
variety of topics including new State registrations; Heritage Council 
programs such as the Heritage Grants Program and WA Heritage 
Awards; and other heritage projects, events and news. 

The State Heritage Office enjoyed a steady growth in followers 
who have engaged by re-tweeting to their followers, visiting the 
State Heritage website and links, and tweeting directly to the 
Department.

Followers and re-tweeters include: WA Museum, UNESCO Asia-
Pacific, ANZAC Albany, Lotterywest, State Library WA, Tourism 
WA, MRA, Rottnest Island, History Council WA, FACET, 720 
ABC, ABC News Perth, Seven News Perth, Museum Australia, 
Open House Perth, National Trust WA, Tourism Council WA, 
South Western Times, WA Today, Heritage Perth, Two Feet & 
a Heartbeat, City of Vincent, Western Suburbs Weekly, ANZAC 
Cottage, and Ancestry Australia.

Some of these groups have large followings of between 2,000 and 
4,000 followers. There are also a growing number of individuals 
who are now following the State Heritage Twitter account including 
people from overseas.

The success of the twitter feed has promoted the Heritage Council 
and State Heritage Office’s brand and work. This enables greater 
visibility as a leading heritage ‘voice’ and better connection with 
new audiences.

Heritage Matters eNewsletter and annual magazine

The State Heritage Office distributes a monthly electronic 
eNewsletter, Heritage Matters, which is distributed via email. The 
eNewsletter is published monthly and contains a mix of news 
items including new additions to the State Register of Heritage 
Places, heritage seminars, events and incentives. The eNewsletter 
is also used to further relationships with industry partners, such as 
local governments and membership groups, by promoting their 
news and events.
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Subscriptions to the Heritage Matters eNewsletter increased 
by 5 percent in the past year to 970 subscribers, including 
organisations which distributed the eNewsletter to their members. 
The number of times the eNewsletter was opened and clicked 
through to links also increased:

 ■ 21,572 total opens
 ■ 3,895 total clicks 

The eNewsletter compliments the hard copy annual magazine 
Heritage Matters, now in its third year of production.

This high quality magazine showcases the stories behind the WA 
Heritage Award winners and high commendation recipients, the 
Heritage Grants Program projects, and all places entered in the 
State Register of Heritage Places on an interim or permanent basis 
during the financial year.

The magazine has five objectives to:
 ■ promote successful conservation and adaptation projects
 ■ illustrate the variety of projects receiving funding through the 

Heritage Grants Program
 ■ explain the significance of and why places are included in 

the State Register
 ■ to celebrate the work of the WA Heritage Award winners
 ■ inform stakeholders of the work undertaken by the State 

Heritage Office and the Heritage Council.

This high quality magazine acts as a keepsake for owners of newly 
registered places and Heritage Award winners, and is the type 

of product that has a long ‘shelf life’ and which stakeholders are 
happy to promote to a wider audience.

The magazine is published in the last quarter of the year and 
is sent to owners of State Registered places, local and State 
Governments, WA Heritage Award recipients, and is distributed at 
corporate events.

A total of 2,500 copies were produced and an online version is 
available on the State Heritage website.

State Heritage website

The State Heritage website is a prime vehicle for delivering 
information and promoting the work of the Heritage Council and 
State Heritage Office. This year, the main website attracted more 
than 61,345 visits, now known as sessions, with a further 106,940 
visits to the inHerit and 1,710 to the inContact databases, totalling 
169,995 visits or sessions.

Work has commenced on new modules of the State Heritage 
website, which are being developed from the ground up with new 
responsive-design templates, making them mobile/tablet friendly, 
and using some of the latest developments and advancements in 
website designs. The first of these modules is expected to go live 
by December 2016.

The Fremantle Prison website redesign is well underway and will 
also go live by December 2016. This new site is being developed 
with mobile-friendly design techniques, and will include facilities for 
the online purchasing of tickets to tours at Fremantle Prison.
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Media engagement

The State Heritage Office continued to develop strong relationships 
with the media and delivered a proactive media program that 
resulted in extensive exposure throughout the year.

Highlights include:
 ■ national television, radio and newspaper coverage of the 

heritage listing of the Albany Snake Run Skateboard Park, 
including on Channel Seven’s Today Tonight program and 
ABC News 24.

 ■ prime coverage of the winner of the Conservation or 
Adaptive Reuse Award at the WA Heritage Awards on the 
cover of the Sunday Time’s HOME Magazine

 ■ three stories on the Heritage Award winners and finalists on 
Channel Seven’s Today Tonight program

 ■ coverage of the opening of the Heritage Grants Program at 
North Fremantle’s Dingo Flour sign

 ■ a regular segment on 6PR’s ‘Remember When’.

Heritage tourism

The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office continued 
to promote heritage tourism as outlined in the Heritage Tourism 
Strategy.

The Department aimed to raise the profile of heritage tourism as a 
viable niche market and, through visitations, promote the ongoing 
conservation of WA’s built heritage.

During the year, partnerships were maintained with the Tourism 
Council WA, the Forum Advocating Cultural and Ecotourism 
(FACET), Heritage Perth, Museums Australia (WA) and Open 
House Perth towards achieving these goals.

The State Heritage Office also supported and promoted the 
Australian Government initiated Australian Heritage Week and the 
National Trust’s Western Australian Heritage Festival.

Highlights include:
 ■ Heritage Council’s Plaques Program
 ■ sponsorship of the Tourism Council Western Australian 

Tourism Awards
 ■ ongoing inclusion of heritage tourism category in the 

Western Australian Heritage Awards
 ■ sponsorship of Perth Heritage Days
 ■ sponsorship of Open House Perth
 ■ sponsorship of the 2015 Australian Archeological 

Association Conference
 ■ sponsorship and Executive Committee member of FACET
 ■ co-host with FACET a ‘Heritage Means Business’ workshop 

at Fremantle Prison
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Heritage Council Plaques Program

In 2014, the Heritage Council reintroduced its Heritage Plaques 
Program to recognise and celebrate places that are entered in the 
State Register of Heritage Places.

The plaques play a pivotal role in telling the stories surrounding 
State Registered places, promoting heritage tourism and 
encouraging community engagement with our heritage places.

In 2016, 21 places were chosen to receive a plaque including the 
Boulder Town Hall and Offices, Original Railway Station, Geraldton, 
West Australian Rowing Club, Royal WA Institute for the Blind, 
Mackays Aerated Waters Factory, Midland Railway Workshops 
and five WA Heritage Award winning projects. The places receiving 
plaques were chosen by the Heritage Council based on their 
significance, high visibility and prominent location.

The stainless steel plaques are individually tailored to the place and 
include the following information:

 ■ the State Registered place name
 ■ a summary of its Statement of Significance
 ■ State Registered place number

To supplement the physical plaques, a virtual plaque for use on 
websites has also been developed and is available for owners 
of State Registered places. The virtual plaques are based on 
the WA Heritage Awards’ virtual logos provided to finalists, high 
commendation recipients and winners. These have proven 
very popular with recipients using them on their websites and 
embedded in their emails, thus assisting in promoting the WA 
Heritage Awards.
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Oldest Australian skate park heritage listed
Albany Snake Run Skateboard Park, Australia’s oldest purpose-built 
skate park, and the second oldest in the world, received extensive media 
coverage when it was State heritage listed in February.
Heritage Minister Albert Jacob made the announcement on the eve of the 
skate park’s 40th anniversary celebrations in Albany.
“This 140 metre-long concrete track is not only highly valued by the people 
of Albany, but by skaters internationally as a prototype that influenced early 
skate park designs in the USA,” Mr Jacob said.
The Minister said the genesis for the skate park came from Albany high 
school students who raised $3,000 in three months to build the skate park 
in 1976.
“So impressed with the enthusiasm of the students, the then Albany 
council donated $10,000 and the land. As such, it is thought to be the 
world’s first community-built skate park,” he said.
“From these humble beginnings, the ‘snake run’ rose to international 
prominence when the then world skateboard champion Russ Howell 

described it as “the best track I’ve ever seen”. The skate park went on to 
host Australia’s first National Skateboard Championship in 1979.”
Mr Jacob said of the nearly 500 skate parks built around the world during 
the 1970s, only 30 still existed today. The oldest skate park is in New 
Zealand.
“For skaters around the world, the Albany skate park tells an important 
story about the history of their sport, which grew to become a global 
phenomenon and is still as popular as ever today,” he said.
“In recognition of its significance, the WA Government is the first in 
Australia to heritage list a skate park, making Albany only the third skate 
park to be heritage listed in the world.”
The inclusion of the skate park in the State Register received state-wide 
and national television, radio and newspaper coverage including on 
Channel 7’s Today Tonight and ABC 24; Channel 7, 10, ABC and GWN 
News; the West Australian; Triple J and ABC Radio. In all, coverage of the 
skate park resulted in 53 media appearances with a cumulative audience 
of 1,452,175 and advertising value of $159,878.

Above (l-r): Construction of the Albany skate park back in 1976. 40th anniversary celebrations held in February 2016



9 0 Heritage  Counci l  |  State  Her i tage  Off ice    9 0    Annual  Report  2015-16

4.14 Ministerial Support

The management of heritage properties continues to be an 
important issue within the community. The State Heritage Office 
and the Heritage Council play an important role in providing advice 
and information to the State Government and the Minister for 
Heritage.

During the year, the State Heritage Office received and 
completed132 requests from the Minister for Heritage for briefing 
notes, advice on parliamentary questions, and draft replies to 
correspondence.
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5.0 Significant Issues Impacting the Agency

The cultural heritage embodied in the 24,000 historic places identified across Western Australia in heritage registers, lists and 
inventories is a valuable asset that makes a significant contribution to the economy, the environment, our community’s sense of 
place and quality of life.

Post mining-boom environment

As the Western Australian economic cycle transitions to a post-
mining boom phase, new environmental factors are emerging 
such as declining population growth and an increasingly difficult 
commercial property market. With competing demands for 
services on constrained public resources, there is an opportunity 
for the private sector to take advantage of financial, technical and 
statutory incentives and foster the maintenance of heritage assets 
as a vibrant part of the economy and community.

Sustainability

Maintaining and adaptively re-using our heritage places also 
make a significant contribution to sustainability. Using what 
we already have benefits the environment by leveraging the 
embodied energy of extant buildings, and reducing waste and 
the energy inputs required for new materials and transport. This 
also serves to maintain the demand for the specialist services – 
professional, trades and materials – required to manage and care 
for these places. Complementary sectors of the economy such 
as hospitality, tourism and other arts and cultural activities that 
employ and engage thousands of Western Australians also benefit 
from strategies to make the most of our heritage estate. This is a 
key area for potential growth over the coming period.

Risk of loss from natural disaster

While maintaining and sensitively adapting our heritage places 
promotes sustainability, the environment and other factors pose 
numerous risks through natural disasters, the effects of climate 
change, poor maintenance and neglect. These risks need to be 
identified and understood so that strategies can be developed to 
respond and mitigate the risk of loss of important heritage assets.

Excellence in heritage management and practices

Our familiar landmarks, public buildings, gathering places, main 
streets and neighbourhoods lay the foundation of our community’s 
sense of place and well-being. A contemporary statutory and 
planning framework that encourages excellence in heritage 
management and practice is required to meet the community’s 
expectations that all levels of government make a significant 
contribution to maintaining our heritage places – both those in 
public and private ownership.

Technological innovation will also play an increasing role in 
recording and interpreting heritage properties, and this will 
need to be leveraged to grow and strengthen the community’s 
understanding and engagement with its rich cultural heritage.

The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office are committed 
to actively addressing all of the above factors in carrying out its 
business over the next few years.
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6.0 Agency Performance - Outcomes, Services, Key Performance Indicators

6.1 Outcomes, Services and Key Performance Indicators
Relationship to Government Goals

The Heritage Council provides strategic cultural heritage services for the conservation of cultural heritage places in Western Australia for 
the benefit of present and future generations.

Heritage Council

Government Goal
Social and Environmental Responsibility:
Ensuring that economic activity is managed 
in a socially and environmentally responsible 
manner for the long term benefit of the 
State.

Desired Outcome 
Conservation of cultural heritage places in 
Western Australia for the benefit of present 
and future generations.

Service
Cultural heritage conservation services.

Both the Heritage Council and State Heritage Office work to deliver the Government Goal of:

Social and Environmental Responsibility: Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially and environmentally responsible manner 
for the long term benefit of the State.

To achieve this goal, the State Heritage Office provides cultural heritage conservation services on behalf of and under the direction of the 
Heritage Council such as:

 ■ establish and maintain a comprehensive heritage register
 ■ provide conservation advice on development referrals and other relevant matters
 ■ develop the role of public authorities in conserving and managing heritage places
 ■ provide financial assistance and other conservation incentives
 ■ provide publications, seminars and other promotional activities.
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Outcomes, Services and Key Performance Indicators continued

From 2016, in recognition of the significance of the addition of the Fremantle Prison operation to the State Heritage Office, a new service 
of delivering community engagement in cultural heritage to support a new outcome of cultural heritage management for community 
education and appreciation was added to the Department’s outcomes based management framework.

State Heritage Office

Government Goal
Social and Environmental Responsibility:
Ensuring that economic activity is managed 
in a socially and environmentally responsible 
manner for the long term benefit of the 
State.

Desired Outcome 
Quality advice and support to the Heritage 
Council of Western Australia and the Minister 
for Heritage to promote and deliver the 
conservation of cultural heritage places in 
Western Australia, for the benefit of present 
and future generations.

Service
Cultural heritage conservation services on 
behalf of and under the direction of the 
Heritage Council of Western Australia.

Desired Outcome* 
Cultural heritage management for 
community education and appreciation.

Service* 
Community engagement in cultural heritage

* New outcome and service to reflect significant new activity (management of Fremantle Prison).
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Outcomes, Services and Key Performance Indicators continued

Service Summary

Expense 2011-12 
Actual 
($000s)

2012-13 
Actual 
($000s)

2013-14 
Actual 
($000s)

2014-15 
Actual 
($000s)

2015-16 
Target 
($000s)

2015-16 
Actual 
($000s)

Variance Target 
to Actual 2015-16 

($000s)

Variance Actual 
2014-15 to  

2015-16 ($000s)

Note

Cultural Heritage Conservation 
Services – Heritage Council 7,107 7,008 7,408 5,555 1,461 1,377 84 4,178 1

Cultural Heritage Conservation 
Service 1 – State Heritage Office - - - 6,454

13,569
8,032

(874) (7,989)
2

Cultural Heritage Conservation 
Service 2 – State Heritage Office - - - - 6,411 2

TOTAL  
(for comparative purposes) 7,107 7,008 7,408 12,009 15,030 15,820 (790) (3,811) 3, 4, 

5

1.  Actual Heritage Council expenditure reduced significantly in 2015-16 as a result of the transfer of operations and associated budgets to 
the new Department of the State Heritage Office.

2.  On 1 July 2015, after the release of the 2015-16 Budget Papers, the Fremantle Prison transferred from the Department of Finance to 
the State Heritage Office. A second service was developed during 2015-16 to reflect this substantial new activity.

3.  The variance of 2015-16 target to actual reflects the Revaluation decrement of Fremantle Prison.

4.  The variance of 2015-16 actual to 2014-15 actual is largely a result of the transfer of Fremantle Prison operations and associated 
budgets to the State Heritage Office.

5. Total spend across the two agencies has been provided for comparative purposes. 
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Outcomes, Services and Key Performance Indicators continued

Certification of Key Performance Indicators – Heritage Council
We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess 
the Heritage Council of Western Australia’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Heritage Council for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2016.

Anne Arnold 
Chair 
Heritage Council of Western Australia

12 August 2016

Philip Griffiths 
Deputy Chair 
Heritage Council of Western Australia

12 August 2016

Christopher Johnson 
Chief Finance Officer 
Department of the State Heritage Office

12 August 2016

Outcomes, Services and Key Performance 
Indicators
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Outcomes, Services and Key Performance Indicators continued

Key Effectiveness Indicators – Heritage Council 

Desired Outcome: Conservation of cultural heritage places in Western 
Australia for the benefit of present and future generations.

2012-13 
Actual

2013-14
Actual

2014-15
Actual

2015-16 
Target

2015-16
Actual

Variance 
Target to 

Actual 
2015-16

Note

Extent to which heritage places identified as having potential State 
significance have been assessed. 75.4% 75.8% 76.5% 76% 76.3% 0.3%

Extent to which development approvals issued for registered places 
are consistent with the Heritage Council of Western Australia's 
advice to decision-making authorities.

99.7% 100% 100% 100% 99.6% (0.4%) 1

Extent to which grant aid leverages additional investment in 
conservation projects. 2.7:1 5.7:1 2:1 2:1 2:1 0

Note 1: Esperance Tanker Jetty

Key Efficiency Indicator – Heritage Council 

Service: Cultural Heritage Conservation Service. 2012-13 
Actual

2013-14
Actual

2014-15 
Actual

2015-16 
Target

2015-16
Actual

Variance 
Target to 

Actual 
2014-15

Incidence of preliminary reviews proceeding to full assessment but 
resulting in decisions not to recommend interim registration. 6.5% 6.3% 6.4% 6.5% 6.5% 0
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Outcomes, Services and Key Performance Indicators continued

Certification of Key Performance Indicators – State Heritage Office

We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess 
the Department of the State Heritage Office’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the State Heritage Office for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2016.

Graeme Gammie 
Executive Director 
Department of the State Heritage Office

12 August 2016

Christopher Johnson 
Chief Finance Officer 
Department of the State Heritage Office

12 August 2016

Outcomes, Services and Key Performance 
Indicators
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Outcomes, Services and Key Performance Indicators continued

Key Effectiveness Indicators – State Heritage Office

Desired Outcome: Quality advice and support to the Heritage Council of Western Australia 
and the Minister for Heritage to promote and deliver the conservation of cultural heritage 
places in Western Australia, for the benefit of present and future generations.

2014-15 
Actual

2015-16 
Target

2015-16
Actual

Variance 
Target to 

Actual 
2015-16

Note

The Heritage Council of Western Australia’s satisfaction with the services provided by the 
Department of the State Heritage Office. 88.3% 75% 89.7% 14.7% 1

The Minister for Heritage’s satisfaction with the services provided by the Department of 
the State Heritage Office. 92% 75% 88% 13% 1

1.  Due to the ongoing high level of satisfaction across both satisfaction indicators, both targets have been increased to 85% for 2016-17.

Desired Outcome: Cultural heritage management for community education and appreciation. Actual Note
Visitors to Fremantle Prison’s satisfaction with the services provided by the Department of the State Heritage Office. 96.5% 1

1. This is a new indicator and no target was set. For 2016-17 the target is 85%.
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Outcomes, Services and Key Performance Indicators continued

Key Efficiency Indicators – State Heritage Office

Service: Cultural heritage conservation services on behalf of and under the direction of the 
Heritage Council of Western Australia.

2014-15 
Actual

2015-16 
Target

2015-16
Actual

Variance 
Target to 

Actual 
2015-16

Note

Average cost per place of maintaining the heritage register. $71 $60 $59 $1 1
Average cost of development referrals. $1,271 $900 $1,100 ($200) 2
Average cost of administering grants (per grant dollar). 15.5c 10c 17c (7c) 3

1.  Efficiencies created through new system developments, such as inHerit, and increasing awareness of these, continue to maintain the 
reduced actual average cost of maintaining the register.

2.  The higher than target cost per development referral relates to the number of complex and State significant projects managed 
throughout the year. The reduction in average cost from 2014-15 reflects the higher number of referrals processed in 2015-16.

3.  The average cost of administering grants is impacted by the conclusion of the Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund. The reduction in 
grant commitments has resulted in a higher average cost of grants administration in relation to the funding levels provided.

Service: Community engagement in cultural heritage Actual Note
Average cost per visitor to Fremantle Prison $34.1 1

1. This is a new indicator and no target was set. For 2016-17 the target is $40.

Hard copy survey forms are available to all visitors in the Gift Shop. In 2015-16 over 900 visitors completed surveys, from a total visitation 
of over 192,000 tour visitors and 7,000 function visitors.
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6.2 Employees and staffing policies

Employment and Industrial Relations

Heritage Councilors and Committee Members are engaged under 
the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990. There is no FTE 
associated with their positions. In 2014-15, with the creation of 
the new Department of the State Heritage Office, all 31 FTE were 
transferred from the Heritage Council to the State Heritage Office. 
Then in 2015-16, with the transfer of Fremantle Prison to the 
State Heritage Office, an additional 32 FTE were also transferred, 
resulting in a total FTE of 63 for the Department.

State Heritage Office staff, and Fremantle Prison administration 
staff, are employed under the Public Service Award 1992 and 
Public Service and Government Officers General Agreement 2014. 

Tour Guides, Ticketing Officers and Gardener Handyperson 
positions at Fremantle Prison are employed under the Government 
Services (Miscellaneous) General Agreement 2016. The Awards 
that these positions are subject to are the Cultural Centre Award 
1987 (Tour Guides and Ticketing Officers) and the Gardeners 
(Government) Award 1986 (Gardener Handyperson positions).

No industrial disputes were recorded during 2015-16.

The following table provides a breakdown of the categories of staff 
employment as at 30 June 2016 in comparison with prior years, 
and highlights the impact of the Fremantle Prison operation on the 
staffing profile of State Heritage Office.

Staff Profile (as at 30 June 2016)

Agency Heritage Council State Heritage 
Office

Year 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Total FTE 28 29 29.4 29 59.6
Total Head Count 31 32 32 31 81
Perm Head Count 24 29 27 29 69
Contract Head Count 7 3 5 3 12
Part time Head Count 7 3 3 4 40

Staffing policies

The State Heritage Office values its workforce highly. The 
achievement of the Department’s goals depends on the quality of 
service delivered by staff.

 ■ Approximately half of the Department’s staff is responsible 
for the provision of efficient and effective heritage services 
across Western Australia, including the oversight of over 
1,300 State registered places. They provide operational 
support to the Heritage Council.

 ■ The other half are responsible for the conservation, and 
delivery of community engagement services, at Fremantle 
Prison.
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Employees and staffing policies continued

Workforce and Diversity Plan 2014-19

The State Heritage Office Workforce and Diversity Plan (the 
Plan) acknowledges the environmental influences, objectives 
and priorities of the Department’s Strategic Plan, and works to 
continue to attract and build our internal workforce capacity to 
deliver on those strategic objectives.

Relevant, achievable and measurable actions across five strategic 
areas: recruitment; retention; building workforce capacity; 
rejuvenating organisational culture; and increasing workforce 
diversity, are detailed in the Plan. The Plan provides strategies in 
which to attract and maintain a skilled workforce. 

The Plan demonstrates commitment to equal opportunity 
principles according to the Equal Opportunities Act 1984, and 
recognises that all people, regardless of age, gender, disability and 
cultural background, have skills, qualifications, experience and 
attitudes valuable to our agency. 

Diversity elements are included and integrated across initiatives to 
support a workforce representative of the community we serve.

All staff share responsibility and accountability for the 
implementation and success of the Plan. 

Training and development

During the year, State Heritage Office employees participated in 
over 162 training activities – the most training ever conducted by 
the Department, which reflects the increase in staff numbers as a 
result of the transfer of Fremantle Prison employees. 

Department wide development initiatives are strategically 
developed by the Corporate Executive group to ensure:

 ■ compliance and safety
 ■ the delivery of contemporary best practice, professional 

services
 ■ strategic initiatives are supported. 

The Department maintains high levels of compliance training 
relating to diversity awareness and accountable and ethical 
decision making, as both form part of the induction program, 
along with record keeping training and procurement training if 
relevant. Other examples of compliance training include FOI, key 
word classification, grievance officer and FBT. These support 
broader agency compliance efforts at an individual level.

Health and safety training was a focus again for 2015-16. In 
additional to first aid and warden training, and in response to 
international incidents, civil disturbance training was provided to 
floor wardens. With increasing awareness and incidence of mental 
health, three staff completed a Mental Health in the Workplace 
certificate. And with the inclusion of Fremantle Prison in the 
Departments’ operation, the safety training program was extended 
to include tunnels safety and rescue training.
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Employees and staffing policies continued

All public sector staff participate in a formal personal development 
process (PDP). In this, staff drive their own development paths in 
consultation with line mangers and in relation to demonstrated 
performance. Planned activities are linked to addressing 
development needs, while expanding skills to support strategic 
objectives. To improve this process, in 2015-16 an online PDP 
module within the HR system was developed, tested and 
launched. Examples of individual development activities to improve 
practice and for specific role development in 2015-16 include:

 ■ Structural engineering, stonemasonry and heritage 
conservation 

 ■ Urban infill
 ■ Discretion in urban planning
 ■ Heritage means business
 ■ Heritage in practice
 ■ Liveable neighbourhoods
 ■ Time management
 ■ Integrity in recruitment
 ■ Tourism boost 
 ■ Strategic marketing
 ■ Excel and Word
 ■ Applied project management
 ■ Excellence in annual reporting
 ■ Reception etiquette
 ■ Emotional intelligence
 ■ RAMS system administration

All Fremantle Prison tour related staff have their performance reviewed 
annually through observation as well as analysis of visitor comments.

Group training activities provide excellent opportunities for shared 
learning experiences. Relevant groups of staff conducted training 
in photography and public engagement.

Leadership development underpins the future success of the 
Department, with managers conducting training in leadership 
management essentials - managing people; critical thinking, hard 
conversations and providing effective feedback. Additionally, the 
Director Business Services was accepted into the Public Sector 
Commission’s Executive Leadership pilot program.

In 2014-15, a significant new professional development 
opportunity was established as a ‘scholarship’ style program, 
allowing staff to participate in typically higher cost learning and 
development, with learnings shared with all staff at the conclusion 
of the experience. In 2015-16 the Manager IT was provided 
the opportunity to attend the UX Conference and Workshop in 
Brisbane, to ensure we use technology to provide excellent user 
experiences, and two staff from the Development division attended 
the ICOMOS Conference in Adelaide, to maintain awareness of 
best practice heritage conservation principles. The Department 
also supported attendance at an international GIS Conference in 
Salzburg for a staff member on holiday there.

Resources earmarked to support workforce training and 
development are detailed in the annual State Heritage Office 
Business Plan. For efficient management, resources are allocated 
on a personal basis to fund initiatives stemming from the individual 
performance development program, as well as on a department-
wide basis for cross-branch or agency wide initiatives. 
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Employees and staffing policies continued

Flexible workplace

State Heritage Office staff enjoy flexible working arrangements 
to allow a life balance, including flexible start and finish times, 
flexidays, job share and part-time arrangements and a family 
friendly workplace. Based on staff interest, a key area of focus 
for 2015-16 and beyond, is the need for flexibility within the 
workplace. With almost 10% of staff either on maternity leave, 
or working part time for family care reasons, this is essential to 
maintaining the existing highly functional team. Staff participated in 
a number of group discussions over 2015-16 to inform the future 
approach.

Healthy workplace

The State Heritage Office delivers wellness initiatives to staff to 
provide a healthy and safe workplace. This includes ergonomic 
assessments, flu vaccinations, glasses subsidies, safety and first 
aid equipment and a confidential employee assistance program. 

In 2015-16 a stand up desk was installed in the Perth office to 
provide staff some flexibility in their working position, and an 
ergonomic assessment of a home work space was conducted for 
a staff member challenged by a chronic pain issue.

Internal communication

With the addition of a secondary location at Fremantle, internal 
communication has never been more important. 

In addition to the regular schedules of team meetings, monthly 
staff meetings are hosted by each division on a rotating basis. The 
hosting division provides an overview of their work, major projects 

undertaken and achievements highlighted. To inject ‘fun’ into 
the meetings, divisions are encouraged to adopt a theme, with 
many this year showcasing heritage learnings from international 
experiences. This hosting opportunity also provides staff with 
valuable experience in how to chair meetings, public speaking 
and presenting on topics in an engaging and informative way. A 
new feature introduced in 2015-16 is that the hosts are required to 
minute the meetings and distribute it so part time, remote and other 
absent staff maintain awareness of the wider agency activities.

Staff are also encouraged to nominate and host morning teas or 
‘lunch box’ discussions to benefit from information sharing, both 
internally and externally. Sessions in 2015-16 included discussions 
around a flexible workplace, superannuation and the use of GIS 
mapping systems.

Staff feedback is a critical part of internal communications. As 
well as group discussions, a number of surveys were conducted 
across the year to gauge awareness and seek comment on 
proposed initiatives, including:

 ■ SHOme Survey – to gauge understanding and use of a 
mapping system.

 ■ What makes a great intranet tick – to create a solid 
understanding of intranet needs to inform the development 
of a State Heritage Office specific intranet in 2016-17.

 ■ Risk Management – to gauge understanding and provide 
further education on risk management.

 ■ Record Keeping Awareness – to gauge current knowledge 
of all individual staff to determine if further training is 
required.
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Employees and staffing policies continued

As a tool to create a view of employee perceptions, the 
Department has recently created a survey that replicates key 
elements of the Public Sector Commission Employee Perceptions 
Survey. This will be conducted with all staff in 2016-17, and into 
the future, to map trends in employee perceptions specific to 
the State Heritage Office. The Department has also designed 
a new employee exit survey and a template to enable the easy 
production of future surveys.

Social Club

The State Heritage Office Corporate Executive supports the staff’s 
social committee to promote activities that create relationships 
and unity across the team, as well as provide additional workplace 
enjoyment. A key activity is the staff end of year function, which is 
designed to combine heritage-related learning and development, 
with a group-bonding activity. This year, the lunch was preceded 
by a heritage-themed scramble through Fremantle, starting 
at Fremantle Prison and moving through the West End – two 
significant areas of work for the Department across 2015-16.

Other Social Club activities include:
 ■ Teams participating in corporate lunchtime sports including 

petanque and croquet
 ■ Pay day group lunches
 ■ Charity morning teas (including the Cancel Council’s 

‘Australia’s Biggest Morning Tea’)
 ■ Melbourne Cup lunch in the boardroom (BYO food)
 ■ 10,000 Step Challenge

 ■ Casual Fridays, with gold coin donations provided to 
charities including Waroona & Districts Fires Appeal and 
Nepal Region Earthquake Appeal.

Staff are also encouraged to develop professional networks. In 
2015-16, staff served on a number of committees of industry and 
other related groups, including the Australia ICOMOS Advocacy 
Working Group (AWG) and Statutes Working Group (SWG), 
international ICOMOS legal committee, Leadership WA Finance 
Risk and Audit Committee.

Policies

All human resource policies are available to staff through the 
intranet and are reviewed regularly with staff input.

Risk Management and Business Continuity

Over recent years, the State Heritage Office has driven ongoing 
improvements to its risk management practice, with solid 
foundations based in the Heritage Council and State Heritage 
Office Risk Management Policy and Process, and Business 
Continuity Plan developed in 2014. 

The Heritage Council continues to be supported with regular 
reviews of strategic risks. An external risk management consultant 
is engaged for this, to ensure the appropriate level of subject 
matter expertise and an independent oversight of the reviews. 
Operational risks are reviewed rotationally on an annual basis at 
monthly Corporate Executive meetings. Evidence of operational 
risk management is provided bi-annually to the Heritage Council. 
Risk management has firmly established itself in the forefront of 
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Employees and staffing policies continued

all planning, and is included in all project plans, event plans and 
Corporate Executive agenda papers. 

In 2015-16, a substantial improvement to risk management was 
implemented, with the adoption of a new risk management system 
in response to the cessation of the RiskBase system formerly 
provided by the Insurance Commission of WA. The State Heritage 
Office used this shared need to connect with other agencies 
also requiring a new system: the State Heritage Office invited 
representatives from other agencies to participate in an afternoon 
of risk system demonstrations organised by the State Heritage 
Office, as well as undertaking visits to other agencies to view 
alternative systems. The system has been built and populated with 
all risk information, so the Department now enjoys a responsive 
risk management process based on relevant information, 
obtainable through an up-to-date risk management system.

Also in 2015-16, risks relating to Fremantle Prison were 
reviewed and added to the Department’s risk register to ensure 
ongoing management of risks across the entire agency. Work 
also commenced on the integration of Fremantle Prison’s 
crisis management and business continuity guidelines into the 
Department’s Business Continuity Plan. This is intended to be 
complete in early 2016-17, with scenario exercises conducted to 
reinforce the plan.

Workers Compensation

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office comply with the 
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984. Through diligent risk 
management and the proactive provision of a safe and healthy 
working environment, workers compensations claims can be 
minimised.

There was one compensation claim recorded during the year. 
There were no outstanding workers compensation claims from a 
prior period.
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7.0 Financial Disclosures, Governance and Legal Compliance

7.1 Financial Disclosures and Capital Works
Pricing Policies of Services Provided

The State Heritage Office charges for goods and services 
rendered, including charges on behalf of the Heritage Council, 
on a full or partial cost-recovery basis for:

 ■ the delivery of the Heritage Management and Planning 
Seminar 

 ■ Freedom of Information requests
 ■ inclusion in inContact, our online directory of heritage 

specialists.

Fees are also charged for services delivered by Fremantle Prison, 
including:

 ■ tours
 ■ functions and events
 ■ commercial tenancies

The fees and charges are determined in accordance with ‘Costing 
and Pricing Government Services: Guidelines for Use by Agencies 
in the Western Australian Public Sector’ published by Treasury. 

Current fees and charges are available on 
www.stateheritage.wa.gov.au or www.fremantleprison.com.au 
for Prison related products and services.

Capital Works

Capital projects incomplete

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office have no capital 
projects incomplete.

Capital projects completed

The Heritage Council’s capital project on the Warder’s Cottages, 
Fremantle, was completed in June 2016.

7.2 Governance Disclosures
Ministerial Directives

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office received no 
Ministerial Directives under section 6(2) of the Heritage of Western 
Australia Act 1990 in 2015-16.

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office received no 
Ministerial Directives under section 3(2)(b) of the Heritage of 
Western Australia Act 1990 in 2015-16.
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Governance Disclosures continued

Enabling Legislation

The Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990 is the enabling legislation for the Heritage Council of Western Australia.

The Heritage Council was established under section 5 of the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990.

The Public Sector Management Act is the enabling legislation for the Department of the State Heritage Office.

Heritage Council and Committee Remuneration

The remuneration and allowances paid to Council and Committee Members are determined by the Governor based on a recommendation 
by the Minster for Public Sector Management.

Name Position Period of 
membership

Board Member 
Annual Fee

$

Committee 
Member Sitting Fee

$

Gross 
Remuneration

$

Mrs Marion Fulker Chair (to 11/12/2015) 13/03/2009-
11/12/2015 10,772 - 10,772

Mrs Anne Arnold
Council & Committee Member,
Chair (from 01/02/2016)

01/01/2008-
31/12/2017 16,514 1,750 18,264

Mr Philip Griffiths Council & Committee Member 07/07/1992-
31/12/2017 9,006 2,770 11,776

Mr David Heaver Council & Committee Member 22/06/2009-
01/03/2017 9,006 1,950 10,956

Mr Lloyd Clark Council & Committee Member 18/01/2010-
31/12/2017 9,006 2,040 11,046

Ms Nerida Moredoundt Council & Committee Member 12/12/2010-
31/12/2017 9,006 1,530 10,536

Professor John Stephens Council & Committee Member 18/04/2011-
31/12/2017 9,006 1,690 10,696

Mr Bradley Pettit Council & Committee Member 01/01/2014– 
31/12/2017 9,006 2,280 11,286
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Governance Disclosures continued

Name Position Period of 
membership

Board Member 
Annual Fee

$

Committee 
Member Sitting Fee

$

Gross 
Remuneration

$

Ms Alice Steedman Council & Committee Member 15/12/2014- 
31/12/2017 9,006 2,710 11,716

Mr Rob Druitt Council & Committee Member 10/06/2016- 
31/12/2017 734 0 734

Ms Renee Gardiner Committee Member 01/01/2015– 
30/06/2017 0 1530 1530

Ms Jennifer Marschner Committee Member 07/07/2012-
30/06/2017 0 1,870 1,870

Mr Antony Ednie-Brown Committee Member 01/07/2012-
30/06/2017 0 1,530 1,530

Dr Fiona Bush Committee Member 01/07/2012-
30/06/2017 0 1,700 1,700

Mr Gerald Major Committee Member 22/07/2012-
30/06/2017 0 1,870 1,870

Mr Chris Antill Committee Member 07/07/2013-
30/07/2017 0 2,040 2,040

Mr Peter Woodward Committee Member 22/07/2013-
30/06/2017 0 1,700 1,700

Dr Sue Graham-Taylor Committee Member 22/07/2013-
30/06/2017 0 1,700 1,700
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Governance Disclosures continued

Contracts with Senior Officers 

Requirement under Treasurer’s Instruction (TI) 903

At the date of reporting, no senior officers, or firms of which senior 
officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have 
substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed 
contracts with the Heritage Council.

At the date of reporting, no senior officers, or firms of which senior 
officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have 
substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed 
contracts with the State Heritage Office other than normal 
contracts of employment of service.

Complaints handling 

The State Heritage Office aims to provide the best service 
we can for Western Australians and values stakeholder and 
customer feedback. As part of a whole-of-government complaints 
management strategy, the Department offers a complaints 
management system that conforms to the Australian Standard AS 
ISO 10002-2006 supported by a Complaints Handling Policy that 
was reviewed and updated in 2015-16. This is published on our 
website. 

Verbal complaints can be taken over the telephone or in person. 
Written complaints by letter or email will be forwarded to the 

Director Business Services for an acknowledgement letter or 
phone call to indicate receipt of a written complaint within five 
working days and include information on the process and contact 
information. A full written response can be expected within five to 
30 working days, depending on the complexity of the complaint.

If it is not possible to resolve a complaint within this timeframe, 
complainants will be notified of any delay either in writing or over 
the telephone. Objections to assessments or registrations of 
places on the State Register of Heritage Places are dealt with 
separately by the Executive Director.

One complaint was received this year and successfully resolved 
within the timeframe. 

Freedom of Information

This year, the Heritage Council and State Heritage Office received 
three new applications under Freedom of Information legislation. 
These were all completed this year, along with two other 
applications that were received but not completed the previous 
year. 

Unauthorised use of credit cards

There were no instances in 2015-16 where a Western Australian 
Government Purchasing Card was utilsed for personal use.
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7.3 Legal Compliance and Requirements

Expenditure on Advertising, Market Research, Polling and Direct Mail

Requirement under section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907

As the State Heritage Office conducts advertising on behalf of the Heritage Council, the Heritage Council incurred no advertising 
expenditure in 2015-16.

The State Heritage Office incurred the following expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media advertising:

Total advertising expenditure for 2015-16 was $320,137.29, with the majority of expenditure relating to the promotion of Fremantle 
Prison’s commercial product offerings.

Category Total Organisation Amount ($)
Advertising Agencies Nil - Nil
Market Research Organisations Nil - Nil
Polling Organisations Nil - Nil
Direct Mail Organisations Nil - Nil
Media Advertising Organisations $320,137 Adcorp $2,757

State Law Publisher $2,401
Fremantle Herald $1,590

Fremantle Tram Tours $855
City of Fremantle $166

Experience Perth Holiday Planner $886
Fremantle Street Wise Magazine $455

Visual Publications $114
Optimum Media Decisions $309,752

Austereo $435
Hello Perth $727

Total $320,137
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Legal Compliance and Requirements continued

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

Requirement under section 29 of the Disability Services Act 
1993 and Schedule 3 of the Disability Services Regulations 
2004

Heritage Council and State Heritage Office DAIP 2014-
2019

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office are committed to 
ensuring that people with disability are able to access services, 
facilities and information by providing them with the same 
opportunities, rights and responsibilities enjoyed by others in the 
community.

The current Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) was 
endorsed by the State Heritage Office Corporate Executive Group 
and Heritage Council, and successfully lodged with the Disability 
Services Commission in June 2014. 

Due to the nature of the Fremantle Prison site and heritage 
restrictions, not all areas area accessible. Tours are approximately 
70% accessible, with tools such as hard copy publications 
designed to deliver a more equitable experience.

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office DAIP is available 
on the State Heritage Office website. 

Strategies to improve access and inclusion 

Outcome 1:

People with disability have the same opportunities as other people 
to access the services of, and any events organised by, the agency.

 ■ Ensure that all events organised by the State Heritage 
Office are planned in accordance with the Disability Service 
Commission’s ‘Creating Accessible Events Checklist’. 

 ■ Make available and promote the checklist to all staff to 
ensure events are accessible to people with disability. 

 ■ Occupational Safety and Health procedures are in place to 
ensure the safety of employees and visitors with disability in 
the event of a fire, evacuation or other critical incident.

Outcome 2: 

People with disability have the same opportunities as other people 
to access the buildings and other facilities of the agency. 

 ■ Ensure fire wardens are trained in evacuation procedures for 
people with disability. 

 ■ Ensure that the office’s client contact areas are accessible 
to people with disability. 

 ■ Ensure State Heritage Office staff are aware of our facilities 
and resources available to people (employees and visitors) 
with disability (e.g. toilets, building access, ramps, etc.) 

 ■ Any feedback about access from employees or visitors with 
disability is acted on in a timely and appropriate manner.

 ■ Ensure signage is clear, easy to understand and meet the 
needs of people with disability.
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Legal Compliance and Requirements continued

Outcome 3: 

People with disability receive information from the agency in a 
format that will enable them to access the information as readily as 
other people are able to access it.

 ■ Continue to work with the Department of Local Government 
and Communities member of the WA Government Web 
Accessibility Reference Group.

 ■ Ensure all agency websites and on-line applications are 
compliant with the Website Governance Requirements as 
directed by central agencies. 

 ■ Continue to ensure that the review and updates to the State 
Heritage Office website meets the needs of people with 
disability by complying with the Web Content Accessibility 
Guidelines (WCAG) and incorporating new techniques as 
they become available. 

 ■ Continue to actively engage and educate officers within 
the agency in regards to creating documents that are 
accessible to all members of the community.

Outcome 4: 

People with disability receive the same level and quality of service 
from the staff of the agency as other people receive from the staff 
of the agency.

 ■ Provide disability awareness information to new employees 
as part of the induction/orientation process.

 ■ Ensure that State Heritage Office staff participate in disability 
awareness training to make them aware of the needs of 
people with disability.

 ■ Ensure that all staff have the knowledge and skills to provide 
quality services for people with disability.

Outcome 5: 

People with disability have the same opportunities as other people 
to make complaints to the agency.

 ■ Ensure our existing complaints and feedback systems/
mechanisms are accessible for people with disability, and 
that those systems are reviewed periodically.

 ■ Ensure our complaints management policies and 
procedures are made available in flexible and accessible 
formats.

 ■ Provide information and guidance to staff on the appropriate 
application in handling complaints from people with 
disability.

Outcome 6: 

People with disability have the same opportunities as other people 
to participate in any public consultation by the agency.

 ■ Ensure that public consultations are held in an accessible 
manner and inclusive of people with disability.

 ■ Ensure information detailing the nature of the consultation is 
available in accessible formats for people with disability.

 ■ Provide sufficient notice of meetings and an appropriate 
level of support to people with disability who are directly 
involved in any consultation process.

 ■ Commit to ongoing monitoring of our DAIP to ensure 
implementation and satisfactory outcomes.
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Legal Compliance and Requirements continued

Outcome 7: 

People with disability have the same opportunities as other people 
to obtain and maintain employment with the agency.

 ■ Ensure that the job application process is accessible to all 
people.

 ■ Provide information and guidance to management and staff 
(including selection panels) on the appropriate approaches 
in communicating with people with disability. 

 ■ Research and recommend strategies on alternative/flexible 
interview and assessment processes. 

 ■ Ensure staff with a disability get the support that they 
require in order to be successful in their job.

Outcomes of previous DAIP

Key initiatives which have been implemented under the previous 
DAIP include:

 ■ Working with Building Management (Resolve FM) to ensure 
access to our office, facilities and amenities meet legislative 
and access standards as a result of our relocation to the 
140 William Street complex, Perth

 ■ Representation on the tenants group to address 
accessibility issues

 ■ The inclusion of the DAIP in the Induction and Orientation 
program

 ■ Ensuring agency produced material is available in alternate 
formats on request

 ■ An initial review of our Complaints System and policy to 
determine its accessibility for people with disability.

The Department is continuing to redevelop websites to comply 
with W3C Web Content Accessibility Guidelines – AA standard at a 
minimum for level for www.stateheritage.wa.gov.au with a current 
project working to achieve this for www.fremantleprison.com.au 
and all new micro-portals.

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical 
Codes

Requirement under Public Sector Management Act 1994, 
section 31(1)

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office work to the Public 
Sector Accountability, Integrity and Ethics Framework. 

Together we ensure compliance with the:
 ■ WA Public Sector Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct 
 ■ Public Sector Standards in Human Resources Management

 ■ Part IX of the Equal Opportunity Act 1984

The Heritage Council has its own Board Charter and Code of 
Conduct for all members of the Council. Under the Council’s 
Conflict of Interest Policy, members must declare a conflict of 
interest or potential conflict of interest to the Chair and be excused 
from attendance, where determined, on those particular items. 

In July 2014, the State Heritage Office, as a new department, 
created its first Code of Conduct. At the time, all staff signed a 
Code of Conduct Employee Acknowledgement Form, which is 
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Legal Compliance and Requirements continued

also signed by all new staff in the induction process, on reading 
and understanding the Code of Conduct. To ensure ongoing 
compliance, staff are required to sign this annually, as well as a 
Conflict of Interest Declaration. In 2015-16 this included staff at 
Fremantle Prison.

The Department’s Solicitor is the dedicated Public Information 
Disclosure (PID) Officer who remains informed of PID best practice 
and regularly briefs staff on potential issues and risks in relation to 
standards and ethics in the sector. 

Actions to ensure compliance

Managers and staff are informed of, and required to comply with, 
the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management. 
Actions to monitor and ensure compliance with public sector 
standards include:

 ■ Staff are aware of the Code of Ethics.
 ■ Recruitment Selection and Appointment Standard is 

followed during any recruitment process.
 ■ An open and competitive process exists for acting and 

secondment positions.
 ■ An individual performance development process is in place 

to ensure there are current performance management 
processes in place for all employees.

 ■ Staff are advised of, and encouraged to report non-
compliance to, the PID Officer.

Actions taken to ensure that all staff support accountable and 
ethical decision making in Government are included in the 
induction process, such as:

 ■ Participating in accountable and ethical decision-making 
training 

 ■ Being made aware of all internal policies, and where to 
access them

 ■ Receiving advice on guidelines on conflicts of interest 
(including declaration of secondary employment/conflict of 
interest) 

 ■ Being provided with information and links to Department of 
Finance purchasing guidelines 

 ■ A checklist signed by all new staff ensures awareness of 
these compliance requirements.

Ongoing compliance activities include:
 ■ Each monthly staff meeting has a standing agenda item to 

put the spotlight on elements of the legislative framework, 
compliance instruments and devices and processes for 
reporting breaches.

 ■ Contacts for officers, such as the PID Officer or Grievance 
Officer, are posted in common areas within the agency.

 ■ Staff are trained to relevant degrees, depending on their 
compliance requirements.
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Compulsory staff training activities include:
 ■ Public Sector Introduction (for staff new to the sector)
 ■ Ethical and Accountable Decision Making
 ■ Procurement Awareness, conducted by the Department of 

Finance
 ■ Diversity Training, as provided online by the Office of 

Multicultural Interests 
 ■ Record keeping

Specific staff receive higher level training in:
 ■ Contact Officer Role and Grievance Officer Role
 ■ Equal Employment Opportunity
 ■ Public Information Disclosure Officer role
 ■ Complaints handling

In the instance an issue of non-compliance is identified, it is 
immediately addressed with the officer concerned.

Evidence of compliance in 2015-16

Compliance issues that arose 
during 2015-16 regarding public 
sector standards

There were no breach claims 
lodged in 2015-16

Compliance issues that arose 
during 2015-16 regarding Code 
of Ethics

There were no reports on non-
compliance in 2015-16

Compliance with own agency 
Code of Conduct

There were no breaches of the 
Code of Conduct in 2015-16

Record keeping

Requirement under State Records Act 2000 and State 
Records Commission Standard 2, Principle 6 

Records management framework

The State Heritage Office conducts all record keeping on behalf of 
the Heritage Council. With a high percentage of archival records, the 
State Heritage Office is committed to continuously delivering best-
practice record keeping consistent with the State Records Act 2000 
and the State Records Commission Standard 2, Principle 6. 

In accordance with s.28 of the State Records Act 2000, the 
Heritage Council and State Heritage Office must have a record-
keeping plan that has been approved by the State Records 
Commission under s.23 of the Act. The Heritage Council’s 
Recordkeeping Plan 2013-2018, which also includes the State 
Heritage Office, was approved by the State Records Office in early 
2013 and remains current. 

The associated Retention and Disposal Schedule was submitted 
to the State Records Office and approved by the State Records 
Commission in August 2014 and remains current.

Records management system

A new records management system was an integral part of the 
new business system (SHObiz) launched in early 2015. In 2015-16, 
in response to the transfer of Fremantle Prison records to the State 
Heritage Office, new locations, officers and classifications were 
added to the system, as well as file information. The transfer was 
conducted in conjunction with the Department of Finance and 
audited in a test system to ensure correctness.

Legal Compliance and Requirements
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Storage and disposal 

The State Heritage Office ensures safe storage of all files, both 
within the office and through an off-site storage facility, for the 
duration of their retention. File audits indicate the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the recordkeeping training program and systems. 
A new scanning device was adopted in 2015-16 and is delivering 
improved file audit procedures.

As per changes to the CUA during 2015-16, Fremantle Prison files 
previously located at Iron Mountain were relocated to Recall for 
off-site storage.

Induction and training

The State Heritage Office has a dedicated Records Officer who  
conducts regular training of staff in their record keeping responsibilities, 
provides guidance on record keeping practices and standards, 
maintains standard operating procedures and process documentation, 
and reports on record keeping at monthly staff forums. 

The induction program addresses staff roles and responsibilities 
in regard to compliance with the Record Keeping Plan. Staff 
are made aware of their important role in the record keeping 
process, as well as being provided with a demonstration of the 
record keeping system. Each induction is geared to an individual’s 
experience and specific role in the organisation. With the migration 
of Fremantle Prison to the State Heritage Office, all administration 
staff were provided with a State Heritage Office specific records 
induction.

In 2015-16 a records awareness assessment survey was 
conducted across the agency to assess the existing level of record 
keeping awareness, including staff at Fremantle Prison. As the 
response standard was extremely high across the entire agency, 
no additional records training was deemed required.

Publication deposits

In accordance with the Legal Deposit Act 2012 and Legal Deposit 
Regulations 2013, all publications produced by the State Heritage 
Office, including those produced on behalf of the Heritage Council, 
are deposited with the State Library to ensure the ongoing 
collection and preservation of the State’s cultural heritage for future 
generations. A copy of this annual report will also be submitted to 
the National Library of Australia.

7.4 Government Policy Requirements
Substantive Equality

Required by Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular: 2015-
01 Implementation of the Policy Framework for Substantive 
Equality

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office embrace the 
principles of Substantive Equality, the public sector’s program 
for the prevention of systemic indirect forms of discrimination in 
service delivery to Indigenous and Culturally and Linguistically 
Diverse (CaLD) groups. 

Legal Compliance and Requirements
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The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office are committed 
to providing practices and work place cultures to ensure all 
community members can fully participate in the services provided 
by the agency. Efforts to achieve this include:

 ■ All staff are required to complete the Office of Multicultural 
Interests Diversity Training Program

 ■ All staff are educated on the WA Language Services Policy 
2014 and agency specific guidelines. The State Heritage 
Office Language Service Policy was updated in 2015-16.

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management

Required by Public Sector Commissioners Circular 2012-05 
- Code of Practice: Occupational Safety and Health in the 
Western Australian Public Sector

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office are committed 
to “providing and maintaining a safe and healthy working 
environment for its employees within the legislative framework 
of the Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) Act 1984 and 
other associated legislation, including the Code of Practice for 
Occupational Safety and Health in the Western Australian Public 
Sector 2007.”

The agencies have demonstrated commitment to occupational 
safety and health and injury management and ensures this 
activity is properly resourced. To ensure a formal mechanism for 
reporting, an Occupational Health and Safety Report is a standing 
agenda item in monthly State Heritage Office Corporate Executive 
meetings, as well as the monthly staff meeting. 

All staff are informed of the health and safety expectations within 
the agency in the first stage of all inductions. Staff at the Perth 
office are required to read the Emergency Management Plan 
located on each floor. 

The State Heritage Office has an Occupational Safety and Health 
Representative at the Perth office. This officer: 

 ■ conducts workplace inspections to assess risks and 
hazards

 ■ provides a central point for collecting issues reports from 
other staff

 ■ reports issues to the OHS Committee and Corporate 
Executive Group

 ■ resolves OHS issues.

Staff are encouraged to report health and safety concerns 
immediately to the OHS officer and issues relating to health and 
safety are discussed in monthly all-of-staff forums. 

Due to the nature of the operation and high visitor numbers, 
Fremantle Prison has two dedicated Occupational Safety and 
Health Representatives who, along with the Director Fremantle 
Prison, form the Fremantle Prison OHS committee. Incidents are 
reviewed as reported and the group meets quarterly to review all 
incidents and potential risks.
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Physical health and safety program

A summary of activities conducted this year to ensure a safe and 
healthy work environment includes:

 ■ provision of a nominated first aid officer 
 ■ extensive first aid training (including remote first aid)
 ■ provision of kitchen, car and mobile first aid kits
 ■ floor wardens trained and fire drills carried out
 ■ professional ergonomic assessments provided where 

required, and recommended equipment installed
 ■ induction material provided to all new and existing 

staff members was reviewed, including a section on 
occupational, safety and health policies and procedures

 ■ influenza injections provided 
 ■ glasses subsidies provided 
 ■ provision of sunscreen, hand sanitiser and tissues
 ■ new safety travel package for regional travel

 ■ provision of appropriate clothing for Fremantle Prison staff 
including uniforms, hats and boots.

Mental health

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office are committed 
to supporting mental health. To support this, in 2015-16, three 
officers completed the Mental Health First Aid course.

All State Heritage Office employees are provided with access 
to a confidential Employee Assistance Program, which delivers 
independent professional counselling services for staff and 
families.

Injury management

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office comply with an 
Injury Management Policy and are committed to providing injury 
management support to all employees who sustain a work related 
injury or illness, and to assist in their safe and early return to 
meaningful work, in accordance with the Worker’s Compensation 
and Injury Management Act 1981.

One workers’ compensation claims arose during the year. A 
return to work program was implemented in conjunction with the 
employee’s assessing doctor. The employee is expected to be 
back to pre-injury duties in July 2016.
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Report against performance targets

Indicator Target 2015-16 Actual 2015-16
Number of fatalities Zero (0) 0

Lost time injury/diseases (LTI/D) incidence rate Zero (0) or 10% reduction on previous year 1.68%

Lost time injury severity rate Zero (0) or 10% improvement on previous year 0

Percentage of injured workers returned to work within:
13 weeks
26 weeks

Greater than or equal to 80% 100%
N/A

Percentage of managers trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury management responsibilities 50% 83%
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016
8.0 Financial Statements – Heritage Council

Certification of Financial Statements

The accompanying financial statements of the Heritage Council of Western Australia (Heritage Council) have been prepared in compliance 
with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2016 and the financial position as at 30 June 2016.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate.

Anne Arnold 
Chair 
Heritage Council of Western Australia

12 August 2016

Philip Griffiths 
Deputy Chair 
Heritage Council of Western Australia

12 August 2016

Christopher Johnson 
Chief Finance Officer 
Department of the State Heritage Office

12 August 2016
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016
8.1 Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

8.2 Financial Statements 
Statement of Comprehensive Income

Note 2016 2015
$ $

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6 23,855 24,105
Supplies and services 7 149,501 143,153
Grants and subsidies - grant recipients 8 1,191,081 2,269,481
Other expenses 9 12,756 3,117,951
Total cost of services 1,377,193 5,554,690

Income
Revenue
Other revenue 10 391,611 -

391,611 -

Total income other than income from State Government 391,611 -

NET COST OF SERVICES 985,582 5,554,690

Income from State Government 11
Service appropriation 1,461,000 6,359,000
Assets transferred - 730,000
Total income from State Government 1,461,000 7,089,000

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 475,418 1,534,310

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus - -
Total other comprehensive income - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 20 475,418 1,534,310

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016
Statement of Financial Position

Note 2016 2015
$ $

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 21  233,389  281,218 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 12,21  2,888,168  2,947,510 
Receivables 13  99,080  47,393 
Inventories 14  2,722,986  - 
Other assets 15  733  750 
Total Current Assets  5,944,356  3,276,871 

Non-Current Assets
Inventories 14  -  1,009,071 
Office equipment, computers and software 16  -  - 
Intangible assets 17  -  - 
Total Non-Current Assets  -  1,009,071 

TOTAL ASSETS  5,944,356  4,285,942 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 18  49,309  9,420 
Grants payable 19  2,261,039  2,117,932 
Total Current Liabilities  2,310,348  2,127,352 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  2,310,348  2,127,352 

NET ASSETS  3,634,008  2,158,590 

EQUITY 20
Contributed equity  2,000,000  1,000,000 
Accumulated surplus  1,634,008  1,158,590 
TOTAL EQUITY  3,634,008  2,158,590 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016
Statement of Changes in Equity

Note Contributed 
equity

Reserves Accumulated 
surplus/(deficit)

Total equity

$ $ $ $
Balance at 1 July 2014 20 1,993,450 - 2,914,490 4,907,940

Surplus/(Deficit) - - 1,534,310 1,534,310
Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the period - - 1,534,310 1,534,310
Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners:

Capital appropriations 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Other contributions by owners - - - -
Distributions to owners (5,283,660) - - (5,283,660)
Transfer 3,290,210 (3,290,210) -

Total (993,450) - (3,290,210) (4,283,660)

Balance at 30 June 2015 1,000,000 - 1,158,590 2,158,590

Balance at 1 July 2015 1,000,000 - 1,158,590 2,158,590
Surplus/(Deficit) - - 475,418 475,418
Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the period - - 475,418 475,418
Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners:

Capital appropriations 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Other contributions by owners - - - -
Distributions to owners - - - -
Transfer - - - -

Total 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000

Balance at 30 June 2016 2,000,000 - 1,634,008 3,634,008

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016
Statement of Cash Flows

Note 2016 2015
  $ $

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 1,461,000 6,200,000
Capital appropriation 1,000,000 1,000,000
Transfer to owners – State Heritage Office - (3,172,934)
Net cash provided by State Government 2,461,000 4,027,066

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Employee benefits expense (23,855) (101,148)
Services and supplies (109,595) (341,408)
Grants and subsidies - grant recipients (1,047,974) (2,034,470)
GST payments on purchases (252,506) (323,790)
Purchase of inventories (1,713,915) (279,071)
Other payments (12,756) (20,385)
Other payments paid on behalf of the State Heritage Office - (3,135,170)

Receipts
GST receipts on sales - 2,082
GST receipts from taxation authority 200,654 381,685
Other receipts 391,776 290
Net cash used in operating activities 21 (2,568,171) (5,851,385)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (107,171) (1,824,320)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 3,228,728 5,053,048
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 21 3,121,557 3,228,728

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016
Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Australian Accounting Standards
General

The Heritage Council of Western Australia's (the Heritage 
Council) financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2016 have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards. The term 'Australian Accounting 
Standards' includes Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standard Board. (AASB).

The Heritage Council has adopted any applicable, new and 
revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative 
dates.

Early adoption of standards

The Heritage Council cannot early adopt an Australian 
Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 
1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Other Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption 
of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or 
amended (but not operative) by the Heritage Council for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2016.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) General Statement

The Heritage Council is a not-for-profit reporting entity that 
prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer's 
Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer's 
Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer's 
Instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the 
preparation of financial statements and take precedence 
over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or 
significant financial effect upon the reported results, details 
of that modification and the resulting financial effect are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting using the historical cost convention.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 
the financial statements have been consistently applied 
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars.

Note 3 'Judgements made by management in applying 
accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been 
made in the process of applying the Heritage Council's 
accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 'Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses 
key assumptions made concerning the future and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(c) Reporting entity
The Heritage Council is the reporting entity and has no related 
bodies.

(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 'Contributions by Owners Made 
to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities' requires transfers in 
the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated 
by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at 
the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be 
recognised as equity contributions.

Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions 
by owners by TI 955 'Contributions by Owners made to 
Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities' and have been credited 
directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than 
as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are 
designated as contributions by owners where the transfers 
are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

(e) Income
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable. The following specific 
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognised for the following major business activities as 
follows:

Provision of services

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of 
completion of the transaction.

Service appropriations

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair 
value in the period in which the Heritage Council gains control 
of the appropriated funds. The Heritage Council gains control 
of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited 
to the bank account or credited to the amounts receivable for 
services (holding account) held at Treasury. 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal 
contributions

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Heritage Council 
obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, 
usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions 
by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of 
services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would be purchased if not 
donated.

Gains

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net 
basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-
current assets.



1 2 9 Heritage  Counci l  |  State  Her i tage  Off ice    1 2 9    Annual  Report  2015-16

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(f) Office equipment, computers and software
Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Items of office equipment, computers and software costing 
$5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful 
lives. Items costing less than $5,000 are immediately 
expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(other than where they form part of a group of similar items 
which are significant in total). 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Office equipment, computers and software are initially 
recognised at cost.

For items of office equipment, computers and software 
acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair 
value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, plant and 
equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are 
systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives 
in a manner which reflects the consumption of their future 
economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, 
using rates that are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives 
for each class of depreciable asset are:

Computers 3 Years

Office equipment 5 years

Software (a) 5 years

(a)  Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.

(g) Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more 
and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 
or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is 
expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred 
below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets 
acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair 
value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is 
calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated 
useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line 
basis. Intangible assets controlled by the Heritage Council 
have a finite useful life and zero residual value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

The expected useful lives for the class of intangible asset is:

Software(a) 5 Years

(a)  Software that is not integral to the operation of any related 
hardware.

Development costs

Development costs incurred for an individual project are 
carried forward when the future economic benefits can 
reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project 
costs are likely to exceed $50,000. Other development costs 
are expensed as incurred.

Computer software

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is 
recognised as office equipment and computers. Software that 
is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised 
as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is 
expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website costs

Website costs are charged as expenses when they are 
incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development 
of an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. 
Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during 
the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of 
maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. 
Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website that can 
be reliably measured, are capitalised to the extent that they 
represent probable future economic benefits.

(h) Impairment of assets
Plant, equipment and intangible assets are tested for any 
indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable 
amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less 
than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and 
is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment 
loss is recognised. Where an asset measured at cost is written 
down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised 
in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written 
down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a 
revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income. As the 
Heritage Council is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised 
asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances 
where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where 
the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed 
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/
amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration 
of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any 
impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible 
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at 
the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there 
is any indication of impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(i) Financial instruments 
In addition to cash, the Heritage Council has two categories 
of financial instrument: 

 ■ Receivables; and 
 ■ Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the 
following classes:

 ■ Financial Assets
 ■  Cash and cash equivalents 
 ■  Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
 ■  Receivables
 ■  Amounts receivable for services

 ■ Financial Liabilities 
 ■  Payables 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments 
is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost 
or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the 
transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest 
rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required 
as the effect of discounting is not material.

(j) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and 
cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalents) 
assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with 
original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject 
to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

(k) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Costs include the cost of acquisition and development 
costs. For inventory acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, 
the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Cost incurred in bringing the inventories to its present location 
and condition are assigned as finished goods and work-in-
progress, which are made up of direct materials and labour plus 
attributable costs that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

(l) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at the original invoice amount less 
an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. Impairment). 
The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are 
written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for 
uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is 
objective evidence that the Heritage Council will not be able 
to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(m) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the 
Heritage Council becomes obliged to make future payments 
as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying 
amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled 
within 30 days.

(n) Grants payable
Grants payable are recognised as the outstanding grant 
commitments due and payable at each reporting date. Grant 
funds are not released until grant recipient conditions are met. 

(o) Superannuation expense
Superannuation expense is recognised in the profit or loss of the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income and comprises employer 
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the 
WSS, the GESBS, or other superannuation funds. The employer 
contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is paid 
back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB.

(p) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal 
cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost, 
that the Heritage Council would otherwise purchase if not 
donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the 
assets or services where they can be reliably measured. A 
corresponding expense is recognised for services received. 
Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government 
agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State 
Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(q) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be 
comparable with the figures presented in the current financial 
year.

3. Judgements made by management in applying 
accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management 
to make judgements about the application of accounting 
policies that have a significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. The Heritage Council 
evaluates these judgements regularly.

There are no significant judgments affecting these statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

4. Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a 
significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

There are no material estimations affecting these statements. 

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial Application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Heritage Council has applied the following Australian Accounting standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2015 that impacted on the Council.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial 
Instruments
Part C of this Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The application date of AASB 9 was 
subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. The Heritage Council has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2014-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) – Application of 
AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 2010)]
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) and AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments (December 2010), arising from the issuance of AASB 9 Financial Instruments in December 2014. The 
Heritage Council has not yet determined he application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality
This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations, allowing that Standard to effectively be withdrawn. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector 
Entities [AASB 13]
This Standard relieves not-for-profit public sector entities from the reporting burden associated with various 
disclosures required by AASB 13 for assets within the scope of AASB 116 that are held primarily for their current 
service potential rather than to generate future net cash inflows. It has no financial impact.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Heritage Council cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application 
of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. By virtue of a limited exemption, the Heritage Council has early 
adopted AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector 
Entities. Where applicable, the Heritage Council plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards from their application 
date.

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 Jan 2018
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being amended 
by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards. The Heritage Council has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 Jan 2018
This Standard establishes the principles that the Heritage Council shall apply to report useful 
information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of 
revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. The Heritage Council has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

AASB 16 Leases 1 Jan 2019
This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise 
assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset 
is of low value. The Heritage Council has not yet determined the application or the potential impact 
of the Standard.

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards 1 Jan 2016
This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and Interpretation), 
grouped where they are the same. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) 
[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 
& 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

1 Jan 2018

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. 
The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6 and AASB 
2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The Heritage Council has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 1 Jan 2018
Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential amendments to other 
Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the Heritage Council to determine the application or 
potential impact of the Standard.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests 
in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & 11]

1 Jan 2016

The Heritage Council establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and does not 
routinely acquire interests in Joint Operations. Therefore, there is no financial impact on application 
of the Standard.

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]

1 Jan 2016

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Heritage Council as depreciation 
and amortisation is not determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to 
consumption of future economic benefits. 

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 1 Jan 2018
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The mandatory application date of 
this Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8 to 1 January 2018. The Heritage Council has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) 1 Jan 2018
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The Heritage 
Council has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity Method in Separate Financial 
Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 128]

1 Jan 2016

This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends AASB 1 and AASB 128, to allow 
entities to use the equity method of accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates in their separate financial statements. The Heritage Council has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 & 128]

1 Jan 2016

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency between the 
requirements in AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011), in dealing with the sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The Heritage Council 
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian 
Accounting Standards 2012–2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134,  
137 & 140]

1 Jan 2016

These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting Standard Annual 
Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial corrections. The 
Heritage Council has determined that the application of the Standard has no financial impact.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to 
AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]

1 Jan 2016

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure requirements in 
AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus amendments to address some of 
the concerns expressed about existing presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure 
entities are able to use judgement when applying a Standard in determining what information to 
disclose in their financial statements. There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party Disclosures to 
Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]

1 Jul 2016

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-profit public 
sector entities. Implementation guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-
for-profit public sector entities. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15 1 Jan 2017
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers so that AASB 15 is required to be applied for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2017. The Heritage Council has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 15.

AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 
10 & 128

1 Jan 2016

This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of amendments to AASB 10 
& 128 that were originally made in AASB 2014-10 so that the amendments are required to be 
applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 
2016. The Heritage Council has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
AASB 2014-10.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to 
AASB 107

1 Jan 2017

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to require disclosures 
that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. There is no 
financial impact.

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15 1 Jan 2018
This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, 
timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence, and, provides further transitional provisions 
to AASB 15. The Heritage Council has not yet determined the application or the potential impact.

AASB 2016-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Recoverable Amount of Non-Cash-
Generating Specialised Assets of Not-for-Profit Entities

1 Jan 2017

This Standard clarifies that the recoverable amount of primarily non-cash-generating assets of 
not-for-profit entities, which are typically specialised in nature and held for continuing use of their 
service capacity, is expected to be materially the same as fair value determined under AASB 
13 Fair Value Measurement. The Heritage Council has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 2015
$ $

6. Employee benefits expense
Salaries and wages(a) - -
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 11,373 10,987
Staff travel 12,482 13,118

23,855 24,105

(a)  Includes the value of the fringe benefit to employees plus the fringe benefits tax component and leave entitlements including superannuation 
contribution component.

(b)  Superannuation expense - defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB and other eligible funds. This relates to the 
expense for the Heritage Councillors and Committee members.

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance, are included at Note 9 ‘Other expenses’.

2016 2015
$ $

7. Supplies and services
General expenses 7,903 6,906
Communication expenses - 106
Consumable expenses 2,656 1,970
Service contracts 138,942 134,171

149,501 143,153

8. Grants and subsidies - grant recipients 
Grant recipients

Heritage Grants Program 1,273,000 1,264,128
Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Funds (81,919) 1,005,353

1,191,081 2,269,481



1 4 1 Heritage  Counci l  |  State  Her i tage  Off ice    1 4 1    Annual  Report  2015-16

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 2015
$ $

9. Other expenses
Employment on-costs - 4,104
Auditor General fees 8,937 17,800
Services rendered for free (a) - 3,097,566
Other expenses 3,819 (1,519)

12,756 3,117,951

(a)  SHO was funded through the Heritage Council until January 31, 2015 and this amount comprises the net expenditure processed through the 
Heritage Council during this period. 

2016 2015
$ $

10. Other revenue
Refund of Heritage Loan Subsidy Scheme Funds 384,480 -
Recoups 7,131 -

391,611 -
11. Income from State Government

Appropriation revenue received during the year:
Service appropriations (a) 1,461,000 6,359,000

1,461,000 6,359,000

Assets transferred from/(to) other State Government agencies during the period (b)

Inventories - 730,000
- 730,000

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset).

(b)  Discretionary transfers of assets (including grants) and liabilities between State Government agencies are reported under Income from State 
Government. Transfers of assets and liabilities in relation to a restructure of administrative arrangements are recognised as distribution to 
owners by the transferor and contribution by owners by the transferee under AASB 1004 in respect of net assets transferred. Other non 
discretionary non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities designated as contributions by owners under TI 955 are also recognised directly 
to equity.



1 4 2 Heritage  Counci l  |  State  Her i tage  Off ice    1 4 2    Annual  Report  2015-16

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 2015
$ $

12. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund (a) 920,409 1,177,851
Heritage Grants Program (b) 1,531,198 1,048,730
Refund of Heritage Loan Scheme Subsidy funds (c) 384,480 -
Capital funds - Heritage Works (d) 52,081 720,929

2,888,168 2,947,510

(a) Funds restricted for heritage grants awarded to the owners of properties in relation to the Goldfields earthquake damage of 2010.

(b) Funds restricted for heritage grants awarded to the owners of state listed heritage properties for conservation purposes.

(c)  The Heritage Loan Subsidy Scheme was terminated and the funds have been restricted with the understanding that the proceeds will be 
added to an existing or be applied to a future program that focuses on regional heritage. 

(d) Capital Funds restricted to the Heritage Revolving Fund.

2016 2015
$ $

13. Receivables
Current
Receivables 445 610
Allowance for impairment of receivables - -
GST receivable 98,635 46,783
Total current 99,080 47,393
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 2015
$ $

14. Inventories
Current 
Land and buildings held for resale(a)

Balance at the start of the year - -
Transfer from Land and buildings - held for resale (Non-Current) 730,000 -
Transfer from Work inprogress 1,992,986 -
Total Land and buildings for resale 2,722,986  

   
Total current 2,722,986 -

Non -Current 
Land and buildings - held for resale (b)

Balance at the start of the year 730,000 730,000
Transfer to Land and buildings for resale - current (730,000) -
Total Land and buildings for resale - 730,000

Work in progress (c)

Balance at the start of the year 279,071 -
Redevelopment expenditure 1,713,915 279,071
Transfer to Land and buildings for resale - current (1,992,986) -
Total Work in progress - 279,071

Total non-current - 1,009,071

(a)  The Warder's Cottages capital expenditure programme was completed in 2016 and the costs were transferred to current inventory to reflect 
their readiness for sale in the next 12 months. 

(b)  The Warder’s Cottages in Fremantle were transferred to the Heritage Council from the Department of Housing on 25 March 2015 for 
$730,000.

(c) The Heritage Revolving Fund is being utilised to renovate the Fremantle Warder’s Cottages.
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 2015
$ $

15. Other assets
Current
Prepayments 733 750
Total current 733 750

16. Office equipment, computers and software
Computer hardware and office equipment
At cost - -
Accumulated depreciation - -

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of office equipment and computers, and furniture at the beginning and end of the reporting period are 
set out below:

2016

Office 
Equipment & 
Computers 

Total

Carrying amount at start of year - -
Additions - -
Disposals - -
Write Off - -
Depreciation/Amortisation - -
Carrying amount at end of year - -

2015

Office 
Equipment & 
Computers 

Total

Carrying amount at start of year 47,149 47,149
Disposals - Transfer to other agencies (47,149) (47,149)
Depreciation/Amortisation - -
Carrying amount at end of year - -
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 2015
$ $

17. Intangible assets
Work in progress
- SHOBiz - -

Software
- inHerit - -
Accumulated amortisation - -

- -

- -

2016 Software WIP Total 
Reconciliation:
Carrying amount at start of year - - -
Additions - - -
Transfers
Disposals
Write Off
Amortisation - - -
Carrying amount at end of year - - -

2015 Software WIP Total 
Reconciliation:
Carrying amount at start of year 362,543 1,567,799 1,930,342
Disposals - transfer to other agencies (362,543) (1,567,799) (1,930,342)
Amortisation - - -
Carrying amount at end of year - - -
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 2015
$ $

18. Payables
Trade payables 20,156 2,807
Accrued expenses 29,153 6,613

49,309 9,420
19. Grants payable

Heritage Grants Program 1,429,436 946,968
Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund 831,603 1,170,964

2,261,039 2,117,932
20. Equity

The Government holds the equity interest in the Heritage Council on behalf of the community. Equity 
represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Heritage Council. The asset revaluation surplus 
represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed equity
Balance at start of the period 1,000,000 1,993,450

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation 1,000,000 1,000,000
Total contributions by owners 1,000,000 1,000,000

Distributions to owners
Distribution of net assets to owners – State Heritage Office - (5,283,660)
Transfer - 3,290,210
Total distributions to owners - (1,993,450)
Balance at end of the period 2,000,000 1,000,000

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at start of the year 1,158,590 2,914,490
Result for the period 475,418 1,534,310

Distributions to owners
Transfer - (3,290,210)
Balance at end of the period 1,634,008 1,158,590

Total equity at end of the period 3,634,008 2,158,590
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 2015
$ $

21. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year, as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows, is reconciled to the related 
item in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 233,389 281,218
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (See Note 12) 2,888,168 2,947,510

3,121,557 3,228,728
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities.

Net cost of services (985,582) (5,554,690)

Non-cash items:
Resources received free of charge - 37,603
Doubtful debts expense - 1,098

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Receivables 165 290
Inventory - Warders Cottages (1,713,915) (279,071)
Current other assets - Prepayments 17 (750)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables(a) 39,889 (244,093)
Grants payable 143,107 235,011
Net GST receipts/(payments)(b) (51,852) (46,783)
Change in GST receivables/payables(c) - -
Net cash used in operating activities (2,568,171) (5,851,385)

(a)  Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase 
of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. Cash transactions.

(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

During and at the end of the reporting period, the Heritage Council had no financing facilities.
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2016 2015
$ $

22. Commitments
Capital expenditure commitments

Within 1 year(a) - 532,907
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - -
Later than 5 years - -

- 532,907

(a)  The 2015 Commitment relates to contracts awarded in relation to the refurbishment of the Warders Cottages less expenditure to  
30 June 2015.

23. Remuneration of Members of the Heritage Council and Senior Officers
Remuneration of Members of the Heritage Council

The number of members of the Heritage Council, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the 
financial year, fall within the following bands are:

2016 2015
Number Number

$1 - $10,000 9 9
$10,001-$20,000 9 7
$20,001-$30,000 - 1

18 17

2016 2015
$ $

Base remuneration 121,721  116,389 
Other benefits - Superannuation 11,527  11,045 
Total remuneration of the Members of the Heritage Council is: 133,248 127,434

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by the Heritage Council in respect of members of the 
Heritage Council.

No members of the Heritage Council are members of the Pension Scheme.
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24. Remuneration of Auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Auditing of accounts, financial statements and performance indicators 7,600 7,500
7,600 7,500

25. Explanatory statement
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2016, and between the actual results for 2016 and 2015 are 
shown below. Narratives below are provided for key variations selected from observed major variances selected from observed major 
variances, which are generally greater than:

a) 5% and $30,000 for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows; and

b) 5% and $85,000 for the Statement of Financial Position.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

Variance 
Note

Original  
Budget 

2016

Actual
2016

Actual
2015

Variance between 
estimate and 
actual 2016

Variance between 
actual results for 

2016 and 2015
$ $ $ $ $

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 35,000 23,855 24,105 (11,145) (250)
Supplies and services 136,000 149,501 143,153 13,501 6,348
Grants and subsidies - grant recipients 1, A 1,273,000 1,191,081 2,269,481 (81,919) (1,078,400)
Other expenses B 17,000 12,756 3,117,951 (4,244) (3,105,195)
Total cost of services 1,461,000 1,377,193 5,554,690 (83,807) (4,177,497)

(a) The increase is due to GERF funding for Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund to be paid in subsequent years.

Income
Revenue
Other revenue 2, C - 391,611 - 391,611 391,611

- 391,611 - 391,611 391,611

Total income other than income from  
State Government - 391,611 - 391,611 391,611

NET COST OF SERVICES 1,461,000 985,582 5,554,690 (475,418) (4,569,108)
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

25. Explanatory statement continued

Statement of Comprehensive Income continued

Variance 
Note

Original  
Budget 

2016

Actual
2016

Actual
2015

Variance between 
estimate and 
actual 2016

Variance between 
actual results for 

2016 and 2015
$ $ $ $ $

Income from State Government
Service appropriation D 1,461,000 1,461,000 6,359,000 - (4,898,000)
Assets transferred E - - 730,000 - (730,000)
Total income from State Government 1,461,000 1,461,000 7,089,000 - (5,628,000)

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD - 475,418 1,534,310 475,418 (1,058,892)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 
THE PERIOD - 475,418 1,534,310 475,418 (1,058,892)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents  250,000  233,390  281,218 (16,610) (47,828)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3  1,984,000  2,888,167  2,947,510 904,167 (59,343)
Receivables 4  -  99,080  47,393 99,080 51,687
Inventory - land and buildings 5, F  -  2,722,986  - 2,722,986 2,722,986
Prepayments  -  733  750 733 (17)
Total Current Assets  2,234,000  5,944,356  3,276,871  3,710,356  2,667,485 

Non-Current Assets
Inventory - land and buildings 5, F  2,000,000  -  1,009,071 (2,000,000) (1,009,071)
Total Non-Current Assets  2,000,000  -  1,009,071  (2,000,000)  (1,009,071)

TOTAL ASSETS  4,234,000  5,944,356  4,285,942  1,710,356  1,658,414 
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

25. Explanatory statement continued 

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

2016

Actual
2016

Actual
2015

Variance between 
estimate and 
actual 2016

Variance between 
actual results for 

2016 and 2015
Statement of Financial Position continued $ $ $ $ $
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables  -  49,309  9,420 49,309 39,889
Grants payable 6, G  2,000,000  2,261,039  2,117,932 261,039 143,107
Total Current Liabilities  2,000,000  2,310,348  2,127,352  310,348  182,996 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  2,000,000  2,310,348  2,127,352  310,348  182,996 

NET ASSETS  2,234,000  3,634,008  2,158,590  1,400,008  1,475,418 

EQUITY
Contributed equity 7, H  3,003,000  2,000,000  1,000,000 (1,003,000) 1,000,000
Accumulated surplus 8, I  (769,000)  1,634,008  1,158,590 2,403,008 475,418
TOTAL EQUITY  2,234,000  3,634,008  2,158,590  1,400,008  1,475,418 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation J 1,461,000 1,461,000 6,200,000 - (4,739,000)
Capital appropriation 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 - -
Transfer to owners – State Heritage Office - - (3,172,934) - 3,172,934
Net cash provided by State Government 2,461,000 2,461,000 4,027,066 - (1,566,066)
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

25. Explanatory statement continued 

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

2016

Actual
2016

Actual
2015

Variance between 
estimate and 
actual 2016

Variance between 
actual results for 

2016 and 2015
$ $ $ $ $

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Employee benefits expense K (26,000) (23,855) (101,148) 2,145 77,293
Services and supplies L (138,000) (109,595) (341,408) 28,405 231,813
Grants and subsidies - grant recipients 9, M (1,273,000) (1,047,974) (2,034,470) 225,026 986,496
GST payments on purchases 10, N - (252,506) (323,790) (252,506) 71,284
Purchase of inventory 11, O (1,713,915) (279,071) (1,713,915) (1,434,844)
Other payments (24,000) (12,756) (20,385) 11,244 7,629
Other payments paid on behalf of  
State Heritage Office

- - (3,135,170) - 3,135,170

Receipts
GST receipts on sales - - 2,082 - (2,082)
GST receipts from taxation authority 12, P - 200,654 381,685 200,654 (181,031)
Other receipts 13, Q - 391,776 290 391,776 391,486
Net cash used in operating activities (1,461,000) (2,568,171) (5,851,385) (1,107,171) 3,283,214

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets 11 (1,000,000) - - 1,000,000 -

Receipts
Net cash used in investing activities (1,000,000) - - 1,000,000 -

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents - (107,171) (1,824,320)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 
of the period

2,234,000 3,228,728 5,053,048

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF THE PERIOD 2,234,000 3,121,557 3,228,728



1 5 3 Heritage  Counci l  |  State  Her i tage  Off ice    1 5 3    Annual  Report  2015-16
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

25. Explanatory statement continued

Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives 

1)  Several Goldfields Earthquake Restoration grants were finalised under budget.
2)  Unanticipated refund of Heritage Loan Scheme Subsidy funds when the scheme was wound up during 2015-16.
3)  The Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund still has commitments of $920,409 to be paid.
4)  GST receivable was higher than anticipated due to receipt of large invoice payments at the end of the financial year. 
5)  Inventory has been reclassified from non-current to current to reflect potential sale in the next twelve months.
6)  The Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund still has commitments of $920,409 to be paid.
7)  Difference is a result of machinery of government changes between Heritage Council and State Heritage Office in 2014-15.
8)  Difference is a result of machinery of government changes between Heritage Council and State Heritage Office in 2014-15.
9)  Several Goldfields Earthquake Restoration grants were finalised under budget.
10)  2016 Estimates were based upon net zero GST impact which did not eventuate.
11)  Variance due to the revised classification of Warders Cottages as purchase of inventory for resale rather than purchase of non-current physical 

asset. 
13)  Unanticipated refund of Heritage Loan Scheme Subsidy funds as a result of the scheme being wound up during 2015-16.

Major Actual (2016) and Comparative (2015) Variance Narratives 

A)  The Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund was fully committed in 2015. Only Heritage Grants Program was awarded in 2016.
B)  2015 was higher as a result of the machinery of government changes adjustments between the Heritage Council and the State Heritage 

Office.
C)  Refund of Heritage Loan Scheme Subsidy funds as a result of the scheme being wound up.
D)  2016 was higher due to the unanticipated refund of Heritage Loan Scheme Subsidy funds which was terminated during 2015-16.
E)  No assets were transferred in during 2015-16.
F)   Finalisation of capital works in 2016 resulting in the Warder’s Cottages inventory being completed ready for sale in 2016-17.
G)  Fewer grant payments were paid in 2016 resulting in greater grant liability at year end.
H)  $1,000,000 additional capital equity contribution received in 2016.
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

25. Explanatory statement continued

I)  Higher surplus due to refund of Heritage Loan Subsidy Scheme funds. 
J)  2015 higher as a result of the machinery of government changes between the Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office.
K)  2016 higher as a result of the machinery of government changes between the Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office.
L)   2015 higher as a result of the machinery of government changes between the Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office.
M)  2016 lower due to most of the Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Grants being finalised in 2015.
N)  2015 was higher due to GST from the previous year being paid before the machinery of government changes were formalised.
O) Capital expenditure on Warders Cottages commenced later in 2014-15 compared with the full year expenditure programme in current year. 
P) 2015 was higher due to GST from the previous year being paid before the machinery of government changes were formalised.
Q) 2016 high due to the one off unanticipated refund of Heritage Loan Scheme Subsidy funds.

2016 2015
$ $

26. Supplementary financial information
Bad debts written off - 1,098

- 1,098

27. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
The Heritage Council has no significant contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at the reporting date.

28. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
No information has become apparent since the end of the reporting period which would materially affect the financial statements.
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

29. Financial instrument disclosures
(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial instruments held by the Heritage Council are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, receivables and payables. The Heritage 
Council has limited exposure to financial risks. The Heritage Council’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks 
identified below.

Credit risk
The Heritage Council trades only with recognised creditworthy third parties. The Heritage Council has policies in place to ensure that sales of 
products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 
basis with the result that the Heritage Council’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
The Heritage Council has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash 
flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk
The Heritage Council does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks.

Cash flow interest rate risk 
The risk is managed by Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) through portfolio diversification and variation in maturity dates. 
Otherwise, the Heritage Council is not exposed to interest rate risk because cash and cash equivalents are non-interest bearing and there are 
no borrowings.

(b) Categories of financial instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:

2016 2015
  $ $
Financial assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 233,389 281,218
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,888,168 2,947,510
Receivables(a) 445 610
     

Financial liabilities    
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 2,261,039 2,117,932

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016

26. Financial istrument disclosures continued
(c) Financial instrument disclosures
The Heritage Council does not have any financial assets or liabilities subject to interest rate sensitivity.

Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at 
amounts that represent reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

Credit risk
The following table discloses the Heritage Council’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Heritage Council’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the 
ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to the Heritage 
Council.

The Heritage Council does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.

 Ageing analysis of financial assets
Carrying 
Amount

Not past 
due and not 

Impaired

Past due but not impaired Impaired 
Financial 
Assets 

Up to  
1 month

1-3 months 3 months to 
1 Year

1-5  
Years

More than  
5 Years

Financial Assets  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $ 
2016
Cash and cash equivalents 233,389 233,389 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and  
 cash equivalents

2,888,168 2,888,168 - - - - - -

Receivables (a) 445 - - - - 445 - -
3,122,002 3,121,557 - - - 445 - -

2015
Cash and cash equivalents 281,218 281,218 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and  
 cash equivalents

2,947,510 2,947,510 - - - - - -

Receivables (a) 610 - - - - 610 - -
3,229,338 3,228,728 - - - 610 - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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26. Financial instrument disclosures continued

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the contractual maturity for financial liabilities. The table includes interest and principal cash flows. An adjustment has been made 
where material.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities (a)

Interest Rate Exposure Maturity date
Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 

Carrying 
Amount

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate

Variable 
Interest 

Rate

Non 
Interest 
Bearing

Nominal 
Amount

Up to  
1 month

1-3 
Months 

3 months 
to 1 Year

1-5 Years More 
than  

5 Years

2016 %  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $ 
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 0.00% 233,389 233,389 233,389 - - - - -
 Restricted cash and  
 cash equivalents 0.00% 2,888,168 2,888,168 2,888,168 - - - - -
Receivables 0.00% 445 445 445 - - - 445 -

3,122,022 - - 3,122,022 3,122,002 - - - 445 -
Financial Liabilities
Payables 0.00% 49,309 49,309 49,309 49,309 - - - -
Grants payable (b) 0.00% 2,261,039 2,261,039 2,261,039 180,000 425,000 1,656,039 - -

2,310,348 - - 2,310,348 2,310,348 229,309 425,000 1,656,039 - -
2015
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 0.00% 281,218 - - 281,218 281,218 - - - - -
 Restricted cash and  
 cash equivalents 0.00% 2,947,510 - - 2,947,510 2,947,510 - - - - -
Receivables 0.00% 610 - - - 610 - - - 610 -

3,229,338 - - 3,228,728 3,229,338 - - - 610 -
Financial Liabilities
Payables 0.00% 9,420 9,420 9,420 9,420 -
Grants payable (b) 0.00% 2,117,932 2,117,932 2,117,932 50,000 500,000 1,567,932 -

2,127,352 - - 2,127,352 2,127,352 59,420 500,000 1,567,932 - -
(a) The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liability at the end of the reporting period.
(b) Grant amounts remaining outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are subject to grant agreements with recipients with an average grant 
period of two years. Grants payments are generally made progressively over the period.
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016
9.0 Financial Statements – State Heritage Office

Certification of Financial Statements

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of the State Heritage Office have been prepared in compliance with the 
provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2016 and the financial position as at 30 June 2016.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate.

Graeme Gammie 
Executive Director 
Department of the State Heritage Office

12 August 2016

Christopher Johnson 
Chief Finance Officer 
Department of the State Heritage Office

12 August 2016
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016
9.1 Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

9.2 Financial Statements  
Statement of Comprehensive Income

Note 2016 2015

  $ $
COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6 6,172,029 3,344,052
Supplies and services 7 3,954,389 1,890,575
Accommodation expense 8 1,497,329 597,430
Grants and subsidies 9 269,772 269,736
Depreciation and amortisation expense 10 777,157 272,010
Other expenses 11 1,772,318 79,721
Total cost of services 14,442,994 6,453,524

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 12 3,306,265 29,776
Sales 13 310,724 -
Other revenue 14 587,250 3,109
Total revenue 4,204,239 32,885

Total income other than income from State Government 4,204,239 32,885

NET COST OF SERVICES 10,238,755 6,420,639

Income from State Government 15
Service appropriation 8,632,000 1,941,000
Services received free of charge 334,359 3,446,117
Total income from State Government 8,966,359 5,387,117

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (1,272,396) (1,033,522)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss - -
Changes in asset revaluation surplus - -
Gains/(Losses) recognised directly in equity - -
Total other comprehensive income - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 27 (1,272,396) (1,033,522)

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016
Statement of Financial Position

Note 2016 2015
  $ $

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 28  2,697,759  1,483,353 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16, 28  750,000  855,000 
Receivables 17  140,323  121,560 
Amounts receivable for services 18  34,000  20,000 
Inventories 19  73,206  - 
Other current assets 20  13,516  56,217 
Total Current Assets  3,708,804  2,536,130 

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services 18  1,609,000  921,000 
Property, plant and equipment 21  27,817,134  27,904 
Intangible assets 23  1,381,969  1,851,191 
Total Non-Current Assets  30,808,103  2,800,095 

TOTAL ASSETS  34,516,907  5,336,225 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 25  318,231  340,959 
Provisions 26  1,161,871  542,199 
Total Current Liabilities  1,480,102  883,158 

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 26  304,041  202,929 
Total Non-Current Liabilities  304,041  202,929 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,784,143  1,086,087 

NET ASSETS  32,732,764  4,250,138 

EQUITY 27
Contributed equity  35,038,682  5,283,660 
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)  (2,305,918)  (1,033,522)
TOTAL EQUITY  32,732,764  4,250,138 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016
Statement of Changes in Equity

Note Contributed 
equity

Reserves Accumulated 
(surplus / 

deficit)

Total equity

$ $ $ $
Balance at 1 July 2014 27 - - - -

Surplus/(Deficit) 2(u) - - (1,033,522) (1,033,522)
Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the period - - (1,033,522) (1,033,522)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations - - - -
Other contributions by owners 5,283,660 - 5,283,660
Distributions to owners - - - -

Total 5,283,660 - - 5,283,660
       

Balance at 30 June 2015 2(u) 5,283,660 - (1,033,522) 4,250,138

Balance at 1 July 2015 5,283,660 - (1,033,522) 4,250,138
Surplus/(Deficit) - - (1,272,396) (1,272,396)
Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the period - - (1,272,396) (1,272,396)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations - - -
Other contributions by owners 29,755,022 - - 29,755,022
Distributions from owners - - - -

Total 29,755,022 - - 29,755,022

Balance at 30 June 2016 35,038,682 - (2,305,918) 32,732,764

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016
Statement of Cash Flows

Note 2016 2015
  $ $

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation 7,896,000 1,819,000
Capital appropriation - -
Transfer from owners – Department of Finance 95,400 3,172,934
Holding account drawdowns 34,000 -
Net cash provided by State Government 8,025,400 4,991,934

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Employee benefits (5,508,507) (1,276,156)
Supplies and services (3,537,543) (675,522)
Accommodation (1,497,329) (239,336)
Grants and subsidies - other (269,772) (207,488)
GST payments on purchases (528,226) (114,285)
GST payments to taxation authority (45,596) -
Other payments (283,067) (110,133)

Receipts
Sales 310,724 -
User charges and fees 3,230,072 17,996
GST receipts on sales 417,790 1,989
GST receipts from taxation authority 208,210 1,348
Other receipts 587,250 1,264
Net cash used in operating activities 28 (6,915,994) (2,600,323)
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Statement of Cash Flows continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

Note 2016 2015
  $ $

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets - -
Intangible assets - development costs - (53,258)

Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets - -
Net cash used in investing activities - (53,258)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 1,109,406 2,338,353
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 2,338,353 -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 28 3,447,759 2,338,353

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016
Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service

  Cultural Heritage Conservation Community Engagement in 
Cultural Heritage

Total

  2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
  $ $ $ $ $ $
COST OF SERVICES
             

Expenses            
Employee benefits expense 3,578,938 3,344,052 2,593,091 - 6,172,029 3,344,052
Supplies and services 2,947,871 1,890,575 1,006,518 - 3,954,389 1,890,575
Accommodation expense 652,388 597,430 844,941 - 1,497,329 597,430
Grants and subsidies 261,272 269,736 8,500 - 269,772 269,736
Depreciation and amortisation expense 484,141 272,010 293,016 - 777,157 272,010
Other expenses 107,496 79,721 1,664,822 - 1,772,318 79,721
Total cost of services 8,032,106 6,453,524 6,410,888 - 14,442,994 6,453,524

Income            
Revenue            
User charges and fees 25,795 29,776 3,280,470 - 3,306,265 29,776
Sales - - 310,724 - 310,724 -
Other revenue 14,849 3,109 572,401 - 587,250 3,109
Total revenue 40,644 32,885 4,163,595 - 4,204,239 32,885

Total income other than income  
from State Government 40,644 32,885 4,163,595 - 4,204,239 32,885

NET COST OF SERVICES 7,991,462 6,420,639 2,247,293 - 10,238,755 6,420,639
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Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

  Cultural Heritage Conservation Community Engagement in 
Cultural Heritage

Total

  2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
  $ $ $ $ $ $
Income from State Government            
Service appropriation 7,767,000 1,941,000 865,000 - 8,632,000 1,941,000
Services received free of charge 334,359 3,446,117 - - 334,359 3,446,117
Total income from State Government 8,101,359 5,387,117 865,000 - 8,966,359 5,387,117

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 109,897 (1,033,522) (1,382,293) - (1,272,396) (1,033,522)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME            
Items not reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss

- - - - - -

Changes in asset revaluation surplus - - - - - -
Gains/(Losses) recognised directly in 
equity

- - - - - -

Total other comprehensive income - - - - - -
             

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE PERIOD 109,897 (1,033,522) (1,382,293) - (1,272,396) (1,033,522)

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note: Corporate Services support is provided by Cultural Heritage Conservation to the Community Engagement in Cultural Heritage service.
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016
Schedule of Assets and Liability by Service

  Cultural Heritage Conservation Community Engagement in 
Cultural Heritage

Total

  2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
  $ $ $ $ $ $
Assets            
Current assets 3,406,803 2,536,130 302,001 - 3,708,804 2,536,130
Non-current assets 3,005,837 2,800,095 27,802,266 - 30,808,103 2,800,095
Total Assets 6,412,640 5,336,225 28,104,267 - 34,516,907 5,336,225
             

Liabilities            
Current liabilities 916,343 883,158 563,759 - 1,480,102 883,158
Non-current liabilities 105,288 202,929 198,753 - 304,041 202,929
Total Liabilities 1,021,631 1,086,087 762,512 - 1,784,143 1,086,087

NET ASSETS 5,391,009 4,250,138 27,341,755 - 32,732,764 4,250,138

The Schedule of Assets and Liability by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016
Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates

  2016 2016   2016 2015  
  Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance
  $ $ $ $ $ $
Delivery of Services            
Item 0 Net amount appropriated to deliver 
services

8,393,000 8,393,000 - 8,393,000 1,941,000 6,452,000

             
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes            
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 239,000 239,000 - 239,000 - 239,000
             

GRAND TOTAL 8,632,000 8,632,000 - 8,632,000 1,941,000 6,691,000
             

Details of Expenses by Service            
Cultural Heritage Conservation 13,569,000 8,032,106 (5,536,894) 8,032,106 6,453,524 1,578,582
Community Engagement in Cultural 
Heritage - 6,410,888 6,410,888 6,410,888 - 6,410,888
Total Cost of Services 13,569,000 14,442,994 873,994 14,442,994 6,453,524 7,989,470
Less Total Income 4,578,000 4,204,239 (373,761) 4,204,239 32,885 4,171,354
Net Cost of Services 8,991,000 10,238,755 1,247,755 10,238,755 6,420,639 3,818,116
Adjustments (359,000) (1,606,755) (1,247,755) (1,606,755) (4,479,639) 2,872,884
Total Appropriations provided to 
deliver services 8,632,000 8,632,000 - 8,632,000 1,941,000 6,691,000

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as services received free of charge, receivables, payables and 
superannuation. Note 32 ’Explanatory statement’ provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2016 and 
between the actual results for 2016 and 2015.
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016
Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Australian Accounting Standards
General

The Department of the State Heritage Office's (State Heritage 
Office) financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2016 have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards. The term 'Australian Accounting 
Standards' refers to Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).

The State Heritage Office has adopted any applicable, new 
and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their 
operative dates.

Early adoption of standards

The State Heritage Office cannot early adopt an Australian 
Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 
1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Other Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption 
of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or 
amended (but not operative) by the State Heritage Office for 
the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2016.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) General statement

The State Heritage Office is a not-for-profit reporting entity 
that prepares general purpose financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the 
Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the 
Treasurer's Instructions. Several of these are modified by the 
Treasurer's Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format 
and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer's 
Instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the 
preparation of financial statements and take precedence 
over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or 
significant financial effect upon the reported results, details 
of that modification and the resulting financial effect are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting using the historical cost convention 
except for land, buildings and infrastructure which have been 
measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 
the financial statements have been consistently applied 
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars.

Note 3 'Judgements made by management in applying 
accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been 
made in the process of applying the State Heritage Office's 
accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 'Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses 
key assumptions made concerning the future and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the State Heritage Office only 
as it has no related bodies.

Mission

The State Heritage Office's mission is to work with Western 
Australians to recognise, conserve, adapt and celebrate our 
State's unique cultural heritage.

The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary 
appropriations. It also receives income from visitor admissions 
and sales from Fremantle Prison which it operates as a 
heritage facility. 

Service 1

Cultural Heritage Conservation Services on behalf of or under 
the direction of the Heritage Council of Western Australia

These services include establishment and maintenance 
of a Heritage Register, provision of conservation advice 
on development referrals, assist public authorities in their 
conservation and management of heritage places, provide 
financial assistance and other conservation incentives. 

Service 2

Community Engagement in Cultural Heritage 

This service includes the management of Fremantle Prison as 
a premier heritage site. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made 
to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in 
the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated 
by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at 
the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be 
recognised as equity contributions.

Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions 
by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners Made to 
Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited 
directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than 
as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are 
designated as contributions by owners where the transfers 
are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

(e) Income
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable. The following specific 
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognised for the following major business activities as 
follows:

Sale of Goods 

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal 
of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured 
reliably.

Provision of services

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of 
completion of the transaction.

Service Appropriations

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair 
value in the period in which the State Heritage Office gains 
control of the appropriated funds. The State Heritage Office 
gains control of appropriated funds at the time those funds 
are deposited to the bank account or credited to the amounts 
receivable for services (holding account) held at Treasury. 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal 
contributions

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the State Heritage 
Office obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions 
by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of 
services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would be purchased if not 
donated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Gains

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net 
basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-
current assets.

(f) Property, plant and equipment
Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Items of property, plant and equipment, computers costing 
$5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful 
lives. Items of property, plant and equipment costing less than 
$5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a 
group of similar items which are significant in total). 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no 
cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date 
of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation 
model is used for the measurement of land, buildings and 
infrastructure and historical cost for all other property, plant 
and equipment. Land, buildings and infrastructure are carried 
at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings and 
infrastructure only) and accumulated impairment losses. 
All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated 

at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value 
of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current 
market values determined by reference to recent market 
transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to 
recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and 
the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of 
land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing 
use. This normally applies where buildings are specialised 
or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use 
buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing 
the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the 
asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the 
fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated 
replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the 
accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately. Fair 
value for restricted use land is determined by comparison 
with market evidence for land with similar approximate utility 
(high restricted use land) or market value of comparable 
unrestricted land (low restricted use land).

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by 
the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation 
Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying 
amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at 
the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(f) Property, plant and equipment continued

The most significant assumptions and judgements in 
estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply 
the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated 
economic life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required 
where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction 
between market type assets and existing use assets.

Asset revaluation surplus

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments 
and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets on a 
class of assets basis.

Depreciation

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are 
systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives 
in a manner which reflects the consumption of their future 
economic benefits. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, 
using rates that are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives 
for each class of depreciable asset are:

Buildings up to 100 years
Computers 3 Years
Office equipment 2 to 4 years
Software (a) 5 years

(a)  Software that is integral to the operation of related 
hardware.

Land is not depreciated.

(g) Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more 
and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 
or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is 
expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred 
below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets 
acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair 
value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is 
calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated 
useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line 
basis. Intangible assets controlled by the State Heritage Office 
have a finite useful life and zero residual value.

The expected useful lives for the class of intangible asset is:

Software(a) 3 to 5 Years

Licences up to 5 years

Website up to 5 years

(a)  Software that is not integral to the operation of any related 
hardware.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(g) Intangible assets continued

Licences

Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Development costs

Development costs incurred for an individual project are 
carried forward when the future economic benefits can 
reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project 
costs are likely to exceed $50,000. Other development costs 
are expensed as incurred.

Computer software

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is 
recognised as office equipment and computers. Software that 
is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised 
as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is 
expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website costs

Website costs are charged as expenses when they are 
incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development 
of an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. 
Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during 
the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of 
maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. 
Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website that can 
be reliably measured, are capitalised to the extent that they 
represent probable future economic benefits.

(h) Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are 
tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, 
the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable 
amount and an impairment loss is recognised. Where an asset 
measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, 
an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where 
a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable 
amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement 
in other comprehensive income. As the State Heritage Office 
is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been 
identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated 
replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances 
where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where 
the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed 
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/
amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration 
of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any 
impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible 
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at 
the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there 
is any indication of impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(i) Leases
The State Heritage Office holds operating leases for motor 
vehicles and office premises. Lease payments are expensed 
on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents 
the pattern of benefits derived from the leases. (See Note 29 
'Commitments').

(j) Financial instruments 
In addition to cash, the State Heritage Office has two 
categories of financial instrument: 

 ■ Receivables; and 
 ■ Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the 
following classes:

 ■ Financial Assets
 ■  Cash and cash equivalents 
 ■  Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
 ■  Receivables
 ■  Amounts receivable for services

 ■ Financial Liabilities 
 ■  Payables 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments 
is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost 
or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the 
transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest 
rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required 
as the effect of discounting is not material.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, Cash and 
cash equivalents (and Restricted cash and cash equivalents) 
assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with 
original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject 
to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

(l) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see Note 25 'Payables') represent the 
amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial 
year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the 
financial year end. The State Heritage Office considers the 
carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net 
fair value.

(m) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The State Heritage Office receives income from the State 
Government partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding 
account receivable). The holding account receivable balance, 
resulting from service appropriation funding, is accessible 
on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover 
leave entitlements and asset replacement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(n) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Costs are assigned by the method most 
appropriate for each particular class of inventory, with the 
majority being measured on a first in first out basis.

(o) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at the original invoice amount less 
an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. Impairment). 
The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are 
written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for 
uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is 
objective evidence that the State Heritage Office will not be 
able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to 
fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. 

(p) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when 
the State Heritage Office becomes obliged to make future 
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. 
The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are 
generally settled within 30 days.

(q) Grants payable
Grants payable are recognised as the outstanding grant 
commitments due and payable at each reporting date. Grant 
funds are not released until grant recipient conditions are met. 

(r) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and 
are recognised where there is a present legal, equitable or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when 
the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is 
probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period.

Provisions - Employee benefits

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect 
of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period.

Annual leave

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 
months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore 
considered to be ‘other long-term employee benefits’. The 
annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the 
present value of amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to 
apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 
non-salary components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. The expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the end 
of the reporting period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(r) Provisions continued

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability 
as the State Heritage Office does not have an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the reporting period.

Long service leave

Long service leave that is not expected to be settled wholly 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is 
recognised and measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 
non-salary components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. The expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the end 
of the reporting period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as 
current liabilities as the State Heritage Office does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions 
are classified as non-current liabilities because the State 
Heritage Office has an unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability until the employee has completed 
the requisite years of service.

Purchased leave

The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service 
employees who have entered into an agreement to self-
fund up to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year. 
The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for 
employees and is measured at the undiscounted amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) 
and other funds administer public sector superannuation 
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with 
legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in 
particular schemes for public employees varies according to 
commencement and implementation dates. 

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a 
defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members 
since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme 
(GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new 
members since 1995.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(r) Provisions continued

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 
who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the 
GSS became non-contributory members of the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing 
employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of 
the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, 
existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees 
became able to choose their preferred superannuation fund. 
The State Heritage Office makes concurrent contributions to 
GESB or other funds on behalf of employees in compliance 
with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation 
Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these 
accumulation schemes extinguish the State Heritage Office's 
liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees 
who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of 
employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it 
is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because 
the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by 
the State Heritage Office to GESB extinguishes the agency’s 
obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The State Heritage Office has no liabilities under the Pension 
or the GSS Schemes. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension 
Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable 
to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, 

are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are 
funded by concurrent contributions made by the Department 
of State Heritage Office to the GESB. 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the 
Pension and GSS Schemes, and is recouped by the 
Treasurer for the employer's share.

Provisions - other 

Employment on-costs

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation 
insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised 
separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment 
to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are 
included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included 
as part of the State Heritage Office’s Employee benefits 
expense. The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-
costs provision’.

(s) Superannuation expense
Superannuation expense is recognised in the profit or loss 
of the Statement of Comprehensive Income and comprises 
employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent 
contributions), the WSS, the GESBS, or other superannuation 
funds. The employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect 
of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the 
GESB.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(t) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal 
cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost, 
that the State Heritage Office would otherwise purchase if 
not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the 
assets or services where they can be reliably measured. A 
corresponding expense is recognised for services received. 
Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government 
agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State 
Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(u) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be 
comparable with the figures presented in the current financial 
year.

3. Judgements made by management in applying 
accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management 
to make judgements about the application of accounting 
policies that have a significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. The State Heritage 
Office evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitments 

The State Heritage Office has entered into a lease for 
buildings for office accommodation. This lease relates to 
buildings of a temporary nature and it has been determined 
that the lessor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership. Accordingly, this lease has been 
classified as an operating lease.

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are 
based on historical experience and various other factors 
that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

Long service leave

Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the 
State Heritage Office's long service leave provision include 
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee 
retention rates and expected future payments. Changes 
in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the 
carrying amount of the long service leave provision.
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial Application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The State Heritage Office has applied the following Australian Accounting standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2015 that impacted on the Department.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial 
Instruments
Part C of this Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The application date of AASB 9 was 
subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. The State Heritage Office has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2014-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) – Application of 
AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 2010)]
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) and AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments (December 2010), arising from the issuance of AASB 9 Financial Instruments in December 2014.  
The State Heritage Office has not yet determined he application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality
This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations, allowing that Standard to effectively be withdrawn. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector 
Entities [AASB 13]
This Standard relieves not-for-profit public sector entities from the reporting burden associated with various 
disclosures required by AASB 13 for assets within the scope of AASB 116 that are held primarily for their current 
service potential rather than to generate future net cash inflows. It has no financial impact.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The State Heritage Office cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application 
of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. By virtue of a limited exemption, the State Heritage Office has 
early adopted AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public 
Sector Entities. Where applicable, the State Heritage Office plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards from their 
application date.

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/
after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 Jan 2018
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being amended 
by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards. The State Heritage Office has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 Jan 2018
This Standard establishes the principles that the State Heritage Office shall apply to report useful 
information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of 
revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. The State Heritage Office has not 
yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 16 Leases 1 Jan 2019
This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise 
assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset 
is of low value. The State Heritage Office has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/
after

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards 1 Jan 2016
This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and Interpretation), 
grouped where they are the same. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2010-7
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) 
[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

1 Jan 2018

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. 
The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6 and AASB 
2014-1 to 1 January 2018. The State Heritage Office has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 1 Jan 2018
Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential amendments to other 
Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the State Heritage Office to determine the application 
or potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests 
in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & 11] 1 Jan 2016

The State Heritage Office establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and does 
not routinely acquire interests in Joint Operations. Therefore, there is no financial impact on 
application of the Standard.
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/
after

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138] 1 Jan 2016

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the State Heritage Office as depreciation 
and amortisation is not determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to 
consumption of future economic benefits. 

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 1 Jan 2018
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The mandatory application date 
of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8 to 1 January 2018. The State Heritage 
Office has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) 1 Jan 2018
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The State 
Heritage Office has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity Method in Separate Financial 
Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 128] 1 Jan 2016

This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends AASB 1 and AASB 128, to allow 
entities to use the equity method of accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates in their separate financial statements. The State Heritage Office has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/
after

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 & 128] 1 Jan 2016

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency between the 
requirements in AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011), in dealing with the sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The State Heritage 
Office has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2015-1
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian 
Accounting Standards 2012–2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 
& 140]

1 Jan 2016

These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting Standard Annual 
Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial corrections. The 
State Heritage Office has determined that the application of the Standard has no financial impact.

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to 
AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049] 1 Jan 2016

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure requirements in 
AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus amendments to address some of 
the concerns expressed about existing presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure 
entities are able to use judgement when applying a Standard in determining what information to 
disclose in their financial statements. There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party Disclosures to 
Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049] 1 Jul 2016

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-profit public 
sector entities. Implementation guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-
for-profit public sector entities. There is no financial impact.
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/
after

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15 1 Jan 2017
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers so that AASB 15 is required to be applied for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2017. The State Heritage Office has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 15.

AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 
10 & 128 1 Jan 2016

This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of amendments to AASB 10 
& 128 that were originally made in AASB 2014-10 so that the amendments are required to be 
applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 
2016. The State Heritage Office has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
AASB 2014-10.

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to 
AASB 107 1 Jan 2017

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to require disclosures 
that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. There is no 
financial impact.

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15 1 Jan 2018
This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, 
timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence, and, provides further transitional provisions 
to AASB 15. The State Heritage has not yet determined the application or the potential impact.
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

2016 2015
6. Employee benefits expense $ $

Salaries and wages(a) 5,630,076 3,046,917
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 512,688 278,900
Staff travel 29,265 18,235

6,172,029 3,344,052

(a)  Includes the value of the fringe benefit to employees plus the fringe benefits tax component and leave entitlements including superannuation 
contribution component. 

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance, are included at Note 11 ‘Other expenses’.

Employment on-costs’ liability is included in Note 26 ‘Provisions’.

2016 2015
7. Supplies and services $ $

General expenses 213,803 65,781
Communication expenses 196,229 89,819
Service contracts 2,808,151 1,538,223
Consumable expenses 213,326 111,780
Minor equipment acquisitions 102,650 29,971
Advertising 420,230 55,001
  3,954,389 1,890,575

8. Accommodation expense
  Lease rentals 573,283 551,481
  Repairs and maintenance - buildings 582,575 2,395
  Other property costs 341,471 43,554
  1,497,329 597,430
 

9. Grants and subsidies - other 
  Cossack 120,000 120,000
  Local government grants 105,795 113,736
  Education and promotion 43,977 36,000
  269,772 269,736
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  2016 2015
10. Depreciation and amortisation expense $ $
  Depreciation
  Buildings 293,016 -

Plant and equipment 14,919 19,245
Total depreciation 307,935 19,245

Amortisation
Intangible assets 469,222 252,765
Total amortisation 469,222 252,765

   
Total depreciation and amortisation 777,157 272,010

 
11. Other expenses
 
  Employment on-costs (a) [refer Note 6] 91,045 56,965
  Audit fees 47,329 22,756
  Revaluation decrement - Land and buildings (b) [refer Note 21] 1,474,784 -
  Inventory purchases 159,160 -
  1,772,318 79,721
 

 

(a)  Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual 
and long service leave liabilities is included at Note 26 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are 
employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

(b)  There is no revaluation surplus available so the entire decrement arising from the 2016 revaluation of Fremantle Prison buildings has been 
recognised as an expense in the current financial year.

2016 2015
12. User charges and fees $ $

Fremantle Prison entry fees 3,177,202 -
Fremantle Prison functions 103,267 -
Training courses 13,624 17,650
inContact registrations 12,032 12,036
Other 140 90

3,306,265 29,776
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  2016 2015
13. Trading profit $ $

Sales 310,724 -
Cost of sales:
Opening inventory - -
Purchases (159,160) -
Fremantle Prison inventory transferred from Department of Finance (87,673) -
  (246,833) -
Closing inventory 73,206 -
Cost of goods sold (173,627) -
Trading Profit 137,097 -
 

  See also Note 2(n) ‘Inventories’ and Note 19 ‘Inventories’. 
 

14. Other revenue
  Government vehicle scheme 1,087 3,089
  Office rental 435,754 -
  Rental expenditure recoups 82,490 -
  Car parking lease 54,157 -
  Other 13,762 20
  587,250 3,109
15. Income from State Government

Appropriation revenue received during the year:
Service appropriations (a) 8,632,000 1,941,000
Resources received free of charge

-  Grant from Heritage Council of Western Australia - 3,097,566
-  Legal fees 41,268 25,257

  -  Landgate - land information & valuation services - 23,960
-  Accommodation - leasing 9,262 8,838
-  Accommodation - fit out depreciation 241,406 241,416
-  Financial Management Information System 42,423 49,080

8,966,359 5,387,117

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset).

The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.
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2016 2015
16. Restricted cash and cash equivalents $ $

Current 
Heritage Revolving Fund (a) 750,000 750,000
Accrued salary suspense account (b) - 105,000

750,000 855,000

(a) Unspent funds that can only be used for the specific designated purpose of the Heritage Revolving Fund Program.

(b)  Amount held in the suspense account at Department of Treasury is only to be used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year 
that occurs every 11 years. The 27th pay was paid on 30 June 2016.

2016 2015
17. Receivables $ $
  Current
  Receivables 71,730 7,886
  Other Receivables - Accrued income 12,349 -
  GST receivable 56,244 113,674
  Total Current 140,323 121,560
 

18. Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
  Current 34,000 20,000
  Non-current 1,609,000 921,000
  1,643,000 941,000
 

 
Represents the non-cash component of services appropriations. See Note 2(m) ‘Amounts receivable for services (holding account)’. It is 
restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

2016 2015
19. Inventories $ $
  Current
  Inventory - Fremantle Prison Gift Shop 73,206 -
  Total Current 73,206 -
 

  See also Note 2(n) ‘Inventories’ and Note 13 ‘Trading profit’. 
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  2016 2015
20. Other current assets $ $
  Current
  Prepayments 13,516 56,217
  Total Current 13,516 56,217
 

21. Property, plant and equipment
  Land    
  At fair value 265,000 -
       

  Buildings    
  At fair value 27,811,919 -
  Accumulated depreciation (278,119) -
    27,533,800 -
   

  Office Equipment and Computers 
  At cost 52,498 47,149
  Accumulated depreciation (34,164) (19,245)
  18,334 27,904
     

  Total Property Plant & Equipment 27,817,134 27,904
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21. Property, plant and equipment continued

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of office equipment and computers, and furniture at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set 
out below:

Land Buildings Office 
Equipment & 
Computers 

Total

2016
Carrying amount at start of year - - 27,904 27,904
Transfers - from other agency 265,000 29,301,600 5,349 29,571,949
Depreciation - (293,016) (14,919) (307,935)
Less write back of accumulated depreciation (a) - 14,897 - 14,897

265,000 29,023,481 18,334 29,306,815
Revaluation (decrement) (a) - (1,489,681) - (1,489,681)
Carrying amount at end of year 265,000 27,533,800 18,334 27,817,134

2015
Carrying amount at start of year - - - -
Additions - - 47,149 47,149
Depreciation/Amortisation - - (19,245) (19,245)
Carrying amount at end of year - - 27,904 27,904

(a)  The net revaluation decrement of ($1,474,784) in the fair value of the Fremantle Prison buildings comprises the revaluation decrement of 
($1,489,681) plus the write-back in accumulated depreciation of $14,897. 

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 22 ‘Fair value measurements’.

22. Fair value measurements

Assets measured at fair value 
2016

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value at 
end of period

Land (Note 21) - 265,000 265,000
Buildings (Note 21) - 27,533,800 27,533,800

- - 27,798,800 27,798,800

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the current and previous periods.



1 9 3 Heritage  Counci l  |  State  Her i tage  Off ice    1 9 3    Annual  Report  2015-16

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

22. Fair value measurements continued

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) 
2016

Land Buildings 

Fair value at start of period - -
Transfers from other State Government agencies 265,000 29,301,600
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Profit or Loss - (1,474,784)
Depreciation expense - (293,016)
Fair value at end of period 265,000 27,533,800

Valuation processes
There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. Transfers are 
generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer's instructions require valuations of land, buildings and 
infrastructure to be categorised within Level 3 where the valuations will utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis.

Land (Level 3 fair values)

Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land). The relevant 
comparators of land with low level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and represents the 
application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation methodology. The fair value measurement is sensitive to values of comparator land, with 
higher values of comparator land correlating with higher estimated fair values of land.

Buildings and infrastructure (Level 3 fair values)

Fair value for existing use specialised buildings and infrastructure assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost is the current replacement cost 
of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired economic benefit, or 
obsolescence, and optimisation (where applicable) of the asset. Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference to the market 
observable replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project size specifications.

Valuation using depreciated replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input, consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset which is 
estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The fair value measurement is sensitive to the estimate of 
consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate correlating with lower estimated fair values of buildings and infrastructure.
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22. Fair value measurements continued

Basis of valuation
In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non-financial assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the 
fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their use and 
disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver 
a specific community service.

Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements

Description Fair value 2016
$

Valuation 
technique

Unobservable inputs Range of 
unobservable 
inputs 2016

Relationship of unobservable 
inputs to fair value

Land 265,000 Current use Restricted use of land  4.21 per m2 Higher level of restriction lowers fair 
value

Buildings 27,533,800 Depreciated 
replacement cost 

Consumed economic 
benefit/obsolescence of 
asset

1% per year
Greater consumption of economic 
benefit or increased obsolescence 
lowers fair value

Historical cost per square 
metre floor area (m2)

$1,126.72 per m2 Historical cost per square metre (m2) 
increases fair value

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided above.

2016 2015
23. Intangible assets $ $

Software (a)

- inHerit 362,543 362,543
Accumulated amortisation (241,641) (120,701)

120,902 241,842
Software (b)

-SHOBiz Core Business System 1,741,413 1,741,413
Accumulated amortisation (480,346) (132,064)

1,261,067 1,609,349

1,381,969 1,851,191
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2016 2015
23. Intangible assets continued $ $

Reconciliation:
Software (a) (b)

Carrying amount at start of year 1,851,191 -
Additions - 173,614
Transfers - from the Heritage Council - 1,930,342
Amortisation (469,222) (252,765)
Carrying amount at end of year 1,381,969 1,851,191

(a)  inHerit intangible asset relates to the completed costs of the Heritage Places Online Database for collecting, storing, analysing, and publishing 
information about heritage places.

(b)  SHOBiz intangible asset relates to the completed cost of the replacement of the State Heritage Office's core business system.

24. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to property plant and equipment or intangible assets at 30 June 2016. The State Heritage Office held 
intangible assets with a definite useful life during the reporting period relating to the development of software. At the end of the reporting period, 
there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

2016 2015
25. Payables $ $

Trade payables 174,405 216,312
Other payables 13,208 5,085
Accrued expenses 17,112 23,542
Accrued salaries 33,506 96,020
Grants received in advance 80,000 -
Total Current 318,231 340,959
See also Note 2(p) ‘Payables’.
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2016 2015
26. Provisions $ $

Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a) 466,297 232,466
Long service leave (b) 599,344 256,016

1,065,641 488,482
Other provisions
Purchased leave (949) 4,988
Employment on-costs (c) 97,179 48,729

1,161,871 542,199
Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b) 276,076 184,681

276,076 184,681
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c) 27,965 18,248

304,041 202,929

(a)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the 
reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 344,997 155,397
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 121,300 77,069

466,297 232,466
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26. Provisions continued
(b)  Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months 

after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 264,679 55,113
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 610,741 385,584

875,420 440,697

(c)  The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation 
insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense is included as part of ‘Other expenses’. 
See Note 11 ‘Other expenses’. 

Movements in Other provisions, other than employee benefits, is set out below:
2016 2015

Employment on-cost provision $ $
Carrying amount at start of year 71,965 -
Transfer from Heritage Council of WA - 66,989
Additional provisions recognised 53,179 4,976
Carrying amount at end of year 125,144 71,965



1 9 8 Heritage  Counci l  |  State  Her i tage  Off ice    1 9 8    Annual  Report  2015-16

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

27. Equity
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the State Heritage Office on behalf on the community. Equity represents the 
residual interest in the net assets of the State Heritage Office. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the 
revaluation of non-current assets.

2016 2015
$ $

Contributed equity
Balance at start of the period 5,283,660 -
Capital appropriation - -
Balance at end of the period 5,283,660 -

Transfer of net assets from other agencies
Transfer of net assets from owners – Department of Finance 29,755,022 -
Transfer of net assets from owners – Heritage Council - 5,283,660
Total distributions to owners 29,755,022 5,283,660
Balance at end of the period 35,038,682 5,283,660

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at start of the year (1,033,522) (1,033,522)
Result for the period (1,272,396) -
Balance at end of the period (2,305,918) (1,033,522)

Total equity at end of the period 32,732,764 4,250,138

28. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related item in the Statement of Financial 
Position as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Cash and cash equivalents 2,690,859 1,482,853
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (See Note 16) 750,000 855,000
Petty cash advance 500 500
Fremantle Prison float 6,400 -

3,447,759 2,338,353
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

28. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows continued
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities.

2016 2015
$ $

Net cost of services (10,238,755) (6,420,639)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense 777,157 272,010
Resources received free of charge 334,359 3,446,117
Revaluation decrement - Fremantle Prison buildings 1,474,784 -
Fringe Benefits Tax offset against GST refunds 5,252 -

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Receivables (76,193) (7,886)
Current other assets 42,701 (56,217)
Inventories 14,467 -

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (a) 39,786 215,554
Current accrued salaries (62,514) 18,605
Current annual leave 233,831 (711)
Current long service leave 343,328 58,669
Current other provisions 42,513 10,398
Non-current other provisions 91,395 (22,748)
Non-current long service leave 9,717 (5,422)
Net GST receipts/(payments)(b) 52,178 (112,296)
Change in GST receivables/payables(c) - 4,243
Net cash used in operating activities (6,915,994) (2,600,323)

(a)  Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase 
of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. Cash transactions.

(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

29. Commitments
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Commitments for the minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period 
but not recognised in the financial statements are payable as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Within 1 year 416,183 406,355
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,051,420 1,418,622
Later than 5 years - -

1,467,603 1,824,977

Representing:
Accommodation property lease 1,455,524 1,802,674
Leased motor vehicles 12,079 22,303

1,467,603 1,824,977

Motor vehicles are leased through State Fleet. Leases expire at variable dates. New leases are arranged as leases expire to maintain the current 
fleet of two motor vehicles.

The Department of Finance, Building Management and Works has entered into a property lease, on behalf of State Government for the purpose 
of State Heritage Office accommodation, which is a non-cancellable lease with a 20 year term, with rent payable monthly in advance. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

30. Remuneration of senior officers
The number of Senior Officers, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the 
following bands are:

2016 2015
Number Number

$110,001-$120,000 4 2
$120,001-$130,000 4 5
$130,001-$140,000 2 1
$140,001-$150,000 4 1
$150,001-$160,000 1 -
$160,001-$170,000 - 1
$180,001-$190,000 - 1
$210,001-$220,000 1 -
$220,001-$230,000 - 1

16 12

2016 2015
$ $

Base remuneration and superannuation 2,186,504 1,696,141
Annual leave and long service leave accruals 429,932 65,811
Other benefits - 6,482
Total remuneration of the Senior Officers are: 2,616,436 1,768,434

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior officers.

No Senior Officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

31. Remuneration of Auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Auditing of accounts, financial statements and performance indicators 22,800 17,500
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

32. Explanatory statement
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2016, and between the actual results for 2016 and 2015 are shown 
below. Narratives below are provided for key variations selected from observed major variances selected from observed major variances, which 
are generally greater than:

a) 5% and $270,000 for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows; and

b) 5% and $700,000 for the Statement of Financial Position.

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

2016

Actual
2016

Actual
2015

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual 

Variance between 
actual results for 

2016 and 2015
  $ $ $ $ $

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense A 6,476,000 6,172,029 3,344,052 (303,971) 2,827,977
Supplies and services A 4,110,000 3,954,389 1,835,574 (155,611) 2,118,815
Accommodation expense A 1,018,000 1,497,329 597,430 479,329 899,899
Grants and subsidies A 180,000 269,772 269,736 89,772 36
Depreciation and amortisation expense A 736,000 777,157 272,010 41,157 505,147
Other expenses 1, A, B 1,049,000 1,772,318 134,722 723,318 1,637,596
Total cost of services 13,569,000 14,442,994 6,453,524 873,994 7,989,470

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees A 3,299,000 3,306,265 29,776 7,265 3,276,489
Sales - 310,724 - - -
Other revenue 2, A 1,279,000 587,250 3,109 (691,750) 584,141
Total revenue 4,578,000 4,204,239 32,885 (684,485) 3,860,630

Total income other than income from State Government 4,578,000 4,204,239 32,885 (684,485) 3,860,630

NET COST OF SERVICES (8,991,000) (10,238,755) (6,420,639) (1,558,479) (4,128,840)
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

32. Explanatory statement continued

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

2016

Actual
2016

Actual
2015

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual 

Variance between 
actual results for 

2016 and 2015
  $ $ $ $ $

Income from State Government
Service appropriation A 8,632,000 8,632,000 1,941,000 - 6,691,000
Services received free of charge C 359,000 334,359 3,446,117 (24,641) (3,111,758)
Total income from State Government 8,991,000 8,966,359 5,387,117 (24,641) 3,579,242

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD - (1,272,396) (1,033,522) (1,583,120) (549,598)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - - - - -
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss

- - - - -

Changes in asset revaluation surplus - - - - -
Gains/(Losses) recognised directly in equity - - - - -
Total other comprehensive income - - - - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD - (1,272,396) (1,033,522) (1,583,120) (549,598)
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

32. Explanatory statement continued

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

2016

Actual
2016

Actual
2015

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual 

Variance between 
actual results for 

2016 and 2015
  $ $ $ $ $

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1, A 1,516,000 2,697,759 1,483,353 1,181,759 1,214,406
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3 100,000 750,000 855,000 650,000 (105,000)
Receivables 119,000 140,323 121,560 21,323 18,763
Amounts receivable for services 20,000 34,000 20,000 53,206 53,206
Inventories - 73,206 - 13,516 13,516
Other 1 509,000 13,516 56,217 (495,484) (42,701)
Total Current Assets 2,264,000 3,708,804 2,536,130 1,424,320 1,152,190

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services A 1,608,000 1,609,000 921,000 1,000 688,000
Office equipment, computers and software 1,A 30,698,000 27,817,134 27,904 (2,880,866) 27,789,230
Intangible assets D 1,415,000 1,381,969 1,851,191 (33,031) (469,222)
Total Non-Current Assets 33,721,000 30,808,103 2,800,095 (2,912,897) 28,008,008

TOTAL ASSETS 35,985,000 34,516,907 5,336,225 (1,488,577) 29,160,198

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 1 151,000 318,231 340,959 167,231 (22,728)
Provisions 1, A 842,000 1,161,871 542,199 319,871 619,672
Other 98,000 - - - -
Total Current Liabilities 1,091,000 1,480,102 883,158 487,102 596,944

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 309,000 304,041 202,929 (4,959) 101,112
Total Non-Current Liabilities 309,000 304,041 202,929 (4,959) 101,112

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,400,000 1,784,143 1,086,087 482,143 698,056

NET ASSETS 34,585,000 32,732,764 4,250,138 (1,970,720) 28,462,142

EQUITY
Contributed equity A 34,585,000 35,038,682 5,283,660 453,682 29,755,022
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 4, E - (2,305,918) (1,033,522) (2,305,918) (1,272,396)
TOTAL EQUITY 34,585,000 32,732,764 4,250,138 (1,852,236) 28,482,626



2 0 5 Heritage  Counci l  |  State  Her i tage  Off ice    2 0 5    Annual  Report  2015-16

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

32. Explanatory statement continued

Variance 
Note

Original 
Budget 

2016

Actual
2016

Actual
2015

Variance between 
estimate and 

actual 

Variance between 
actual results for 

2016 and 2015
  $ $ $ $ $

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation A 7,883,000 7,896,000 1,819,000 13,000 6,077,000
Transfer of cash from owners – Department of 
Finance 

F - 95,400 3,172,934 95,400 (3,077,534)

Holding account drawdowns 34,000 34,000 - - 34,000
Net cash provided by State Government 7,917,000 8,025,400 4,991,934 108,400 3,033,466

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits 1, A (6,493,000) (5,508,507) (1,276,156) 984,493 (4,232,351)
Services and supplies A (3,532,000) (3,537,543) (675,522) (5,543) (2,862,021)
Accommodation G (1,019,000) (1,497,329) (239,336) (478,329) (1,257,993)
Grants and subsidies - other (180,000) (269,772) (207,488) (89,772) (62,284)
GST payments on purchases 1, A - (528,226) (114,285) (528,226) (413,941)
GST payments to taxation authority - (45,596) - (45,596) (45,596)
Other payments 1, A (1,475,000) (283,067) (110,133) 1,191,933 (172,934)

Receipts
User charges and fees 1,A 4,092,000 3,230,072 17,996 (861,928) 3,212,076
Sales - 310,724 - - -
GST receipts on sales A 230,000 417,790 1,989 187,790 415,801
GST receipts from taxation authority - 208,210 1,348 208,210 206,862
Other receipts A 494,000 587,250 1,264 93,250 585,986
Net cash used in operating activities (7,883,000) (6,915,994) (2,600,323) 656,282 (4,626,395)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Intangible assets - development costs (34,000) - (53,258) 34,000 53,258

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (34,000) - (53,258) 34,000 53,258

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents - 1,109,406 2,338,353 798,682 (1,539,671)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 1,616,000 2,338,353 - 722,353 2,338,353
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF THE PERIOD 1,616,000 3,447,759 2,338,353 1,521,035 798,682
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32. Explanatory statement continued

Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives 

1)  From July 1, 2015, the assets, employees and operations of Fremantle Prison were transferred from the Department of Finance to the State 
Heritage Office. The determination of the potential impact of the transfer of this significant operation on the State Heritage Office's budget 
estimates was difficult, resulting in comparability with the original budget estimates not being as meaningful as it would be for an existing 
operation.

2)  Other revenue is below budget due to classification changes during the year and some revenue being reclassified as Sales in the actual 
figures. There was also a reduction of $399,000 revenue for the Convict Café at Fremantle Prison which was offset against a corresponding 
savings amount in Supplies and services expenses.

3)   Restricted cash is higher than budget due to the unplanned $750,000 of Heritage Revolving Fund money being carried over from 2014-15. 
It is budgeted to be spent in 2016-17.

4)   The 2016 Estimates assumed a breakeven result and hence no accumulated surplus or deficit. The current year deficit arose mainly from 
the revaluation decrement from the revaluation of the Fremantle Prison buildings being posted to the current year result and the carry 
forward deficit from 2015. 

Major Actual (2016) and Comparative (2015) Variance Narratives 

A)  From 1 July 2015, the assets, employees and operations of Fremantle Prison were transferred from the Department of Finance to the State 
Heritage Office. This has resulted in significant increases from 2015 levels for revenues, expenditures, assets and cashflows. 

B)  Other expenses includes the Revaluation decrement arising from the revaluation of Fremantle Prison building during 2016. The State 
Heritage Office did not have the Prison in the 2015 financial year as it was transferred from the Department of Finance on 1 July 2015.

C)  Resources received free of charges was significantly higher in 2015 than 2016 due to the Machinery of Government transfer from the 
Heritage Council to the newly established State Heritage Office effected in 2015. 

D)  Intangible assets value has reduced in 2016 due to the higher amortisation charge during the year.
E)   Increased deficit arose from the Revaluation decrement from the revaluation of the Fremantle Prison buildings being posted to the current 

year result due to no asset revaluation reserve being available to offset the decrement.
F)   Cash balances transferred from owner was significantly higher in 2015 than 2016 due to the Machinery of Government transfer from 

Heritage Council to the newly established State Heritage Office effected in 2015.
G)   Accommodation costs are higher in 2016 compared with 2015 due to the conservation, maintenance and running of Fremantle Prison from 

1 July 2015. 
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2016 2015
33. Supplementary financial information $ $

Bad debts written off - -
Provision for doubtful debts - -

- -

34. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
The State Heritage Office has no significant contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at the reporting date.

35. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
There are no material events.

36. Financial Instrument disclosures
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments held by the State Heritage Office are cash 
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, receivables and payables. 
The State Heritage Office has limited exposure to financial risks. 
The State Heritage Office’s overall risk management program 
focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk
The State Heritage Office trades only with recognised, creditworthy 
third parties. The State Heritage Office has policies in place to 
ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers 
with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances 
are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the State 
Heritage Office's exposure to bad debts is minimal. There are no 
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
The State Heritage Office has appropriate procedures to manage 
cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring 
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to 
meet its commitments.

Market risk
The State Heritage Office does not trade in foreign currency and is 
not materially exposed to other price risks.

Cash flow interest rate risk
The risk is managed by Western Australian Treasury Corporation 
(WATC) through portfolio diversification and variation in maturity 
dates. Otherwise, the State Heritage Office is not exposed to 
interest rate risk because cash and cash equivalents are non-
interest bearing and there are no borrowings.
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Department of the State Heritage Office for the year ended 30 June 2016

36. Financial Instrument disclosures continued

(b) Categories of financial instruments
In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period 
are:

2016 2015
$ $

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,697,759 1,482,853
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 750,000 855,000
Receivables (a) 1,714,730 948,886

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 318,231 340,959

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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36. Financial Instrument disclosures continued

(c) Financial Instrument disclosures
Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the State Heritage Office’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of 
the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is 
held constant throughout the reporting period.

-100 Basis Points +100 Basis Points 

2016
Carrying 
Amount $

Surplus  
$

Equity  
$

Surplus  
$

Equity  
$

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,690,859 (26,909) (26,909) 26,909 26,909
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 750,000 (7,500) (7,500) 7,500 7,500

Total Increase/(Decrease) (34,409) (34,409) 34,409 34,409

Financial liabilities
The State Heritage Office does not have any Financial Liabilities subject to interest rate sensitivity.

-100 Basis Points +100 Basis Points 

2015
Carrying 
Amount $

Surplus  
$

Equity  
$

Surplus  
$

Equity  
$

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,482,853 (14,829) (14,829) 14,829 14,829
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 855,000 (8,550) (8,550) 8,550 8,550

Total Increase/(Decrease) (23,379) (23,379) 23,379 23,379

Financial liabilities

The State Heritage Office does not have any Financial Liabilities subject to interest rate sensitivity.

Fair values

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at 
amounts that represent reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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36. Financial Instrument disclosures continued

Credit risk

The following table discloses the State Heritage Office’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The 
State Heritage Office’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown 
below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on 
information provided to senior management of the State Heritage Office.

The State Heritage Office does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.

 Ageing analysis of financial assets
Carrying 
Amount

Not past 
due and not 

Impaired

Past due but not impaired Impaired 
Financial 
Assets 

Up to  
1 month

1-3 months 3 months to 
1 Year

1-5  
Years

More than  
5 Years

Financial assets  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $ 
2016
Cash and cash equivalents 2,697,759 2,697,759 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and  
 cash equivalents

750,000 750,000 - - - - - -

Receivables (a) 71,730 71,730 - - - - - -
Amounts receivable for  
 services 1,643,000 1,643,000 - - - - - -

5,162,489 5,162,489 - - - - - -
Financial assets
2015
Cash and cash equivalents 1,483,353 1,483,353 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and  
 cash equivalents

855,000 855,000 - - - - - -

Receivables (a) 7,886 7,886 - - - - - -
Amounts receivable for  
 services 941,000 941,000 - - - - - -

3,287,239 3,287,239 - - - - - -

(a) Excludes GST Receivables.
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36. Financial Instrument disclosures continued

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. The table includes interest and principal cash flows. An adjustment has been 
made where material.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities (a)

Interest Rate Exposure Maturity date
Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 

Carrying 
Amount

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate

Variable 
Interest 

Rate

Non 
Interest 
Bearing

Nominal 
Amount

Up to  
1 month

1-3 
Months 

3 months 
to 1 Year

1-5 Years More 
than  

5 Years

2016 %  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $ 
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 0.00% 2,697,759 2,697,759 -
 Restricted cash and  
 cash equivalents 0.00% 750,000 750,000 -
Receivables 0.00% 71,730 71,730 -
Amounts receivable for  
 services 0.00% 1,643,000 1,643,000 -

5,162,489 - - 5,162,489 - - - - - -
Liabilities
Payables 0.00% 318,231 318,231 318,231 -
Grants payable (b) 0.00% - - - -

318,231 - - 318,231 - 318,231 - - - -
2015
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 0.00% 1,483,353 - - 1,483,353 -
 Restricted cash and  
 cash equivalents 0.00% 855,000 - - 855,000 -
Receivables 0.00% 7,886 - - 7,886 -
Amounts receivable for  
 services 0.00% 941,000 941,000

3,287,239 - - 3,287,239 - - - - - -
Liabilities
Payables 0.00% 340,959 340,959 340,959 - -

340,959 - - 340,959 - 340,959 - - - -

(a) The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liability at the end of the reporting period.
(b)  Grant amounts remaining outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are subject to grant agreements with recipients with an average grant 

period of two years. Grants payments are generally made progressively over the period.



2 1 2 Heritage  Counci l  |  State  Her i tage  Off ice    2 1 2    Annual  Report  2015-16

10.0 Appendices

10.1 Appendix l Heritage Grants Program Allocation 2015-16
Place No Place Name(s) Applicant Awarded Varied amount
P13930 Koogereena Homestead, Kojarena P & K Messina $74,768.19 $74,768.19 

P11381 12 Dean Street, Pemberton Timber Mill 
Workers' Cottages Precinct D North & L Brown $19,637.05 $19,637.05 

P03268 Walebing, Walebing S & A Lefroy $51,300.00 $51,300.00 

P04216 Lynburn Homestead and Shearing Shed (fmr), 
Esperance G & P Grewar $24,500.00 $0.00 

P14922 Stirling Terrace Precinct, Albany D Fiorino $5,712.50 $ 5,712.50 
P02252 Pingelly Post Office B & K Keys $29,037.80 $29,037.80 

P11381 10 Dean Street, Pemberton Timber Mill 
Workers' Cottages Precinct J Duncan $17,782.05 $17,782.05 

P11381 4 Kelly Street, Pemberton Timber Mill Workers' 
Cottages Precinct WP Ducey & N Vanderheld $7,403.47 $ 7,403.47 

P03142 Store, Northcliffe P McIlwain $10,634.00 $10,634.00 

P04648 Maltings Plant (fmr), Northbridge The Owners of Harwood Village Strata 
Plan 38842 $12,662.50 $12,662.50 

P12874 Glentromie Farm Group, Glentromie I Wright & L Georgeson $7,175.00 $ 7,175.00 

P00854 Wilhelmsen House, Fremantle Mediterranean Shipping Company (Aust) 
Pty Limited $100,000.00 $100,000.00 

P01344 Katanning Roller Flour Mill Dome Coffees Australia Pty Ltd $100,000.00 $100,000.00 

P03992 10 Moir Street, Brookman and Moir Streets 
Precinct, Perth TPA Newton $100,000.00 $100,000.00 

P00001 St Joseph's Convent (fmr) The Roman Catholic Archbishop of 
Bunbury Albany Parish $32,667.00 $32,667.00 

P03569 Enderslea, Chittering D Pope / Deranta Pty Ltd $19,165.00 $0.00 
P00504 Newmarket Hotel, Hamilton Hill Point Work Pty Ltd $100,000.00 $100,000.00 
P03289 Heathcote Hospital, Applecross MJM Telling $69,198.00 $69,198.00 
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Appendix l Heritage Grants Program Allocation 2015-16 continued

Place No Place Name(s) Applicant Awarded Varied amount
P11595 First Church of Christ, Scientist, Perth First Church of Christ Scientist Perth $21,869.00 $21,869.00 
P13806 Ord and Bateman Streets Precinct, Fremantle C & A Wilson $80,225.00 $80,225.00 
P01009 Scots Presbyterian Church, Fremantle Scots Presbyterian Church $62,308.00 $62,308.00 

P03645 Great Southern Roller Flour Mill, North 
Fremantle Allied Mills Pty Limited $82,564.60 $82,564.60 

P02401 Clontarf, Waterford Clontarf Aboriginal College $95,700.00 $95,700.00 
P02905 Lexbourne House (fmr), West Perth Acasia Investments Pty Ltd $64,725.00 $64,725.00 
P14880 Gwambygine Farm and Pool, Gwambygine M Venerys $15,484.20 $0.00 
P02707 Edna May Tavern, Westonia The trustee for Amerjo Trust $26,400.00 $6,400.00 
P14922 Stirling Terrace Precinct, Albany DS Wee $42,081.64 $100,000.00 
P00694 Liveringa Homestead Group, Liveringa Liveringa Station Beef Pty Ltd $0.00 $31,325.00 

  TOTAL $ 1,273,000.00 $ 1,303,094.16 
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10.2 Appendix ll: Heritage Grants Program – Variations to previous years allocations

Place No Place Name Applicant Variation
P00248 Freemasons Hotel, Bridgetown Bridgetown Enterprises Pty Ltd ($81,936.36)
P02024 Commercial Building, 21 Howard Street, Perth Talega Pty Ltd ($4,750.00)
P03228 Swanbourne Hospital Conservation Area, Mount Claremont Aegis Aged Care Group Pty Ltd $50,000.00
P00374 Lyric Theatre (fmr), Bunbury VC, TW, CF & GM Brown ($25,492.51)
P14922 White Star Hotel, Stirling Terrace Precinct, Albany Albusidus Pty Ltd ($3,662.54)
P03964 Nedlands Tennis Club, Nedlands Nedlands Tennis Club ($607.01)
P11381 18 Karri Rise, Pemberton Timber Mill Workers’ Cottages Precinct J van der Putten $3,765.85
P03271 Oakabella, Oakabella AP Jackson $19,720.00
P01372 Kellerberrin Post Office, Kellerberrin G Main & C Kirby ($5,415.17)
P13900 Belay Farm Group, Walkaway R & N Martin ($360.01)
P02236 Meerilinga, West Perth Mirette Pty Ltd $18,643.59

  TOTAL ($30,094.16)

10.3 Appendix lll: Goldfields Earthquake Restoration – Variations to previous year’s allocations
Place No Place Name Applicant Amount

P00175 Masonic Temple (fmr), 134 Burt St, Boulder K Fraser ($84,218.86)
P00201 Cornwall Hotel, Boulder The Trustee for the Cornwall Unit Trust $7,909,88
P01266 Hannans Club, Kalgoorlie The Hannans Club ($5,610.00)

  TOTAL (81,918.98)



Image credits for cover, back page and inside cover: Exterior and interior COMO The Treasury. Courtesy of COMO The Treasury
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Contact us

T:  (08) 6552 4000 
FREECALL (regional): 1800 524 000
F: (08) 6552 4001 
E: info@stateheritage.wa.gov.au
W: stateheritage.wa.gov.au

Heritage Council of Western Australia

State Heritage Office 
Bairds Building  
491 Wellington Street Perth 
PO Box 7479 
Cloisters Square  
PO WA 6850
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